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oo 8 T L Brand Positioning

EHEFTERS
LEADING CREATOR OF A BRIGHTER FUTURE

m & O 5% Brand Slogan

BREW - BRIXEH
STRIVE FOR EXCELLENCE,
CREATE BRIGHTER FUTURE

% 0B {E Brand Core Values

BHER K% T 5| E E N E

POWERFUL OPEN LEADING YOUTHFUL

HN¥E b K8 Corporate Brand Image

1 ZEE R Corporate DNA

AesdfEd EeE RSy
RED GENES TO FORGE THE SOUL,
BLUE GENES TO CREATE SUCCESS

N ¥8 X {t, Corporate Brand Culture

P E P Mission 1 Fa 5= Vision

REFE EREZH BMAZABHNEBEE
Safeguarding the Country, To Become an Inspiring and
Serving the People, Striving for Excellent Enterprise

Excellence

% EEE Core Value #5148 Company Spirit

B EE BE EM
Loyalty, Responsibility,

EERE BREL

Responsibility First, Development

Foremost Pragmatism, Perseverance
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
rIEN

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors
WAN Yuging (Chairman)
HU Zaixin (Managing Director)
(appointed on 14 March 2024)
YE Liwen (resigned on 30 September 2024)

Non-executive Directors

ZHANG Yi (appointed on 21 February 2025)
GONG Jian (appointed on 21 February 2025)
DENG Huan (appointed on 21 February 2025)
CHEN Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors
IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
FUNG Chi Kin

LEUNG Sau Fan, Sylvia

WONG Ka Lun

NG Kim Lam (appointed on 22 May 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LEUNG Sau Fan, Sylvia (Chairlady)

ZHANG Yi (appointed on 21 February 2025)
GONG Jian (appointed on 21 February 2025)
DENG Huan (appointed on 21 February 2025)
CHEN Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025)

IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
FUNG Chi Kin

WONG Ka Lun

NG Kim Lam (appointed on 22 May 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

WONG Ka Lun (Chairman)

HU Zaixin (appointed on 22 May 2024)

ZHANG Yi (appointed on 21 February 2025)
CHEN Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025)

IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
FUNG Chi Kin

LEUNG Sau Fan, Sylvia

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

WAN Yuqing (Chairman)

YE Liwen (resigned on 30 September 2024)
GONG Jian (appointed on 21 February 2025)

IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
FUNG Chi Kin

LEUNG Sau Fan, Sylvia

WONG Ka Lun

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

WAN Yuqing (Chairman)
(resigned on 22 May 2024)
NG Kim Lam (Chairman)
(appointed on 22 May 2024)
HU Zaixin (appointed on 22 May 2024)
YE Liwen (appointed on 22 May 2024 and
resigned on 30 September 2024)
DENG Huan (appointed on 21 February 2025)
CHEN Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025)
IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
FUNG Chi Kin
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

WONG Cheuk Him
LEGAL ADVISER

Morrison & Foerster (resigned on 4 September 2024)
Jingtian & Gongcheng LLP
(appointed on 5 September 2024)

AUDITOR
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd.

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank of Shanghai Co., Ltd.

China Citic Bank Corporation Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd.

China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

China Minsheng Bank Corp., Ltd.

China Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd.

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

Hua Xia Bank Co., Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Malayan Banking Berhad

Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

Postal Savings Bank of China Limited
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co. Ltd.

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Strategic Financial Relations Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Room 2503, Admiralty Centre, Tower 1
18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.polyhongkong.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FTRHS

CORPORATE BACKGROUND

The Group is one of the foremost property developers in China and is the real estate offshore
listed flagship of China Poly Group Corporation Limited (a state-owned enterprise). Its
major businesses include property development, investment and management. The Group
develops residential and commercial properties in the most active areas in terms of economic
development in China, including Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta, Southwestern region,
other regions and Hong Kong. Projects of the Group are located in 24 major cities, including
Shanghai, Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Suzhou, Ningbo, Jinan and Wuhan, among
others. The Group maintains a high-quality investment property portfolio in various cities
comprising landmark properties such as Shanghai Poly Plaza, Shanghai Stock Exchange Building
and Beijing Poly Plaza.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRES

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, China’s economy steadily advanced along the
path of high-quality development in the face of severe and
complex domestic and international environment. China’s
gross domestic product (GDP) exceeded RMB130 trillion for
the first time and expanded 5% year on year, successfully
achieving the expected target. China retained its position as
the world’s second-largest economy, continuing to serve as
a pivotal driver of global economic growth.

The real estate market continued its trend of bottoming
out and consolidating. The annual sales of newly-built
commercial housing amounted to approximately RMB9.7
trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 17.1%. A
sharp market contraction in the second quarter prompted
an accelerated policy rollout in the second half of the year.
The Politburo meeting held in late September proposed “to
make efforts to stabilize the property market and reverse
its downturn”, sending the strongest signal to maintain
stability. It decisively deployed a package of incremental
policies, marking an inflection point in real estate policies,
which has led to the improvement of market expectations.

The Group recorded profit attributable to shareholders
of RMB183 million for the year, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 87.3%. This decrease was mainly due to
the market downturn and the pressure on selling prices.
The Group devoted efforts to accelerate the turnover of
assets and capital to avoid risks and maximize shareholders’
interests in the long term. As a result, the gross profit
margin decreased by 4.0 percentage points to 16.4% and a
provision for impairment of properties under development
and held for sale of RMB708 million was made. The Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommends the
distribution of a final dividend of 2.1 HK cents per share to
shareholders in appreciation of their support.
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Poly Property Group (the Group, together with its joint
ventures and associates) achieved contracted sales of
RMB54.2 billion for the year, representing a year-on-year
growth of 1%, and was one of only two listed companies
which recorded growth among the top 20 real estate
companies on the CRIC List. It ranked 17th in the industry
in terms of total sales amount, a jump of 10 places from the
end of 2023. The sales amount in the Yangtze River Delta
and the Greater Bay Area accounted for 73%, a year-on-
year increase of 6 percentage points, reflecting the further
concentration of expansion resources in high-tier cities in
recent years. During the year, the sales collection amounted
to RMB54.8 billion, representing a collection rate of 101%.
Sales scale reflects market competitiveness, while collection
quality ensures financial stability, both of which are of equal
importance.

As the market remained in a bottoming-out stage, the
Group maintained a prudent investment strategy, adding
six property development projects in Shanghai, Ningbo,
Shenzhen and Jinan during the year. It is expected that
these projects and their respective local teams will be able
to bring in returns for shareholders’ investment and achieve
the desired capital turnover amid sector consolidation. The
project management business achieved remarkable results,
with the Guiyang Era Opus project securing an 80% sell-
through rate at its debut, which encouraged our regional
companies to leverage our brand and operational expertise
to explore asset-light models and diversify their revenue
sources. In January 2025, the Group acquired a land parcel
at Luju Road, Liwan District, Guangzhou at the reserve price,
with the aim to develop a flagship project and steadily
strengthen our development foundation.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRES

Despite sector-wide volatility and downturn, Poly Property
has steadfastly pursued prudent innovation and diligent
execution, achieving year-on-year enhancements in
product competitiveness and operational capabilities while
maintaining positive operating cash flow for consecutive
years. In 2024, it recorded net operating cash inflow of
RMB6.8 billion, enabling a net reduction of RMB3.4 billion
or 4.7% in total borrowings. Capital structure was further
optimised, with all indicators of the “three red lines”
improving markedly. Net gearing ratio decreased by 16.2
percentage points year-on-year to 76.9%, cash-to-short-term
debt ratio rose from 1.53 to 1.77, and liability-to-asset ratio
(excluding presale deposits) decreased by 2.2 percentage
points to 70.4%. During the year, the Group refinanced
maturing debts through a HK$3.9 billion sustainability-linked
syndicated loan and a RMB5.0 billion corporate bond,
lowering the average financing cost by 50 basis points to
3.38%. In January 2025, the Group obtained approvals of
issuance of an additional RMB7 billion of corporate bonds,
and will seize financing opportunities and take advantage
of low-interest funding channels to steadily advance debt
optimization.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In 2025, the external environment remains fraught with
uncertainties. The Central Economic Work Conference
emphasized the need to implement a more proactive fiscal
policy and an appropriately accommodative monetary
policy, advocating for a coordinated policy “toolkit” to lay
a solid foundation for the upcoming 15th Five-Year Plan
period. For the real estate sector, key priorities include
intensifying urban village redevelopment and dilapidated
housing renovations to fully unlock the potential of rigid
and improved housing demand, rationally controlling new
land supply for real estate development, revitalizing existing
land reserves and commercial properties, and advancing
the disposal of unsold housing inventory. Stabilizing and
restoring the real estate market stands as both a clear
policy objective and a shared market expectation.
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The property market regulations have now entered their
most accommodative phase in history. The focus this year
will center on the implementation efficacy and transmission
effectiveness of announced policies, particularly the fiscal
support for urban renewal and state-backed inventory
acquisition programs. The Group will proactively advance
the planning adjustment and revitalization of stock assets.
While real estate investment may remain under pressure in
2025, policy interventions are expected to facilitate a soft
landing for developers, narrowing the decline in key market
indicators and gradually restoring homebuyer confidence.

Amid efforts to capitalize on policy tailwinds, property
developers must simultaneously strengthen operational
fundamentals. Strategic clarity, refined management,
and efficient execution remain perpetual imperatives for
enterprises. It is also necessary to align with and anticipate
industry trends, focusing on delivering “quality housing”
that embodies safety, comfort, sustainability, and smart
technologies, thereby steering the industry toward a new
development model and high-quality growth. As winter
heralds the promise of spring, we will rise to challenges with
resolute confidence, embracing innovation in the relentless
pursuit of our vision and honoring the trust placed in us by
stakeholders.
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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4 Suzhou Poly Junhua Mansion
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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Guangzhou Poly Chill Residence
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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SOUTHWESTERN REGION
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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OTHER REGIONS
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4 Jinan Poly Quehua Peak Scenery
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PROJECTS PORTFOLIO
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEE5mHE Dl

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”), the
Group recorded a revenue of RMB40,208 million (2023:
RMB40,932 million),
when comparing to that of last year. Profit attributable to
shareholders amounted to RMB183 million (2023: RMB1,445
million), representing a decrease of 87.3% when comparing

representing a decrease of 1.8%

to that of last year. Basic and diluted earnings per share
were both RMB4.79 cents,
decreases of 87.3%.

representing year-on-year

The above decreases were mainly due to the impact of the
downward trend of the real estate market in Mainland China
and Hong Kong, resulting in the decrease in the gross profit
margin of projects with sales recognised during the Year.
Meanwhile, impairment provision was made on properties
under development and properties held for sale and such
projects mainly included Hong Kong Chill Residence, Jinan
Poly Mountain Villa and Changzhou Poly Jingyue Palace.

As at 31 December 2024, shareholders’ equity of the
Group amounted to RMB34.2 billion (as at 31 December
2023: RMB34.1 billion), with a net asset value per share of
RMB8.95 (as at 31 December 2023: RMB8.92).

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

The GFA of newly commenced construction of Poly Property
Group (the Group, together with its joint ventures and
associates) during the Year was approximately 1,555,000
square metres. The GFA of construction completed during
the Year was approximately 4,553,000 square metres. The
contracted area sold amounted to approximately 2,121,000
square metres, including 147 continual launches and 9 debut
launches. As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group
had 55 projects under construction and under planning,
representing a total GFA of approximately 13,164,000
square metres.
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PROPERTY SALES

In 2024, contracted sales of Poly Property Group increased
by 1% year-on-year to RMB54.2 billion with contracted area
sold of 2,121,000 square metres. The average selling price
of contracted sales was RMB25,546 per square metre. The
average selling price of contracted sales in Mainland China
was RMB21,986 per square metre, remaining unchanged
year-on-year. 11 projects recorded contracted sales of
over RMB1 billion per single project, including Hong Kong
Pano Habour, Hangzhou Jade Urban, Shanghai Poly Serene
Centro, Shanghai Poly Center Manor, Jinan Poly Crown,
Hong Kong Chill Residence, Guangzhou Poly Gratified
West Bay, Kunshan Poly Brilliant Palace, Shenzhen Poly Vibe
Centro, Ningbo Poly Villa Re Place and Ningbo Poly Jinmao

Palace.

HERMR

—ECNF BEEEANHEESERLER1%
EARBESAET - AHEEME21218F A
Ko AHNWEHBARK25,5467T, FHkK H
FPRTIZANOEESEARK21,986TF
FRK RAEFF BRENVEESHBEBARE
OETMBEBEEINNME 2ESBEE UM
HAER  LBRARE. . EFRFENKEH
EEARMEE FEBRE BMNERMNARE B
IWRFEREE  RIMRMBES BREINEHS
MERARF S AT

Contracted Contracted
Sales in Area Sold
2024 by in 2024 by
Region Percentage Region Percentage
—E_MF —E-mF
EHHEE ERHEE
SHEEED M (4 E%Eﬂi Al fh EE
(RMB ('000 square
million) (%) metres) (%)
ON-1
BETT (%) (FFFHXK) (%)
Yangtze River Delta rE=A 22,123 41% 664 31%
Pearl River Delta ®=A 9,479 17% 451 21%
Southwestern CislEa) 4,390 8% 384 18%
Others Hih 10,025 19% 594 28%
Hong Kong B 8,159 15% 28 1%
Total a5t 54,176 100% 2,121 100%
Notes: Htat -
1. Contracted sales include car park sales; 1. ABHHESBEEENA
2. The totals may not be equal to the sum of the figures due to round- 2. BTN BAENET —EERETE T -
off.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEYmE DR

NEW LAND RESERVES

In 2024, 6 development projects were acquired by Poly
Property Group in Shanghai, Ningbo, Shenzhen and Jinan.
The total GFA of new land reserves for the Year was
approximately 964,000 square metres. The cost of land was
considered reasonable.

List of Land Reserve Acquired in 2024

T+ b

—ENF BEXEEARFEMEER 2
I £ B ORYIFERE - FARFIE L
EHEREMBELNAE T 7K T RAR

HEAEKTE-

“ENFEHRE I REAESR

Interests
Attributable to

Development

Project Site Area Planned GFA the Group Status
HE HHEE HRIZEER FEAKEEDS MAREE
(000 square (000 square
metres) metres) (%)
(TFHHK) (TFIAK) (%)
Ningbo Poly Jinmao Palace  Commercial and 66 206 60% For sale
Residential
BERRMEEA A EE
Jinan Poly Jinmao Splendid Commercial and 12 66 30% For sale
Jade Residential
BEERNEXRE [} EE
Jinan Poly Greentown Commercial and 108 393 34% For sale
Phoenix Mansion Residential
P P AR NI AR 38R B NS Bl EE
Jinan Poly Glory Commercial and 40 135 51% For sale
of Praise Residential e
BEFRANELRE )i

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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Interests

Attributable to Development
Project Site Area Planned GFA the Group Status
HA R HHEEE REEREERE BEIAKEEZ FREE

("000 square ("000 square

metres) metres) (%)
(FFHK) (FFHXK) (%)
Shenzhen Bao An Project  Commercial and 10 80 100%  Under planning
. Rfesidential a2
Y& % EE A
Shanghai Min Hang Project Residential 30 83 100%  Under planning
8RIfTIER F= MElH
Total &t 266 964
Notes: Hiat -
1. Since figures were rounded up to the nearest thousand, their total 1. BTFREMERELNTLE WAEANET—EER
may not be equal to the actual sum; AETET:
2. As at 31 December 2024. 2. REEEBE-—T-_WNF+-A=+—H-
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SUMMARY OF NEWLY ACQUIRED
PROJECTS IN 2024

24

Ningbo Poly Jinmao Palace

The project is located in the East New Town, Ningbo,
which is the new political, financial and exhibition
centre of the city. It is approximately 200 metres
away from the Donghuan South Road Station of
Metro Line 1, offering excellent transportation
links. The surrounding development is mature, with
comprehensive education, medical and commercial
facilities, ensuring a perfect living environment. The
project, with a planned total GFA of approximately
206,000 square metres, is intended to be developed
into high-rise residential buildings.

Jinan Poly Jinmao Splendid Jade

The project is located in the CBD area of Lixia District,
Jinan, neighbouring the Second Ring East Road in
the east and Jiefang East Road in the north, both
of which are iconic trunk roads, enjoying convenient
transportation. Jinan’s key schools, Dianliu No.1
Primary School and Dianliu No.1 Middle School, are
both located on the west side of the project, and
with complete commercial and medical facilities in
the vicinity and high convenience in life. There are
landscape resources such as Quanfu River, Yanchi
Mountain, Maoling Mountain and Baihua Park around
the project, enjoying an advantageous geographical
position. The project, with a planned total GFA of
approximately 66,000 square metres, is intended to be
developed into high-rise residential buildings.

Jinan Poly Greentown Phoenix Mansion
The project is located in Lianhuashan area of
Licheng District, Jinan, about 1 kilometer away
from Jingshi Road and Lyuyou Road, both of which
are the iconic transportation trunk roads in Jinan,
making transportation convenient. The surrounding
development is relatively mature, with complete
educational, commercial and medical facilities.
The project is surrounded by landscape resources
such as Hancang River, Fenghuangshan Mountain
and Lianhuashan Mountain Park, providing a prime
geographical location. The project, with a planned
total GFA of approximately 393,000 square metres,
is intended to be developed into high-rise residential
buildings.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Jinan Poly Glory of Praise

The project is located in Xianwen Area, the core
area of Jinan High-tech Zone. It neighbours CBD in
the west and Olympic sports governmental area in
the south with geographical advantages and mature
development. It is a hot area for improvement projects
in Jinan. The project is approximately 4 kilometres
from the CBD and the Olympic Sports Centre and
approximately 7 kilometres from Jinan East Railway
Station, enjoying high traffic accessibility. With full-
fledged commercial, medical, educational and other
ancillary facilities in the surrounding 3-kilometre area,
the area enjoys high living convenience. The project,
with a planned total GFA of approximately 135,000
square metres, is intended to be developed into high-
rise residential buildings.

Shenzhen Bao An Project

The project is located in Bao'an Central Area, Xin'an
Subdistrict, Shenzhen, which is in the core area of
Qianhai and only 700 metres away from Bao’an District
Government. The project is approximately 600 metres
away from the Bao'an Station of Metro Line 11 and
approximately 1.2 kilometres away from the Bao’an
Stadium Station of Metro Line 1, offering excellent
transportation links. With medical, educational,
cultural and sports, commercial and other ancillary
facilities in the surrounding 1-kilometre area, the area
boasts a strong residential atmosphere. The project,
with a planned total GFA of approximately 80,000
square metres, is intended to be developed into high-
rise residential buildings.

BEERANELRE
BEUREET S ZORBEE R A
MPrREHR BHRERFER BB
B-BRERAA BEMAMNEEE R
HEERECBDMREEF LAOIRE bR
MRUENIAE RBBEERS -FEIQ
BERNEE BR HESKETE 4£&
BA-EEREELRERNI3S5EFT
KBHEREFREEE DR

RIEZIEE

HEMRRYTHLZHEEL R LIRS
Bragzo e BPHELYERNE
700K - 18 H B BE b 881157 AR B %2 uh 49600
Ko PEEISE AT 2RE AP
FEm - -ARIRAERNEEE #E B
MEXERERE BEERERE-EE
REBEEAMBNSOET K BER
EEEBE=E/E-
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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6. Shanghai Min Hang Project

The project is located in Chunshen Area in the
outskirts of Minhang District, Shanghai and adjacent
to the Xinzhuang sub-center. It lies within one of
Shanghai’s four model residential zones. Close to the
junction of multiple urban trunk roads and within an
approximately 2-kilometre walking distance from Jingxi
Road Station of Metro Line 15, the project boasts
excellent transportation links. It has complete set of
educational and medical facilities in the vicinity and
is adjacent to Minhang Experimental Primary School,
Xinsong Middle School and Zhongshan Hospital
Affiliated to Fudan University, offering a vibrant
residential environment. The project, with a planned
total GFA of approximately 83,000 square metres, is
intended to be developed into high-rise residential
buildings.

PROJECTS UNDER CONSTRUCTION
AND PROJECTS UNDER PLANNING

As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had a total of
55 real estate development projects in 24 cities. 44% of the
total GFA was located in Yangtze River Delta and Pearl River
Delta Region, 31% in Southwestern Region, 24% in Other
Regions, and 1% in Hong Kong. Meanwhile, 41 projects
were under construction, with a total GFA of 5,699,000
square metres (attributable area amounted to 3,845,000
square metres), and a total GFA of 7,465,000 square metres
(attributable area amounted to 5,317,000 square metres)
was under planning.

26 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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List of Projects under Construction and
under Planning as at 31 December 2024

R-ZB-ONF+-A=+—-HZ#&
BEERFREEIX

Interest
GFA under GFA under  attributable
Project construction planning to the Group
e 8 r&EE
HE HELEEE HAEEEE B s
('000 square ('000 square
metres) metres) (%)
(FERK)  (FERK) (%)
YANGTZE RIVER DELTA REGION R=-AHE
1. Shanghai Poly Center Manor 1. EBRMEOZER 515 89 51%
2. Shanghai Poly Serene Centro 2. LBRFIRE 49 - 100%
3. Shanghai Lanzhou Road Project 3. LBWMKEE 14 - 49%
4. Shanghai Min Hang Project 4. FERTER - 83 100%
5. Kunshan Poly Brilliant Palace 5 EWRTIEZREE 328 - 51%
6. Kunshan Poly Shangyun Fu 6. EWRFHERE 134 - 100%
7. Changzhou Poly Jingyue Palace 7. BNRAEFAR 87 - 51%
8. Suzhou Poly Lake Mansion 8.  ENRFEHER - 104 100%
9. Suzhou Urban Ideal Habitat 9. BMERMR 161 - 20%
10.  Suzhou Poly Junhua Mansion 10. BMNEMEBER 90 13 51%
1. Suzhou Classics Mansion 1. BNE2EETRE 119 - 40%
12, Ningbo Hai Shu Project 12. ERGEER 71 - 100%
13. Ningbo Poly Jinmao Palace 13, ERRMNEXE 206 - 60%
14.  Hangzhou Jade Urban 14. MNEAZR 201 - 30%
15. Yuyao Poly Jordan International 15. RIENEBEREE 13 299 100%
16.  Deqing Poly Origin 16, EBERMER - 67 100%
Sub total &N 1,987 654
RFIEXEEERAA 27
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Interest
GFA under GFA under  attributable
Project construction planning to the Group
KR (1 B 3|
HE AREmR  AREER bR
('000 square ('000 square
metres) metres) (%)
(F¥HK)  (FEFXK) (%)
PEARL RIVER DELTA REGION K=AlE
17.  Guangzhou Poly Gratified West Bay 17. BMGERMNA TR/% 218 172 75%
18.  Guangzhou Poly Polaris 18. BMRF L 114 - 100%
19.  Guangzhou Poly Moonlight Lake 19. J# MARA Eﬂfﬂ/ﬁﬂﬁ: - 129 100%
20.  Guangzhou Poly Chill Residence 20. BINRFIRE 81 - 100%
21. Foshan Poly Mansion 21. ﬁm%ﬂfﬁ 1 89 - 100%
22.  Shenzhen Poly Keenstar Super City 22, RYNRNGBEEH - 1,858 50%
23. Shenzhen Poly New Dream 23. RYRFZELE 183 - 51%
24.  Shenzhen Poly Urban Cultural Bay 24, RNRFAFRETE 59 - 100%
25.  Shenzhen Poly Jade Apartments 25, RIRFIFRSG 138 - 51%
26.  Shenzhen Bao An Project 26. RYBRIER - 80 100%
Sub total &N 883 2,239
SOUTHWESTERN REGION At E
27.  Guiyang Poly Park 2010 27. EBRAA I2010 - 224 100%
28.  Guiyang Poly Phoenix Bay 28. EGRABEE - 215 51%
29.  Guiyang Poly Bright Moon on Top 29. BBRF Hﬂiﬂ#m 84 104 100%
30.  Zunyi Poly Metropolis of Future 30. BEREFREHT - 2,105 70%
31.  Nanning Poly Town Phase I 3. HEREEHH S - 359 100%
32. Nanning Poly Jin House 32. EERFELE 163 - 51%
33.  Nanning Poly Park City 33, BERIRLH 176 105 100%
34.  Kunming Poly City 34, BHARIE 182 317 90%
35.  Kunming Poly Moonlight Mansion 35. EBRFIBHEFL - 87 51%
Sub total BN 606 3,517
28 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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Interest
GFA under GFA under  attributable

Project construction planning to the Group
g (o1 r&EE
A HELEEE HAEEEE s
('000 square ('000 square
metres) metres) (%)
(F¥rx)  (FFAK) (%)
OTHER REGIONS HitihE
36.  Wuhan Poly City 36, BERFIN - 460 68%
37.  Wuhan Poly Embossed Elegance 37. RERFHE LD 146 138 55%
38.  Wuhan Poly Emerald Mansion 38. RERFIBEAE 227 - 100%
39.  Wuhan Poly Bright Lights 39. RERFAARK 112 - 100%
40.  Harbin Guang Xin Project 40. MBEEEER 108 - 100%
41, Mudanjiang Poly Landscape 41, HHIRMIWL - 34 100%
42. Jinan Phili House 4. EBBELR - 83 25%
43, Jinan Huai Yin Project 43. EAREER 134 - 75%
44.  Jinan Poly Grand Joy Il 44, EERAXE=H 52 139 100%
45. Jinan Poly Crown 45, EERARE 313 21 100%
46. Jinan Poly Quehua Peak Scenery 46. ERRNBER 83 - 51%
47.  Jinan Poly Jinmao Splendid Jade 47. EERFIERRE 66 - 30%
48.  Jinan Poly Greentown Phoenix Mansion ~ 48. ERRFI4 5 EEAMNE 327 66 34%
49.  Jinan Poly Glory of Praise 49. EERFELEE 135 - 51%
50.  Yantai Poly Moon Mansion 5. EaRAAFPEIL 50 - 51%
51.  Weihai Poly Moon Fenghua 51. BUBRTIAPREE 7 - 51%
52.  Weifang Zoina Poly Mansion 52. MG ERFEA 56 - 30%
53.  Wanning Poly Peninsula No. 1 53. BERM*¥BIF 264 113 100%
Sub total & E 2,078 1,054
HONG KONG REGION EEBE
54.  Hong Kong Chill Residence 54. BERE 43 - 70%
55.  Hong Kong Pano Habour 55. BHAEER 102 - 35%
Sub total &N 145 -
Grand total &t 5,699 7,465
Note: Hiat -

PP CENERELN TRE gUEMRT—EENAT =D
ANEH e B e

Since figures were rounded up to the nearest thousand, their total may not
equal to the actual sum or the sum in each group.
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BRTIEE

TECNF BEEEBIMEELLSSIEFH
KOFARABERTIHEA H21M@-

COMPLETED CONSTRUCTION

In 2024, Poly Property Group has achieved a total GFA
of approximately 4,553,000 square metres in completed
construction. The construction of all phases of 21 projects
has been completed in the Year.

Project

HH

Completed GFA
in 2024

Accumulated

completed GFA by

the end of 2024

BZ2-Z-MER

“BCRE

RIREER

HE &5t
ERIREER

('000 square metres) ('000 square metres)
(FFHK) (FFHK)

YANGTZE RIVER DELTA REGION R=AHE
Shanghai Poly Moonrise Mansion EBRFIARBRA 112 112
Shanghai Poly Vibe Centro RN R 86 86
Shanghai Poly Dawn Light Residence ~ _E/8{RFIBFIHRE % 106 106
Kunshan Moonlight Mansion EILARREE 89 216
Kunshan Moonlight Jade E LA AEK 196 196
Kunshan East City EIIRER 270 270
Kunshan Poly Brilliant Palace EIIRNBERR 29 29
Changzhou Poly Jingyue Palace BINRFARIANF 67 141
Taicang Tianhe Mansion RERMHKER 120 120
Suzhou Riverside Time Zone &N B ETE 82 82
Suzhou Tide Mansion #INTE DR E 152 152
Ningbo Poly Spring Poetry ERRAAIAET 88 88
Ningbo Poly Brocade Scroll BOR R85 1 E 132 132
Ningbo Poly Rising BERRNEAPEE 185 185
Ningbo Poly Villa Re Place B RAN R E 234 234

PEARL RIVER DELTA REGION K=AE
Guangzhou Clover Shades BINE M ZE=TEE 59 183
Guangzhou Poly Polaris BMNERAN ER 87 174
Guangzhou Glory of City EUPN: 71 187
Guangzhou Poly Moonlight Lake & I 4R 1 BB 3588 88 88
Guangzhou Poly Longyue J& I AR ) T 452 114 114
Foshan Guangfo Poly City Ill 18 1L 6% 4R 1) 39 = R 108 108
Foshan Poly Mansion 18 1L AR I SR 15 1T 118 118
Shenzhen Poly Vibe Centro RIIMR T BE & 178 178
Shenzhen Poly Urban Cultural Bay RIVRF AR FIEE 193 193

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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Completed GFA

Accumulated
completed GFA by

Project in 2024 the end of 2024
HECI_DEE
s =L HE R
BH RIZEEE ERIEEER
('000 square metres) ('000 square metres)
(FF¥HXK) (F¥AK)
SOUTHWESTERN REGION AEittE
Guiyang Poly Park 2010 ESRHAAE2010 46 1,736
Guiyang Poly Bright Moon on Top ESRAAA¥ L 77 109
Nanning Poly Town Phase I B B R FI<E F5 AT 4 — HB 192 416
Nanning Poly Moon Bay M ERNEARIWL 349 349
OTHER REGIONS Hithih &
Harbin Guang Xin Project MREEEIER 136 500
Jinan Poly Grand Joy I R R FI KB — B 224 359
Jinan Poly Jade B R B 152 152
Jinan Poly Park TOD BEERMN AR R 140 140
Weihai Poly Moon Fenghua BB R M BA 3A AL 23 1 217
Weifang Zoina Poly Mansion Y D7 R R A BT 83 362
Wanning Poly Peninsula No. 1 BERNFB15% 77 77
Grand total ast 4,553 7,910
Note: lopza

Since figures were rounded up to the nearest thousand, their total may not
equal to the actual sum.
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RECOGNISED PROPERTY SALES EHEIE A

The sales of 111 projects of Poly Property have been Z—ZT_N&F RABEXEHLFMVEBEEREE
recognised in 2024, with a total sales value of RMB37,918 EE EESBEARKBIIOISEL - FEEE
million and a total GFA of 1,956,000 square metres. The 195.68 F 7K - 5= 58 A AR¥19,3877T,
recognised average selling price was RMB19,387 per square ¥ A K - Z&AE SR EBEE(H93% HIE
metre. Among the sales recognised, ordinary residential  153% B #i1G3% B FIE1H0% BEALI(H1% &
properties accounted for 93%, villas accounted for 3%, oM Lt K=A(544% %k =A1518% Far
retail shops accounted for 3%, offices accounted for 0% and  H1[E(512%  H 2 (525%  FEWEE1% °
parking spaces accounted for 1% of the total value. In terms

of geographical distribution, Yangtze River Delta Region,

Pearl River Delta Region, Southwestern Region, Other

Regions and Hong Kong accounted for 44%, 18%, 12%, 25%

and 1%, respectively.

List of Major Projects with Sales Recognised Z—ZE_-_MFFXFEHFEEAE X
in 2024

Sales recognised

Project in 2024
—E_NF
HE FHEHSH
(RMB million)
(ARBBEET

Yangtze River Delta Region REAHE
1. Shanghai Poly Moonrise Mansion 1. EBRFIEAIRE A 744
2. Shanghai Poly Vibe Centro 2. LEBRWEE 4,882
3. Shanghai Poly Dawn Light Residence 3. /& {RFIAFAR K 2,407
4. Kunshan Poly Brilliant Palace 4. BELRFERERE 263
5. Changzhou Poly Jingyue Palace 5. EMRARIAFN 994
6. Suzhou Poly Poetic Dwelling 6. EINRAE AR 495
7. Suzhou Tide Mansion 7. EINTEREMZE 1,159
8. Ningbo Poly Riverview Mansion 8. ERMRAMILED 569
9.  Ningbo Poly Spring Poetry 9. ERRAMAFPFET 1,170
10. Ningbo Poly Brocade Scroll 10. FRRF R LED 2,770
11. Ninghai Poly Origin of Nebula 1. BBERNARREN 833
12. Others 12. EfE#RIER 375
Sub total & /5 16,663
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Sales recognised

Project in 2024
—E-@OE

1HE HHESH
(RMB million)

(ARBBEET)

Pearl River Delta Region K=AtE

13. Guangzhou Poly Glory 13. BEMRFIAIARK 442
14. Guangzhou Nan Sha Project 14, BEMRF|E 106
15. Guangzhou Poly Polaris 15. BEMRF E= 719
16. Guangzhou Poly Moonlight Lake 16. BEMRFIAF K 168
17. Guangzhou Poly Longyue 17. BEMARF R 453
18. Foshan Guangfo Poly City lI 18. R EFR T =H 330
19. Foshan Guangfo Poly City 19. 8 1L B B 4R A3 265
20. Foshan Guangfo Poly City Phase Il 20. {3 L E#HRFIH — 55 261
21. Foshan Poly Mansion 21. FRILRAIEEY AT 734
22. Shenzhen Poly Vibe Centro 22. YRR 2,949
23. Huizhou Poly Sunshine Town 23. BINRFIFS 5 143
24. Huizhou Poly Lujiang Lane 24. BINRFIEIIR 191
25. Others 25. EfhERIEE 57
Sub total &N 6,819
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Sales recognised

Project in 2024
—EB-OF
1HH FHESH
(RMB million)
(ARBBET)

Southwestern Region AEittE
26. Guiyang Poly Park 2010 26. BSRFAE2010 428
27. Guiyang Poly Phoenix Bay 27. EGRAEREE 134
28. Guiyang Poly Bright Moon on Top ~ 28. &[5G{RF#AIEH 1L 287
29. Nanning Poly Town 29. FERMEFAIM 205
30. Nanning Poly Town Phase I 30. MERMESAIH_H 1,581
31. Nanning Poly Moon Bay 31. EERAMEARITL 1,081
32. Liuzhou Poly Mountain Villa 32. WPINERFIBAZA LA 167
33. Kunming Poly City 33. BRI 287
34. Kunming Poly Moonlight Mansion 34. ERARAIAAEF¥ L 252
35. Others 35. HitnEZARIEF 164
Sub total & /5T 4,587
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Sales recognised

Project in 2024
—E-@OE
5B HHESH
(RMB million)
(ARBBEET
Other Regions Hibih =
36. Wuhan Poly City 36. EIERFI 555
37. Wuhan Poly Bright Lights 37. RERMBAHARNE 192
38. Harbin Poly Tin Yor Phase |l 38. MERBERNIARN — 5 120
39. Harbin Poly Time Lane 39. WMEBERFMBABR 209
40. Harbin Guang Xin Project 40. MABREFEIER 624
41. Jinan Poly Mountain Villa 41. BrmRHFWLE 108
42. Jinan Huai Yin Project 42. EMIREIEE 293
43. Jinan Poly Grand Joy 43. BrRAXE 183
44. Jinan Poly Grand Joy Il 44. 7 F’ﬂ%ﬂﬂg:,ﬁﬂ 1,598
45. Jinan Poly Jade 45. EmRFE 2,332
46. Jinan Poly Park TOD 46. ,Hr'ﬂ%?ru lﬂﬁx 1,353
47. Yantai Poly Moon Mansion 47. Ea®RAMAFRFTL 272
48. Weihai Poly Moon Fenghua 48. EUBRAIBAIARE 461
49. Zibo Poly City 49. SR T 137
50. Tai'an Poly Yuelu Mansion 50. RELRNEERN 126
51. Wanning Poly Peninsula No. 1 51. BERMNFE15% 606
52. Others 52. HfbE#EIER 362
Sub total & /T 9,532
Hong Kong Region BEEBHE
53. Hong Kong Villa La Plage 53. BHBEE 313
54. Others 54, HAhE#EIAR 4
Sub total &N T 317
Grand total &t 37,918
Note: Hiat
Since figures were rounded up to the nearest million, their total may not YFEELERBONB SO WENET —ESERE5THD

equal to the actual sum or the sum in each group. HFTEBE -
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Recognised Sales in 2024 by Property Type

“ENFAEYRERIR

Sales
recognised
Property type in 2024 Percentage
—E—
YEFR EBESH B
RMB million (%)
ARBEETT (%)
Ordinary residential property Ei@B{E=E 35,208 93%
Villa AlEE 1,048 3%
Retail shop 75 63 1,027 3%
Office ey 170 0%
Parking space By 464 1%
Total BF 37,918 100%
Note: B et :

Since figures were rounded up to the nearest million, their total may not
equal to the actual sum or the sum in each group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group has various investment properties and hotels
located in first-tier cities and second-tier provincial capitals.
The investment properties had a total GFA of approximately
682,000 square metres and an asset value of approximately
RMB8,677 million.
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List of Major Investment Properties and

Hotels as at 31 December 2024

R-EBE-_NE+=-A=+—HFXE
REMERBIEYXR

Average Average Interests
occupancy occupancy attributable to
Project GFA held rate of 2024 rate of 2023 the Group Property type
BH i el 13 it St AEH
BB BREER P AR aRhti ks ks NEXER
('000 square
metres) (%) (%) (%)
(F¥HX) (%) (%) (%)
Investment properties
REME
Beijing Beijing Poly Plaza 15 75% 76% 75% Office
A EREHAR N
Shanghai Shanghai Poly Plaza (partial) 30 72% 78% 100% Office and
g LERNES (F5) commercial
BREREE
Shanghai Shanghai Stock Exchange 48 57% 61% 100% Office
Building (partial)
+i LBESKE (B%) YN
Shenzhen Shenzhen Poly Cultural 135 92% 64% 100% Commercial
Plaza (partial)
el RIRMIACES (80) G
Wuhan Wuhan Poly Plaza (partial) 56 52% 57% 100% Office
HE HERMES (B2) YN
Hotels
BE
Beijing Beijing Poly Plaza Hotel 63 74% 75% 75% Hotel
R ERRMAREEE BE
Shanghai Hyatt Regency Shanghai 69 79% 76% 100% Hotel
Jiading
L& LEEEIARERE i)
Wuhan Wuhan Poly Hotel 28 62% 63% 100% Hotel
HE HERFAERE BE
RAMEZEEERAA 37
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEmE DI

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Group has various property management companies
engaging in the operation management service of
residential, commercial, offices, hotels, theatres and other
property types. They have been the leading players in the
property management industry of China and have received
numerous titles and awards.

In 2024, the Group's property management companies
recorded total revenue of RMB1,206 million. The companies
managed a total of 288 property projects with a GFA under
management of approximately 52,738,000 square metres,
representing an increase of 3.9% when comparing with last
year.
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SUMMARY OF MAJOR REAL ESTATE FTEEHWEREZEEBE@N
PROJECTS

1. Yangtze River Delta Region 1. R=AE

As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had 58 RZEBEZME+_A=1+—H BX&H
projects in the Yangtze River Delta Region, of which ER=AR X B H58(H /5 i & &
42 were completed, 13 were under construction and EHH HA42@EBHE R T 13EER R
3 were under planning. The total GFA was 2,641,000 Rt THEE - 3EEERIP -HAEER
square metres, accounting for 20% of Poly Property MEEHEBIBIBETH K FRARE
Group's total land reserves. Among which, 1,987,000 HiE65.48F K et tinHE#E264.18
square metres were under construction while 654,000 FHA EEFXEEE T MFEFEN20% -

square metres were under planning.

Project Location Property type  Current status
B H 38y B L/E 3:Eid) B AR R
Poly Deluxe Located in the prime area of Jiading Residential Delivered
Mansion District, close to Metro Line 11 buildings with sales of
RAMKXEFE R RERAMZOE LR HEE | T2 remaining
apartments
RINERIHE
Poly Elegant Residential Delivered
Mansion buildings with sales of
ARG EFE = remaining
apartments
RINERIHE
Jiading Project Residential and | Delivered
REMHIER commercial with sales of
buildings, hotels | remaining
Shanghai and theatres apartments
= FE BEBE | RNEREE
S
Poly Greenland | Located at Dalian Road, Yangpu District, | Residential Delivered
Plaza CBD of waterfront Inner Loop, Golden buildings, offices | with sales of
RAEEIHESS | Triangle of Lujiazui and commercial | remaining
IR AR KSR EAREICBDIR | buildings apartments
BEREES =AMR FE - BFE B | KNERHEE
E S
Poly Phili House | Located in Sijing, Songjiang, near Sijing | Residential and | Delivered
RSB AEE Station of Metro Line 9 with access commercial with sales of
to convenient transportation and full- buildings remaining
fledged ancillary facilities TE -mE apartments
L AT » 4B 50 3th S99 AR ML U - RIERIHE

RBEHN REXE

RAMEZEEERAA
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Shanghai
i

Project Location Property type Current status

BHH WM E E 3 bl BREMRR

Poly Phili Located within the Eastern Bund in Residential Delivered

Regency Yangpu District buildings with sales of

RFEBFE A5 H R R INEIR 3 = remaining
apartments
RITERIHE

Xijiao Jinmao Located in New Jiading, 800 metres Apartments and | Delivered

Palace from New Jiading Station of Metro Line | villas with sales of
[Ep i) 1 NE-RIE remaining
A 32 FTUL - BB S0 8901155 43 52 TE # I b apartments
800K RIERIHEE
Jiading Located in Huangdu Town of Jiading Affordable Delivered
Affordable District, one kilometre from the east of | housing with sales of
Housing Project | Jiading campus of Tongji University RERE remaining
REREBEER |URREERFERRA REARZERER apartments
fAl—nB RINEREE
Poly Moon Located on the east side of Fengxian Residential Delivered
Light High School, Nangiao New Town, buildings with sales of
TR BR 374 e Fengxian District, approximately T remaining
400 metres from the waterscape of apartments
“Shanghai Fish” RNEREE
UREEGEBHMEETERA B
£z BA400K
Poly Moonrise | Located in the centre of Chenggiao Residential and | Delivered

Mansion Town, Chongming District, which is commercial with sales of
RAAF A situated in the Chongming Chenggiao | buildings remaining
Town international eco-community T -mE apartments
designated by the government as a RNEBREE
major residential area
URERARUBEZORE BRBFE
BITERN RARBEBER AR R
Poly Twilight Located in Nangiao New Town, Residential and | Delivered
Mansion Fengxian District, and close to Fengxian | commerecial with sales of
RABAZAE Xincheng Station of Metro Line 5 buildings remaining
MREEREBNURE  SREsH | TF B apartments
AR ERTIA RNEBRHEE
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Shanghai
&

Project Location Property type Current status
HHE WwELE L/E 3Eicl BREMR
Poly Vibe Located in Dinghai Community, Yangpu | Residential Delivered
Centro District, which is the central area buildings with sales of
RFEE with convenient transportation and T= remaining
comprehensive infrastructure in the apartments
vicinity RNERIEE
R REEELR  BRPOWNE X
BERE BEERRETHE
Poly Dawn Light | Located in Nangiao New Town, Residential Delivered
Residence Fengxian District, on the south side of | buildings with sales of
RFARR K “Shanghai Fish” and adjacent to Metro | % remaining
Line 5 apartments
UREEBEBHIMRGE LEzAE RIERIHEE
{R - 2B 3 30 B 55% 4%
Poly Center Located in Qingpu New Town Area, Residential and | For sale
Manor Qingpu District, which is situated in commercial rE
RAESEEW | core area of the central business district | buildings
under strategic development FTE M
IR B E B IR - RERITEN
PREERZORE
Poly Serene Located within the Eastern Bund Residential For sale
Centro in Yangpu District, an established buildings &
RANIRE residential sector in central urban area | £
and approximately 200 metres away
from Metro Lines 12 and 18
RI 71508 & R INEAR I R D IR R B 1E
BEERI EEHLZ 12711857 4% £9200K
Lanzhou Road Located within the Eastern Bund in Residential Under
Project Yangpu District, approximately 600 buildings and construction
BB IE R metres away from the Jiangpu Park villas and prepared
Station, where the two metro lines ER=cR|E =4 for sale
converged EREE
7715 0 & SR SN AR 1 - 3B BB 90 [E XT R
REUEA)600K
Min Hang Located in Chunshen Area in the Residential Under planning
Project outskirts of Minhang District, adjacent | buildings friE
M17IE R to the Xinzhuang sub-center and lying | &

within one of Shanghai's four model
residential zones

IR BITTRINE IR F BRI - EAER
W R L - R B R R E R
Z_

RIUBZEMARAR
—E-MEFR
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EEE

Kunshan

Bl

Project Location Property type Current status
BHH WM E E 3 bl BREMRR
Moonlight Located in Lujia Town, approximately Residential Delivered
Mansion 200 metres from the under-construction | buildings with sales of
BRI R Kunshan S1 Line and situated in the (E=s remaining
Shanghai half-hour commuting circle apartments
fIRPERER - BEREAEZ TR B IUST4R A RNEBREE
200K~ #1BE LB/ N B E) B
Moonlight Jade | Located in Huagiao Town, adjacent Residential Delivered
B AR IR to Jiading District of Shanghai in the buildings with sales of
east. The project is close to the under- T=E remaining
construction Metro Line S1, which can apartments
be connected to Shanghai Metro Line 11 RIERHEE
IR ERRER  RAA LR TR - il
SOERTSIRE AT AE BB
1157 4%
East City Located at the border between the Residential and | Delivered
RERE central area of Yushan Town and commercial with sales of
the eastern area, the project is 1.5 buildings remaining
kilometres from the under-construction | =% % apartments
Metro Line S1, and is equipped with RHEREE
necessary educational and commercial
resources in the vicinity
RI7 E RO R MR AR R R A
R RS ARISAE - ARlESR
EXNHENEEER
Poly Brilliant Located in the established residential Residential and | For sale
Palace area in Development Zone, adjacent to | commercial (partially
RN ERRE the downtown with certain advantages | buildings delivered)
of school district T m%E EE (o

R RABE BB R BT T
B REED

1)

Poly Shangyun
Fu
RFHZH

Located in the eastern area, an area
characterised by mature development
and a comprehensive range of
educational, commercial, and medical
facilities

IR R EIRE - FAEEREAD  #E -
EENBELEESS

Residential and
commercial
buildings

TE W

For sale

HE
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Project Location Property type Current status
HH I B L/E 3Eicl BREMR
Poly Jingyue Located in Fenghuang New Town and Residential and | For sale
Palace adjacent to Qingyang Flyover, the commercial (partially
Changzhou RIZHT project is surrounded by well-developed b\uiIHdings‘ deliverf:d) N
" residential communities with abundant | {5 3 HE (HBoR
natural and scenic resources i)
URBEFERGE BEREFaR BE
RAKF BEANRHERE S
Tianhe Mansion | Located in Loujiang New Town in Residential Delivered
KR High-tech District, the key planning buildings with sales of
area, the project is 3 kilometres from = remaining
the municipal government office apartments
Taicang and is close to Wanda commercial RNEREE
RE properties and equipped with abundant
educational resources
UREHRENSHRE TN BEED
B3AE ENBERX HEARE
2
Poly West Bank | Located in the economic development | Apartments and | Delivered
Villa zone of Wuzhong District, the project villas with sales of
RFBEF = stands on a peninsula of Dushu Lake NE-RIE remaining
MR RPEERER KRR EEE N apartments
RITRBIHE
Poly Lake Located in the economic development | Residential and | For sale
Mansion zone of Wuzhong District and the commercial (partially
Suzhou 1R T 85 A B R n\orthern ti_p\:)f Yinshan Lak\e buildings, offices deliverled) N
. MURRPEEFRER FILHRILE a\nd hote\ls EE (BrR
/ Fx - BF -BF | M)
18 ROBJE
Poly Tianyue Located in Weitang Town, in proximity | Residential and | Delivered
Mansion to transportation terminal and with commercial with sales of
RAMRBAK access to Metro Line 9 which is under buildings remaining
planning TE M apartments
B EMEETH RRRE RITERIHE
B 95 47
RAEXEEBR QA

TR EFR
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EEE

Suzhou
N

Project Location Property type Current status
HH HE U B MEER BREMRR
Majestic Located in Luzhi Town, close to Lake Residential Delivered
Mansion East of Industrial Park of Suzhou, with buildings with sales of
IR access to Metro Line 6 which is under | % remaining
long-term planning apartments
URAEER B&HN IEEREHRRER RITERIHEE
i R HAR BB 65 4%
Poly Yue Ying Located in Shishan Street, High-tech Residential Delivered
Ting District, adjacent to the old town and buildings with sales of
R¥ AR EE in proximity to the under-construction F= remaining
Metro Line 3 apartments
UREMEMLEE BHBEME T RNEBRHEE
23R E) B35 AR
Wonderful Located in Mu Du Town of Wu Zhong Residential Delivered
Times District, close to the under-construction | buildings with sales of
TR Metro Line 5 T= remaining
R R RAERE MBI ER T A ES apartments
SRAR RNEBRHEE
Above The Located in the IKEA business circle of Residential Delivered
Clouds Xushuguan, High-tech Zone, bordered | buildings with sales of
EEEE to the west by the Beijing-Hangzhou TE remaining
Grand Canal and the under-construction apartments
canal landscape corridor. RN EBEHE
RS FEREREE BAlARN
RET RAERENE NS
Urban Ideal Located in the centre of Wangting Town | Residential For sale
Habitat of Xiangcheng District, close to north buildings (partially
R Taihu and near Xiangcheng District F= delivered)
Traditional Chinese Medicine Hospital EE (HBrR
UREREE=EPORE BRITIEX )
AT AR R B B
Poly Poetic Located in the central park in Residential Delivered
Dwelling Huanggiao Street, Xiangcheng District, | buildings with sales of
RFAEAKE | and close to Metro Line 4 in operation | T remaining
URERREBSETEPRRERR &b apartments
B R iR R0 3 S84 57 4% RNBRHEE
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Project Location Property type Current status
HHE WwELE L/E 3Eicl BREMR
Riverside Time | Located at Baofeng Road, Wuzhong Residential Delivered
Zone District, the area is the old town centre | buildings with sales of
B TR and well developed with high-quality F= remaining
educational, commercial and healthcare apartments
resources RNERIEE
NRRPEELE BRESTOESE.
EREALZFBENHE BENBE
BR
Tide Mansion Located in the Shengpu Area of Residential Delivered
P ) Suzhou Industrial Park (SIP), which is buildings with sales of
an emerging residential area planned T= remaining
by SIP government and equipped with apartments
improving educational and commercial RNEREE
facilities
NRTERERBHRE EEERKTRS
BT EEERE  HEMEEREZHK
Suzhou el
M
Poly Junhua Located in the Xietang Area of Suzhou | Residential For sale
Mansion Industrial Park, and the west side is the | buildings pag==
RFIEBEE A Shuanghu business district of the Park, | %
with convenient transportation links and
full-fledged ancillary facilities
IR TEERMERE TR EEE
BB REN AERETE
Classics Located in the Olympic Plot of the Residential For sale
Mansion Industrial Park, approximately 800 buildings rE
REEBFE metres away from the Olympic Sports | ¥
Center. It is 400 metres away from
Fengtaigiao Station of Metro Line 6,
which will be opened soon
R TXEREBRE ERETOL
800K © 25 B1 % 9 38 ) 3t i 657 4R & 1B
354005K
Poly Longyue Located in Honggiao District, it is Residential Delivered
Mansion the core location of the urban area, buildings with sales of
Changshu RIS enjoying high-quality educational and T= remaining
B commercial facilities apartments
URIBE BRTRRAZOE = RNEREE

FRENHENAEEE

RIUBZEMARAR
—E-MEFR
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EEE

Ningbo

B

Project Location Property type Current status
HH HE U B MEER BREMRR
Poly City Located in the prime location of Residential and | Delivered
R F)I5 Zhenhai New Town, facing the new commercial with sales of
administrative and cultural centre of buildings and remaining
Zhenhai offices apartments
URESFEZOR BLESHTEX | £ AERE | INERHE
et Fi2
Poly Located at Shuixiang Lane, Dongshang | Residential and | Delivered
Wonderland New Town, Ningbo commercial with sales of
RFENTE 37 P B8 08 3R P R MUK B8 22 buildings remaining
TE mE apartments
RNEBRHEE
Prosperous Located in the central area of Eastern Residential and | Delivered
Reflection New City and less than two kilometres | commercial with sales of
EmE from the office of Ningbo Municipal buildings and remaining
Government with access to convenient | offices apartments
transportation and full-fledged ancillary | A HEEE | INEBHEE
facilities FiE
7 AR ERFT A% O [+ BB 2R T U R R
2RE RBEMN EEER
Oriental Imprint | Located in the centre of Beilun District | Residential Delivered
ENER 75 and directly adjacent to Beilun District | buildings with sales of
Government offices, the project F= remaining
occupies a regular-shaped plot with apartments
excellent transport connectivity RNERHEE
b EmE RO Z2EIHEBUT
I B EA
Poly Lake Located in the east of Eastern New City, | Residential Delivered
Imprint 2.2 kilometres from the office of Ningbo | buildings with sales of
R FI 8 ¥ B Municipal Government T=E remaining
MRRBIAAZOEARS @ - BEEER apartments
MHF2.2R 8 RINERIHE
Poly Riverview | Located in Yinfeng, Haishu District, Residential and | Delivered

Mansion

PRI _EED

which is a multifunction waterfront
integrating commerce, residence, and
culture and leisure
UREEREFH R E5BE BFEM
YAL KRB BB KE A TR

commercial
buildings
FE -HE

with sales of
remaining
apartments

RIERIHE
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Ningbo

B

Project Location Property type Current status
HH I B L/E 3Eicl BREMR
Luxury Clivia Located in Kongpu Area, Jiangbei Residential Delivered
ZHBRECE District, which is a core area of buildings with sales of
Yongjiang cultural and creative port, = remaining
and is approximately 300 metres from apartments
Kongpu Station of Metro Line 2 RIERHE
fIp TR AHH B BRI XAENZ
AR SR - B B 4 5 255 4R FL U 15 £03000K
Poly Spring Located in Jishigang Town, Haishu Residential Delivered
Poetry District, which is the west gateway buildings with sales of
RAEIFET to the central district of Ningbo, the F=x remaining
project enjoys full-fledged ancillary apartments
facilities and certain landscape RNEREE
resources
UREERELTER TERPOBEDN
EfF ARRETE TR EREBE
R
Poly Brocade Located in the Science Park, High- Residential Delivered
Scroll tech Zone, Yinzhou District, which is buildings with sales of
{RAER L ED approximately 600 metres from the F=E remaining
High-tech Zone Station of Metro Line apartments
5, enjoying a favourable geographical RNERBRBE
location
LA ER N 12 = 3 [ B - 55 B 555
=% R Uh6005K » IR AL B B
Hai Shu Project | Located in Jishigang Town, Haishu Residential Under
BEEIE A District, 2.2 kilometres away from the buildings construction
government office of Jishigang Town, = and prepared
with full-fledged ancillary facilities for sale
UREERELTEER BRERNF22A EREFE
B-AERERE
Poly Rising Located in the Zhuanggiao Area of Residential Completed
RFIBBIFAME | Jiangbei District, and its south side is buildings with sales of
the Hongda Road Station of Rail Transit | % remaining
Line 4 apartments
AT R S AR R - b dR F A R B 224 ongoing
S AR R BE Uk BRTRBHEE

RIUBZEMARAR
—E-MEFR
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48

Project Location Property type Current status
HH HE U B MEER BREMRR
Poly Villa Re Located in Fuming Street, Yinzhou Residential Completed
Place District, which is an established urban buildings with sales of
REEE area with centralised resources, and F= remaining
close to Zhongxing Bridge South apartments
Station of Metro Line 3 ongoing
UREMEREAEE  BNERHNE 5 RIEBHE
mERET MO YRIFRDEKRERE
uk
Ningbo
B2l Poly Jinmao Located in the East New Town, Ningbo, | Residential and For sale
Palace which is the new political, financial and | commercial s
RAME X exhibition centre of the city, with the buildings
well-developed surroundings offering T %
a comprehensive range of educational,
healthcare and commercial facilities
IR R EBE AR - R ERFAOBOR - ©
MMERPL-FASERKD - HE B
BEMREBOEEER
Poly Origin of Located in Yuelong Street in the prime | Residential and | Delivered
Nebula area, the project enjoys convenient commercial with sales of
. ) RFIBIIFREZT | transportation links and high-quality buildings remaining
Ninghai . . . s
= educational resources and professional | £ H% apartments
e medical services RNBREE
UREHERETE BEE HER
EENHEERNBEEHERERE
Future Mansion | Located in Fuchunwan New Town, Residential and Delivered
TREEN Fuyang District, which is situated in the | commercial with sales of
planned Highspeed Railway commercial | buildings remaining
area T -mE apartments
NREGREFENN WERETHNS RNEBREE
Hangzhou HEBEER R
AL
Jade Urban Located in the north area of Xiaoshan Residential For sale
HEAER District, near to the Jianshesan Road buildings g
Station of Metro Line 2 and Line 7 (E=s
RIPARR LR T ACAR 58 - 5 3t $825% 0755 4%
R =Kk
Poly Jordan Located in the southeast of the Residential and | For sale
International intersection of Chengdong Road and commercial (partially
Yuyao RH B & B FRIE | Tanjialing Road, Yuyao buildings and delivered)
Rk IR ARIPR IR BB R BRI XIE AR | offices HE (F0xR
2= EE - BMERRE | )

FiE
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Project Location Property type Current status

HH HEuE YIEER B AR R
Poly Origin Located in the Eastern New Town in Residential For sale
RF R Degjing, 5-minute driving distance buildings, hotels | (partially
from the Nanjing-Hangzhou High- and commercial | delivered)
speed Railway station and with superior | buildings EE (Mo
scenery and landscape Fx BERE | )
CIRREFE - EEMSESHEEIR - S
BELEERERE
Poly Prime Located in Fuxi Subdistrict, the Residential Delivered
Deging Regency central of the Eastern New Town, and buildings with sales of
- RFFERER | lying immediately adjacent to the T= remaining
B southwestern boundary of the Poly apartments
Origin Project RNERHEE
R PR R A0 B B IR 58 - (R R4
I8 B 7 Al
Poly Pearl Bay | Located in Fuxi Subdistrict, bordered Residential Delivered
{RFIBF A @ 2 to the south by the Old Town area of buildings with sales of
Deqing T remaining
URBRHE AEAREFEZPLHE apartments
RINERIHE

RABXEBMBRAF]
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K=AME
RZE-_NF+-_A=+—H B%%
BEfEk=-AthEF*ZHE33MERFER
BER - HABED®R T 7EEBEER
MIRE 3MEEEREF -FHEEL
EEEBESSIBT A K SFELEEEE
22398 F oK At L fEE312.28F
FAK REEEBE T IREERN24% o

2. Pearl River Delta Region 2.
As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had
33 projects in the Pearl River Delta Region, of which
23 were completed, 7 were under construction and
3 were under planning. The total GFA was 3,122,000
square metres, accounting for 24% of Poly Property
Group's total land reserves. Among which, 883,000
square metres were under construction while

2,239,000 square metres were under planning.

Project Location Property type Current status
HE WwEME MERR BREMRR
Poly Golf Shire | Located in Huadu District, adjacent Residential Delivered
RAZMAE | to the Asian Games New Stadium at buildings and with sales of
Fengshen Avenue and the Metro Line 9 | offices remaining
MNREHE BHRRGRKELTESHES | T BFE apartments
£5 K 3t 955k 4R RNEBEE
Poly Zephyr Located in the centre of Xinhua Town Residential and | Delivered
City of Huadu District, east of the district commercial with sales of
RAMIEM government offices buildings remaining
CRERMRAEEP L EBREARA | £ BEX apartments
RISEBIHE
Poly Up House | Located in Huadu District, in proximity to | Residential Delivered
RFMEEE Metro Lines 3 and 9 which are accessible | buildings with sales of
Guangzhou to the whole city F=E remaining
M L ATERD IR - 403 0 035 M OSR 47 - 1|iE apartments
2 RNERHEE
Poly Gratified Located in the South of Liwan District, Residential and For sale
West Bay adjacent to the Guangzhou Metro commercial (partially
IR TG Line 1 with complete commercial and buildings and delivered)
educational facilities offices TE (Hrx
fURHEEEES MOBENOE ISR & | £ BELE | )
XLHERERR Fi2
Nansha Poly Located in Toyota Auto City in Huangge | Residential and | Delivered
City Town, Nansha, connecting to a commercial with sales of
L R A comprehensive transportation network | buildings remaining
A ERBEHSEN RBMAEKT | 2 B apartments
& RISEBIHE
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Guangzhou

E

Project

BB

Location

WwENE

Property type

Current status

BRR R

Poly Jade Hills | Located at the junction of North Jianshe | Residential Delivered
RAMIER L Road and Sandong Avenue in Huadu buildings, offices | with sales of
R TE AR 2 3R Jb B B = B KB R and commercial | remaining
buildings apartments
T - BFER | RNERHEE
[EES
Clover Shades Located in the north of Pingbu Avenue, | Residential and Delivered

BHMOELE Huadu District and is 3.5 kilometres from | commercial with sales of
the office of Huadu District Government | buildings remaining
IRTEE R A REALL - BEEERMER | % W% apartments
fi3.5RE RISEBHE

Poly Glory Located in Xinhua Town of Huadu Residential Delivered

RFBBREH District, approximately 2 kilometres from | buildings with sales of
the office of Huadu District Government | F=E remaining
and adjacent to Ma'anshan Park Station apartments
of the operational Metro Line 9 RTERIBE
IR TE#R IR T 4E - IR BE FE#0 R BT 402
NE - FHEBENMEIRAETRLA
Bk B

Nan Sha Project | Located in Huangge Town, Nansha Residential Delivered

RFE District, and is next to the Nansha Poly | buildings with sales of
City Project F=E remaining
URmEPEEEE ZMEPRAKIER apartments

RNERIHEE

Poly Polaris Located in the north of Huadu Avenue Residential For sale

RA ER and the east of Lianshan Road, Huadu buildings (partially
District and is 5 kilometres from the x= delivered)
office of Huadu District Government EE (R
LRTEEN R IEE RBIALL - LR AR )
EREER R BTSN E

Glory of City Located to the north of Jinghu Avenue | Residential and | Delivered

KB in Huadu District, the project is 1.5 commercial with sales of
kilometres from Qingtang Station of buildings remaining
Metro Line 9, surrounded by well- FE -HE apartments
developed residential communities RNERHE

R TE & 5 89 A 8 LA - BB B b 38 1 5%
RBREMISNE  BEESEMKR

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR
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Project

BB

Location

BN E

Property type
L/E S Eicl

Current status

BRI

Poly Moonlight
Lake
R FIBH I e

Located in Lihu Area of Zengcheng
District and at the junction of
Guangzhou, Dongguan and Huizhou, the
project is 3 kilometres from the office of
Zengcheng District Government

RIP B IE 5 IR R E =R
Rz b BEIZHEHTIAR

Residential
buildings
F=

For sale
(partially
delivered)
rE (Hrx

1)

Poly Longyue

Located in Xintang Area of Zengcheng

Residential and

Delivered

Guangzhou | R FIF 1R District, with Metro Line 23 under commercial with sales of
=0 planning, well-equipped with buildings remaining
comprehensive facilities FE -HE apartments
{7 7 S 950 [ T AR 48 - R R AR 81 A b #5123 RNEREE
SAR EERETE
Poly Chill Located in Shigiao Area of Panyu Residential For sale
Residence District, the project is 2.5 kilometres buildings rE
RFIRE from the Panyu District Government F=E
UREREDERE EHEEERRMA25
nE
Poly Cullinan Located at the centre of Chancheng Residential Delivered
Garden District, neighbouring the Asia Arts Park | buildings, offices | with sales of
RIREIEE in the west and commercial | remaining
R ERRP L RS ASDERNE buildings apartments
T2 - BFER | KNERHE
GES
Poly Prestige Located in Longjiang Town, Shunde Residential and | Delivered
City District, benefiting from excellent commercial with sales of
PR 35k transport connectivity and a thriving buildings remaining
commercial environment FTE -HE apartments
IR BB REITR 3BT E BHERAR RNEREE
Foshan BE
Bl
Poly Central Located in the north of Shunde New Residential and | Delivered
Park City, the project stands in the heart of commercial with sales of
R WNE Pearl River Delta and enjoys convenient | buildings and remaining
transportation links hotels apartments
IR IBEFEAL RS ER= AR X | T BAERE | KNEREE
B J&
Poly Tongji Located in old town area of Chancheng | Residential and | Delivered
Mansion District, and adjacent to Tongji Street commercial with sales of
TR AR 2 i Station of Guangzhou-Foshan Railway buildings remaining
R EHEZERERE ZRERCERE | £ B% apartments
B Uk RNERHEE
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Project

BB

Guangfo Poly

Location

WwENE

Located at the junction of Daliang Road

Property type

Residential and

Current status

BRR R

Delivered

City Il and Lunjiao Street in Shunde District, commercial with sales of

BEF#IRFIH = 5 | east of the First People’s Hospital buildings remaining
URIEEEARTEMBHEBRER | £ BX apartments
EF-ARBRERA RNERIHE

Guangfo Poly Located in Lunjiao Street, Shunde Residential and | Delivered

City District and close to Metro Line 3 commercial with sales of
& b £R N33 IR EE R mHEE  EMBITEL | buildings remaining
2 F=E B apartments
RNERIHE
Foshan Guangfo Poly Located in Lunjiao Street, Shunde Residential and | Delivered
1 City Phase |l District, northeast of the Poly Central commercial with sales of
E#R R —H] | Park Project and adjacent to Lunjiao buildings remaining
Secondary School FE Az apartments
fURIEREREEE  RAPRARIER RNERIHE
R 2w 2
Poly Mansion Located in Ronggui Street, Shunde Residential and | For sale
RF AR District and in proximity to the Riverside | commercial (partially
Park, the project is 2 kilometres from buildings delivered)
Ronggui Station of Guangzhou-Zhuhai (ERSSRNE EE (R
Intercity Railway )
R IERE R S B RE - B
HERSNAHEM2RE
Poly Up Town Located in the prime commercial area of | Residential and | Delivered
IRA Lk TEE Longgang District, the project is easily | commercial with sales of
accessible by Metro Line 3 and is also buildings remaining
complemented with ancillary facilities FTE B apartments
MARBEMEERZOE  HE3REE RNEREE
Shenzhen Q%@%U ! @EE?’:%
AN Poly Joy-Zone Located in Longhua, Bao’an District, Residential and | Delivered

R FIR B IE

close to the transportation terminal and
the metro station, with comprehensive
business and community facilities
URELTREE BRFETEL
W EEEE RETE

commercial
buildings
FE-HE

with sales of
remaining
apartments

RNERIHEE

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR
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Project

BB

Location

WwEME

Property type
L3 bl

Current status

BRI

Shenzhen
il

Poly Keenstar
Super City
TR Ep 02 B

Located in the prime northern

center of Longgang, with convenient
transportation links and a thriving
commercial and living environment

IR EER O ER - R B - R -
BENEESERE

Residential and
commercial
buildings

FE -HE

For sale
(partially
delivered)
rE (Hrx
1)

Poly New Located at the junction of Longgang Residential and | For sale
Dream Street and Pingdi Street, the project commercial g
RAZE LA is only 1 kilometre from the under- buildings

construction Metro Line 3 extension FTE -mE

I P BE e A7 18 BT S AT B R R BE - IR RRAE

BREMERREEREEIAE
Poly Vibe Located in the business centre of Residential and | Delivered
Centro Shenzhen North Railway Station commercial with sales of
RAEER area, the project enjoys convenient buildings remaining

transportation links and high-quality FE -HE apartments

commercial and educational facilities in RITEBIHE

the vicinity

i@&%iwﬂl\itiﬁﬁi‘“iﬂ/b)#ﬁ B

BEERENHEEREE

Poly Urban Located in Shahu Community, Biling Residential and | For sale
Cultural Bay Street, Pingshan District, only one commercial TEE
RHFBAIFEETE | kilometre from the under-construction buildings
Shahu Station of Metro Line 14 T |

R ILREEGED B E  PREER

B B 1457 AR D M UAE1 R E
Poly Jade Located in the north to the intersection | Residential and | For sale
Apartments of Yanlong Avenue and Yuling Road in commercial TEE
RMFRA Longcheng Street, with comprehensive | buildings

facilities FTE -BE

IR BEM T B R N B M E R R IE R AL
fil - EEREER

Bao An Project
EXIHAE

located in Bao'an Central Area, Xin'an
Street, Shenzhen, which is in the core
area of Qianhai and only 700 metres
away from the office of Bao'an District
Government
URFTLZHBEZ P ORISR BRANEZ
O SRR E R R BT {£700K

Residential and
commercial
buildings

FE B

Under planning
(E3c

o4
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Project Location Property type  Current status

HH WwENE MERH BRR R

Poly Deutch Located in the prime area of Huibo and | Residential and | Delivered

Kultur the northern bank of East River, only commercial with sales of

AR Ll 7K Bk 10-minute drive from downtown of buildings remaining
Huizhou FE apartments
IR EERZS BT E  BEM PO RNERIHE
RBE10DEHEE

Poly Sunshine Located next to the Shenzhen Shantou Residential and | Delivered

. Town Expressway and Palm Island Golf Course, | commercial with sales of
Huizhou S L sk . . . g .
= | R 5 5k the project enjoys an environment of b\mldlngs\ remaining
natural scenery FTE - -mE apartments
RS ERES EEFEEREARX RIVTEBREE
5 BRARREESE
Poly Lujiang Located in the centre of Shuikou, Residential and | Delivered
Lane Huicheng District, Huizhou and adjacent | commercial with sales of
R )L 2R to Lujiangli Wetland Park buildings remaining
MREREKOPLEE BREIERE | £ B apartments
SN RNEREE

Southwestern Region

As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had 23
projects in the Southwestern Region, of which 14 were
completed, 4 were under construction and 5 were
under planning. The total GFA was 4,123,000 square
metres, accounting for 31% of Poly Property Group’s
total land reserves. Among which, 606,000 square
metres were under construction while 3,517,000

square metres were under planning.

it E
R-ZEBE-_mWE+-_A=+—H B%&
ErmmmEEZFE23EEERZ
HE HANM4EEE T 4EEEB RBRE
IHRE SEAEBRIF-HETEERE
HLEECOCEFT K FREELEERE
351.78FF K At L #HE412.38F
K EBEEEA T FHEEN31% -

Project Location Property type Current status
HH WU E /3l BRI
Poly Clouds Hill | Located in Yunyan District and a five- Residential and | Delivered
Guiyang International minute drive from downtown, which is commercial with sales of
e RME 1L EIER convenient and easily accessible buildings remaining
NREER BWPRLSHEER -£EFF | B 8% apartments
Rz RIERIHE

RAMEZEEERAA
—E-NFFR 95
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om E2 73 1ifr

EEE

Guiyang
]

Project Location Property type Current status
HE IR E E bl R R
Poly Spring Located in the south of Wudang District Residential and | Delivered
Street and is one kilometre from the centre of commercial with sales of
RANFERAE the district buildings remaining
NREEREH ESEEFMARKRE | A% 8% apartments
RNEREE
Poly Park 2010 | Located in Wudang District and in close Residential and | For sale
RFAE2010 proximity to the district administration commercial (partially
centre and enjoys comprehensive buildings delivered)
community facilities in the neighbourhood | ¥ B % HE (HBHR
URSERTEF LS AERERETE 1)
Poly The Place Standing against the backdrop of Huaxi Residential and | Delivered

with sales of

of A Lake National Wetland Park and in the prime commercial

RAE location in the scenic ecotour zone of buildings remaining
Huaxi District FE B apartments
fIRIERE EREIRERRE D O 55 R EBHE
TERBIKERIBAR

Poly Phoenix Bay | Located in Nanming District built on the Residential and | For sale

A ELRE site previously occupied by Guiyang Power | commercial (partially
Plant, the project is a transportation hub buildings and delivered)
linking the downtown of Guiyang, Xiaohe | offices EE (B
and Huaxi Districts in the south FE-BEEE | 1)
URERARE HREREGEREL  BER | ¥
B mLEFE R TR R E R

Poly Bright Located at Shuanglong Area of Nanming | Residential and | For sale

Moon on Top District, adjacent to Guiyang Forest commercial (partially

RAMEAFF L Park and surrounded by comprehensive buildings delivered)
facilities Tx "% HE (BHR
UREAREERE BEBEGTRAMD i)

B BEREEZ
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Project

EHHE

Location

WIELE

Property type

Current status

B R

Poly Metropolis | Located in the south of Zunyi, the project | Residential and | For sale
of Future is close to the centre of transportation commercial (partially
Zunyi RN AR I hub developed by the government and buildings and delivered)
JCE:S linked to the old town of Zunyi offices EE (BHR
UREERER BREATENERERZ | £ BEEE | )
R H R BB R Fig
Poly Crescendo | Located in the north of Nanning, the Residential and | Delivered
R LT project is approximately 20-minute drive | commercial with sales of
from the city centre buildings remaining
MUREEMEILE ETMELA200EERE | £ "% apartments
RIERIHE
Poly Aegean Sea | Located in Xiuxiang Avenue in Nanning Residential and | Delivered
RAIEZEE and adjacent to the Lion Hill Park, the commercial with sales of
project enjoys convenient Transportation | buildings remaining
links and community facilities (BRSNS apartments
UREETASRASE SORLUAR & RERIHE
EH REE2
Poly Hearty Located at Mingxiu Road near the Residential and | Delivered
) R L 3B original site of Chongzuo CPC Academy, | commercial with sales of
Na;nmg the project is a premium residential buildings and remaining
mE development in Beihu area offices apartments
URAFERELEREUML —ZIGHF | A BERE | RKNERHEE
REGERE FiE
Poly Dream River | Located in the heart of Liusha Peninsula, | Residential Delivered
RME W E the project is bordered to the east by buildings with sales of
the state guesthouse Liyuan Resort and F= remaining
Qingxiu Mountain Golf Course, and to apartments
the west by the planned Liusha Eco Park RIERHE

covering over a thousand acres, with
south-facing riverfront vistas, offering a
prime geographical advantage

SREIDF SO IEH REBEEEEZE L
HANEALSRARIRS AEHAETHROY
DEENE mEHALHEIR MBLEEY

RMNEBEXEEBR AR 57
TR EFR
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EEE

Project Location Property type Current status
HE IR E E bl R R
Poly Town Located at the junction of Qinghuan Road | Residential and | Delivered
TR <R 75 AL and Fengling South Road in Qingxiu commercial with sales of
District, in proximity to the three CBDs buildings and remaining
of Dongmeng, Longgang and Wuxiang, offices apartments
facing Qingxiu Mountain Park in the west | % HEKT | KNELHEE
and overlooking Yong River in the south | 1%
UREERFREEBEMEIER R
BEEM AR =ACBDH O BHESIL
NE EEET
Poly Town Phase | Located in the arm of Yong River in the Residential and | For sale
Il eastern region of Dongmeng Business commercial (partially
RFSEERAIE = | Zone in Qingxiu District, and adjacent to | buildings and delivered)
i Qingxiu Mountain, a 5A-level scenic area | offices EE (HBHR

fREFEREEBERNETER B
BEFILSARE SRR

Fig

i)

AmEMLERE  BERATEHE RIER
EHE@200K U E@H RFEX

Nanning Poly Moon Bay | Located in Wuxiang District, close to Residential and | Delivered
. RABFIFIIL Liangqingxu Station of Metro Line 4, 300 | commercial with sales of
o metres from Yong River buildings remaining
NRARE SRMHFREET - B | £ 8% apartments
BT T EK R RBEE
Poly Jin House Located in Xinyang Longteng Area, Residential and | For sale
RFIEB L Xixiangtang District, which belongs commercial rE
to traditional old town area, enjoying buildings
rich living atmosphere and convenient T=x -mE
transportation links
LA Fa AR IE [ 315 B AR 58 - BIME S Z
& 40 R A
Poly Park City Located in Beihu Mingxiu Area of Residential and | For sale
RF=_EED Xixiangtang District, with mature commercial EE
residential development and ancillary buildings
facilities FT E%
NP RERICEAFTRIE FEHREL
BB
Poly Merization | Neighbouring the old town of Liubei in Residential and | Delivered
World the west and the business district in the commercial with sales of
RAAKILED south, and standing on the Liu River bank | buildings, offices | remaining
Liuzhou with a shoreline of more than 200 metres, | and hotels apartments
M the project boasts a prime location and T BE 537 | KNEEHEE
natural scenery BRBIE
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Project

EHHE

Location

WIELE

Property type

Current status

B R

Poly Mountain Located in Hedong Area of the central Residential and | Delivered
Liuzhou Villa ) business district and adjacent to the commercial with sales of
S RMEAFILE Lianhua Mountain Scenic Area in the north | buildings remaining
URPREBRAIRAE EEEELR | T 8% apartments
=& RITEBHE
Poly Lakeside Located in Ninghu Xincheng of Datun Residential and | Delivered
Mansion District in Anning City and is one block commercial with sales of
RM B 5 away from Ninghu Park buildings remaining
URLZEREHMRERFR BEHAE— | £ B apartments
izl RITEBHE
Poly Sky and Situated in the prime area of Renmin Road | Residential and | Delivered
Earth in the downtown area, the project is next | commercial with sales of
R E R to the City Stadium Station serviced by buildings and remaining
Metro Line 3 offices apartments
UREREARBZOME MBI | A HERE | RNEREE
S Fig
Poly One Family | Located in the intersection of Er Huan Bei | Residential and | Delivered
One World Road and Puji Road commercial with sales of
RAAK IR TR B E LR RER buildings and remaining
Kunming o\ffices ‘ apartments
o FE BERE | RNBRBHE
B .
Fig
Poly City Located in Fangwang Area, Guandu Residential and | For sale
R FI District and at the intersection of the commercial (partially
airport highway and the East Third buildings delivered)
Ring, the project is well-positioned with | FE % EE (HBHR

convenient transportation links and
abundant educational resources in its
vicinity

NRBERFERE HWEEKSSRER=
BRXO RBEF -FEHELEREE

i)

Poly Moonlight
Mansion

AL

Located in Guandu District and close to
Jinmasi Station of Metro Line 3

UREER BEMEIZREFFIH

Residential and
commercial
buildings
(BRI S

For sale
(partially
delivered)
EE (BHR
)

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR
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Hfth ith &
R-FB-MFE+-A=+—B E%%HE
ARE BMEANEESELEEER
ﬁ49f%tmz%fméelaa HA31ED %
SEEA RN E IR 3EEE R
%uq: BEERBRREA0788T

4. Other Regions 4.
As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had 49
projects in other regions, namely Wuhan, Harbin, Jinan
and other cities, of which 31 were completed, 15 were
under construction and 3 were under planning. The
total GFA was 3,132,000 square metres, accounting

for 24% of Poly Property Group's total land reserves. FRBREEMRMMAICABE T K A
Among which, 2,078,000 square metres were under :l:iﬂlfaﬁ #313.28F 7K 15%%%@%@

construction while 1,054,000 square metres were
under planning.

TH R ER24% ©

Project Location Property type Current status
B H I3 B MERR BB AR R
Poly Plaza Located in Wuchang District, the project | Offices and Delivered for
RA B % is a comprehensive commercial complex | commercial lease and for
integrating commerce, fashion and buildings sale
culture BEE EE RfER EE
URRERE RERK KE XtR—8
MEZE B EES
Poly City Located in Hongshan District, the project| Residential For sale
IR A4k benefits from a full range of community | buildings, offices | (partially
and educational facilities in its vicinity and commercial | delivered)
PR - FEEERRBEREXRR buildings EE (BoR
T -BF8R | )
GES
Poly Blue Located at the prime area of Wuchang Residential and | Delivered
Ocean District | District, the project boasts unparalleled | commercial with sales of
Wouhan . . . . - -
o RAE G panoramic lakeside views and is close to b\ulldlngs\ remaining
Wuhan Metro Line 2 FE -HE apartments
MRBEROE  —REW - Mz RNERHE
B2% 3
Poly Riverview | Located in Wuchang, the central district | Residential and | Delivered
RAL R of the city and near the Yangtze River commercial with sales of
URERRR S #ERT buildings remaining
T -HE apartments
RITEBIHE
Poly Park Located at Hongtu Avenue in Dongxihu | Residential and | For sale
RAMABR District, adjacent to Metro Line 2, the commercial rE
project benefits from comprehensive buildings
local amenities FTE- B
MR RENE R E KB 255 Fe 4
FEkEETE
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Project Location Property type  Current status
HH wENE MEER BREMRR
Poly Up Town Located in the newly emerging Residential and | Delivered
RA 3 Baishazhou area, the project neighbours | commercial with sales of
the under-construction Metro Line 5 buildings and remaining
URFTERAADPMNA R ZMEZNME | offices apartments
55% 4% FE - BEEE | KVERHEE
FiE
Poly Emerald Located in Airport Economic Zone and Residential and | For sale
Mansion close to Jinghelu Station of Metro Line 1| commercial &
ULES N = CIRERZEBKBERMEERE  #rE1 | buildings
Wuhan S5 AR BE b (ERSSRNIE
H % Poly Joyful Located in Airport Economic Zone and Residential and | Delivered
Mansion close to Sandian Station of Metro Line 1 | commercial with sales of
AR DEE CIRERZEBKBERMEAEE  #TE | buildings remaining
SR 4% = S5 ub FE -HE apartments
RNEREE
Poly Bright Located in Wujiashan New Town, Residential and | For sale
Lights Dongxihu District and close to Sandian commercial (partially
RABIFARN Station of Metro Line 1 buildings delivered)
URRFAHRIFK LR A0 E | T &% HE (BoX
1SRAR =5 Ik 1)
The Tsinghua Situated in Nangang District, the central | Residential and | Delivered
Summer Palace | district and the cultural and education commercial with sales of
of Poly base for higher education, the project buildings remaining
RAEERER enjoys well-established community (ERSSRSE S apartments
amenities RNEREE
fRFLREREER SF2REE £
Harbin ERERETE
SRR
Poly Up Town Located along the western banks of Residential and | Delivered
RA EHk the Songhua River, designated by the commercial with sales of
government as a major residential buildings remaining
development zone FE -HE apartments
IR A EIRIE LI — % BRBUNES RNEREE

TENEEHR

RMNEBEXEEBR AR 6]
TR EFR
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Project Location Property type Current status
HE wENE MEER B R AR SR
Poly The Located in Songbei District, the project | Residential and | Delivered
Water’s neighbours major provincial government | commercial with sales of
Fragrant Dike offices in Harbin, with improving buildings remaining
RAKBRE municipal facilities in surrounding areas | £ 5% apartments
fIRRILE R RETRARARE - RNERHE
ARDHEEEES RS
Poly City Located at the junction of West Youyi Residential and | Delivered
RA Road and Langjiang Road in Daoli commercial with sales of
District buildings remaining
IR B R R R H P E AT R R E R FE - HE apartments
RNEREE
Poly Tin Yor Located in the western sector of Qunli Residential and | Delivered
Phase I New Area in Daoli District, a key commercial with sales of
RFKIE=E | development area of Harbin buildings remaining
NREBEERFENNEAS RHREEH | A% W% apartments
HRERE RITEBIHE
Harbin Poly Tin Yor Located in the western sector of Qunli Residential and | Delivered
A RA R New Area in Daoli District, a key commercial with sales of
development area of Harbin buildings remaining
NREBEERENNEAS ERREEY | %€ B apartments
BERERY RITEBHE
Poly Time Lane | Located in the old city of Pingfang Residential and | Delivered
RFEAIFR K District, the project enjoys convenient commercial with sales of
transportation links, with comprehensive | buildings remaining
educational and medical facilities in its | £ H 3 apartments
vicinity RNEREE
URFERENR BEE AEHE
MBEREEEE
Guang Xin Located in the Songbei New District and | Residential and | For sale
Project 2 kilometres away from Harbin Grand commercial (partially
EEEE Theatre, with convention and exhibition | buildings delivered)
centre under construction situated in the | £ &% HE (B
southeast )
IR RAL ¥R - SRR B RBIBE2 A &8 -
REflAEZERD L
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Project

Location

Property type

Current status

HH wENE MEER B RFAR R
Poly Landscape | Located in Jiangnan New District, the Residential and | For sale
. RAI IR project is adjacent to Mudanjiang and commerecial (partially
Mudanjiang . 0 _ .
. tl\we\ C\onvsnhon ar}fi EXhI\bItIOh Center b\mldlngs del!verfd) N
fAIEFE BAHINMERSYL | £F EE EE (HoX
)
Poly Hyde Located in Licheng District, a commercial | Residential and | Delivered
Mansion centre of the new district in the east of | commercial with sales of
RANEEALE Jinan buildings remaining
RERE  BEERBIREERL FE -HE apartments
RNERIHE
Poly Center Situated at West Market renowned as a | Residential and | Delivered
RA AL hundred-year-old commercial market in | commercial with sales of
the west of the city buildings remaining
MRAARNE FHERMS FE B apartments
RISEBIHE
Poly Elegant Neighbouring the Honglou business Residential and | Delivered
Garden area, the project is located in Lixia commercial with sales of
. IR A2 2 District with convenient transportation buildings remaining
Jinan . . .
] I|\nl\<s e B (ERSSRNE S apartments
SR E T Mg BER RNEREE
Phili House Located at a prime location within a Residential and | For sale
ECy /N - distance of 3.5 kilometres from the commercial (partially
Jinan East Railway Station, poised to be | buildings and delivered)
served by four planned metro lines offices EE (B

IR ErRFRIUESSABRFBEN - FiE
REIBRGRER B BAUEY

e AEER
Fig

)

Poly Mountain
Villa
ANES

Located in Changging District, with
extensive scientific, educational and
human resources, excellent environment
and convenient transportation links
MRRER  FEABBEMANEREE -
REER RBERE

Residential
buildings
F=

Delivered
with sales of
remaining
apartments

RNEREE

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR
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EEE

Jinan

e

Project Location Property type Current status

HH WwEME MERH BRI

Poly Sheng Jing | Situated at Changqing District and Residential Delivered

Tai in proximity to Metro Line R1 under buildings with sales of

RAMERS planning, Changging Huanghe Bridge F= remaining
and Huayi Studios apartments
fIRRBR  IRHTTR BB EBRIRL - RISEEIHE
RIBENRKBARERZRHN

Zhong Lu Located in the downtown of Zhangqiu Residential Delivered

Mansion District, surrounded by a number of high | buildings with sales of

B schools with comprehensive ancillary F=E remaining
facilities and convenient transportation apartments
links RNEREE
URErEIRE AEeRESE KE
& RAER

Huai Yin Project | Located in West Railway Station of Residential For sale

RIZEE Huaiyin District and is a key investment | buildings and (partially
promotion project of the government of | offices and delivered)
Huaiyin District commerecial EE (R
URNREEARWEAE EEBRAFEHA | buildings )

BslEHEA

S

Poly Grand Joy | Located in the western old city centre Residential Delivered

RAM K2 of Huaiyin District, with convenient buildings and with sales of
transportation links and comprehensive | offices and remaining
amenities commercial apartments
IR REEABENZ LR ZBEF - | buildings RISEBIHE
EEREESR TE-BFE B

ES

Poly Grand Joy | Located in the western old city centre Residential For sale

Phase I of Huaiyin District, adjacent to the city buildings and (partially

RFREZH artery and the under-construction Rail offices and delivered)
Transit Line 4 commerecial EE (BHR
URRERABERZOE BT E | buildings )

BHEMERZOB AR R

E 3

o4
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Project

Location

Property type

Current status

HH wENE MEER B RFAR R

Poly Jade Located in Xianwen Area in High-Tech Residential and | Delivered

RFZEE Zone, a core area of the city centre, commercial with sales of
which is close to Ding Jia East Station of | buildings remaining
Metro Line 3 FE -HE apartments
IR SHEEXRE BRmRZORE - RNERIEE
AR T KR

Poly Park TOD | Situated above the parking lot of Residential and | Delivered

R AE L

Jiangjiazhuang Station of Rail Transit commercial with sales of

Line 2, surrounded by comprehensive buildings remaining

facilities and abundant scenic resources | {Z%E &% apartments

URETRIR2FREREEESLE RISEBHE

FEREEL SEBEREE
Poly Crown Located in Science & Technology Zone, | Residential and | For sale
RAEE Lixia District, sharing the core business | commercial g

circle of the city centre with high-quality | buildings

educational, healthcare and cultural and | % ¥

sports facilities

fRETREHEHA R KEHHROZL

EE - BENHE BRENXERGE
Poly Quehua Located in Tangye Area of Licheng Residential and | For sale
Peak Scenery District, with complete living facilities commercial g
RAMEBER and high traffic accessibility buildings

R EREE AR £EREEE X | £ A%
Poly Jinmao Located in the CBD area of Lixia District, | Residential and For sale
Splendid Jade | Jinan, neighbouring the Second Ring commercial g
RMEXKIRE East Road in the east and Jiefang East buildings

Road in the north, both of which are [ER=cRNE

iconic trunk roads, the project enjoys

convenient transportation links and

complete commercial and medical

facilities in the vicinity

I E TN ECBDR BA - RER —RRK

LB FUR B ST T B HTTE

Mo-BEBEMBROLEE S
Poly Greentown | Located in Lianhuashan area of Licheng | Residential and | For sale
Phoenix District, Jinan, about 1 kilometre commercial 'E
Mansion away from Jingshi Road and Lyuyou buildings
RF 4 B | Road, both of which are the iconic Fx m%

5

transportation trunk roads in Jinan,
making transportation convenient

TR EN BRI E B EREEE
RBERBLETE RERIAE B
HATEA -

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR

65




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
om E2 73 1ifr

EEE

CEEREER

Project Location Property type Current status
HH WwEME L3 bl BRI
Poly Glory of Located in Xianwen Area, the core area | Residential and | For sale
Praise of Jinan High-tech Zone. It neighbours commercial TEE
RAE FRE CBD in the west and Olympic sports buildings
governmental area in the south with (ERSANE
Jinan geographical advantages and mature
i development, the project forms part of
Ual F:‘Fj . . . .
the key residential improvement area in
Jinan.
RSO EE R AR REB
B-EMRERFR BES BHERMX
o REERNKEE
Poly Champs Located next to the Phoenix Mountain Residential Delivered
Elysees Reservoir, the project enjoys a buildings with sales of
Mansion convenient transportation network F=E remaining
RAMBEHERE | BREEILKE  ZEEF apartments
RNEREE
Poly Blossom Located in the core area of the Southern | Residential Delivered
Garden New City, the project is about 500 buildings with sales of
R E AR metres away from Guanzhuang Station of | =€ remaining
Yantai section of the planned Qingdao- apartments
Rongcheng Intercity Railway RNEREE
i 7 R /B ¥ A D [ - R B R R B AR R
B E & BUE AU A5000K
Yantai
fE 4 Poly Ocean Situated in the core area in High-tech Residential Delivered
Luxe District, the project is north to Binhai buildings with sales of
REE =8 Road and is approximately 300 metres | {7 remaining
from the coastline, offering unparalleled apartments
sea views RNEREE
fUREMEROLE LEREEK B
BB FERL300K  FEERREE
Poly Moon Located in the residential areas Residential and | For sale
Mansion in Laishan District and close to commercial (partially
RFBEIAEFET Guangdanghe Park, with comprehensive | buildings delivered)
facilities T -BmE EE (BHR
RIPA BRI & O B ERS - ERES AL )
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Project Location Property type  Current status
HH wENE MEER B RFAR R
Poly Triumph Situated in the Huancui District, the Residential Delivered
Mansion project is close to the Xianguding Scenic | buildings with sales of
RFIGBEAEE | Spot and is east to the ocean, offering | £ remaining
unparalleled sea views apartments
URERE MBLIGTERREBE &R R ERHE
HERE BERRESR
Poly Maple Located in the heart of Huancui District, | Residential Delivered
Valley the project is surrounded by hills in three | buildings with sales of
RFITER directions and is easily accessible with F=E remaining
comprehensive ancillary facilities in the apartments
neighbourhood RENRRIEE
UARRBRFME  ZEIRWL - BEF
BRREEREE 2
Caixin Poly Situated in the old town centre of the Residential Delivered
Masterpiece economic and technology development | buildings with sales of
EHMERFIEZE | zone which is densely populated with FE remaining
robust business activities, the project apartments
benefits from convenient transportation R ERIHE
links and comprehensive ancillary
facilities
R EBERMAERERT ORE EX
MARRE RBEE KEZTE
Poly Hanlin Located in the centre of Lingang District, | Residential and | Delivered
Mansion and adjacent to Weihai No. 4 High commercial with sales of
IRFIEARSE, School and Weihai Lingang Hospital buildings remaining
MREBRPORE MAFEENHE | A% -FX apartments
MR 2 BB RNERIEE
Poly Moon Located in the Torch High-tech Industrial | Residential and | For sale
Fenghua Development Zone in the traditional commercial (partially
RABHFRZE | downtown buildings delivered)
URANESKMEXRER BRERET | £ &% EE (FoX

W

)

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR

67




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEYmE DR

Project Location Property type Current status
HH wENE MEER B RFAR R
Poly Mansion Located at Linzi District, the project Residential Delivered
RN boasts excellent transport connectivity | buildings with sales of
and comprehensive amenities, T= remaining
complemented by abundant natural apartments
resources and cultural vibrancy RIERHE
URRER  ZBEEN EETE-BRE
Jibe REE AXTEEE
L Poly City Located in the core business circle of Residential Delivered
RFIH the central business district of Zibo, the | buildings with sales of
project is well supported by educational | F=E remaining
resources, convenient transportation apartments
links and well-developed facilities RTERBE
R LRBRZOEE BEEEERE
R ZEEN BEERR
Zoina Poly Strategically located at the intersection | Residential For sale
Weifang Mansion ‘ of Baotong Street and Weixian Road in b\uiIHdings (partially
8 P (R A BT Highiech District_ ) (E2=2 delivered) \
UREMEERTEEFRRIER R EE (FHoX
B )
Poly Yuelu Located in the core area of the High- Residential and | Delivered
Mansion Speed Train New District and adjacent commercial with sales of
Tai'an RN ER A to the Affiliated Experimental School of | buildings remaining
RE Taishan University ERSANE apartments
LR = BT 2 A% O [ 12 - B0 21 L) 28 B B RISEEIHE
BERER
Poly Peninsula | Located in the resort district of Shenzhou | Residential and | For sale
No. 1 Peninsula in Wanning City, Hainan commercial (partially
Wanning RFFEE15% Province, the project enjoys beautiful buildings delivered)
g= coastal resources T -BmE HE (9
R EmeEETHMNESREERE )
FEEMBEENERER
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RZE-_NMF+_A=+—H B%5%HE
TEAEBRBIINERFES5EE M ERFIE
B -HP3EEBCRT 2@ERBERE
TRE -ArtLitf@EEI1458F K (h

Hong Kong and Overseas 5.
As at 31 December 2024, Poly Property Group had
five projects in Hong Kong and overseas regions, of
which three were completed and two were under
construction. The total GFA was 145,000 square

metres, accounting for 1% of Poly Property Group's

total land reserves.

EXEEATIHREBNI% -

Project Location Property type Current status
HH WENE e 3 Rl B RAR R
Kai Tak Vibe Situated within Kowloon's Kai Tak Residential Delivered
Centro Development Area, the project is near buildings with sales of
RfEmEE to the under-construction Kai Tak Station | £E remaining
(Shatin-Central Link) and will take only apartments
10 minutes by MTR to reach the core RNEREE
areas of Hong Kong Island.
R NEREHERRA AOEZNM
B RS RK10D EER A EE
B bR
Villa La Plage Located in the Castle Peak Bay section | Villas Delivered
HFIERE of Castle Peak Road, Tuen Mun, this A with sales of
project is a low-density beachside remaining
residential development and is apartments
proximate to Harrow International RTERBE
School Hong Kong, Gold Coast and Tuen
Hong Kong Mun Hospital
&8 MREFRESLAKRELER AEYHE
EZEETHE FAEERELE S
BEREMBRFRERE
Yau Tong Chill Located in Yau Tong District, Kwun Tong, | Residential and | For sale
Residence Kowloon East, about 10-minute walk commercial TtE
I EA & distance from Yau Tong MTR station buildings
R NERBERBESE ST2HE | £ B
HWE A0 8
Kai Tak Pano Located in the runway of the former Kai | Residential and | For sale
Harbour Tak airport, Kowloon, Hong Kong, the commercial g
MiEEE project enjoys the fascinating Victoria buildings
Harbor view with great development T %
potential
URBBNEREERSRE TH &
wAEER BAFRE

RMNEBEXEEBR AR
TR EFR
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EEE

om E2 73 1ifr

Project

HHE

Location

HwENE

Property type
LE S bl

Current status

B RR R

London

GE

Cambium
Project
Hi BIEH

Located in Wandsworth, Southwest
London, which is well known for its high-
quality school district and tranquillity,
the project is approximately 15-minute
walk from the nearby subway station
and approximately 30-minute drive from
Central London

R ZRR R  NEEENREMY
RIREA - FIT15DE A FE B - BB
W R OL)F /N ER

Residential
buildings
=

Delivered
with sales of
remaining
apartments

RINERIHE

/0
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2024, total equity attributable
to shareholders of the Company amounted to
RMB34,209,353,000 (2023: RMB34,100,270,000), while the
net asset value per share was RMB8.95 (2023: RMB8.92).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group's gearing ratio (on the
basis of the amount of total liabilities divided by the amount
of total assets) was 76.6% (2023: 78.1%).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had an outstanding
bank and other borrowings (including the note payable) of
RMB70,454,106,000. In terms of maturity, the outstanding
bank and other borrowings (including note payable) can
be divided into RMB19,543,401,000 (27.7%) to be repaid
within one year, RMB23,448,454,000 (33.3%) to be repaid
after one year but within two years, RMB19,582,575,000
(27.8%) to be repaid after two years but within five years,
RMB7,879,676,000 (11.2%) to be repaid after five years.
In terms of currency denomination, the outstanding bank
and other borrowings (including the note payable) can
be divided into RMB63,200,106,000 (90%) in Renminbi,
RMB3,627,000,000 (5%) in United State dollars, and
RMB3,627,000,000 (5%) in Hong Kong dollars.

43% of the bank and other borrowings (including the note
payable) of the Group are subject to fixed interest rates
and the remaining 57% are subject to floating interest
rates. Therefore, under circumstances of interest rates
uncertainty or fluctuations or otherwise as appropriate,
the Group will consider the use of hedging instruments
(including interest rates swaps) to manage interest rate
risks. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current
assets of RMB79,321,844,000 and total bank balances
of RMB34,671,647,000 (2023: RMB77,146,991,000 and
RMB31,858,360,000,
banking facilities and cash revenue from business

respectively). With the available
operations, it is believed that the Group has sufficient
resources to meet the foreseeable working capital demands
and capital expenditure.

Bt %5 1o

/Jlbibﬁﬁﬁﬁz'gmﬂ
RZZE-—WF+=_A=1+—H ARAIZBRE
JE(hREZS 42 %R A A R#34,209,353,000T (=&
— =%: AR #34,100,270,0007T) ' M & W&
EFEAARBSIT(ZT-_ZF: AR
8927L) M- ZE-_WNF+_F=+—H K&
BrvEEBELR (FFEERAEBEERU
BEEMBRE)BT6.6% (ZE_=F:781%) °

RZE-_NF+_A=+—B KAEEHEEHKE
BrROREMERE (BEERMZRE) AARE
70,454,106,0007T ° 2 B HI A 5 38 - R EE|RTT
FEMEE (BERNER) IS AE —FNKN
BiEg 2 ANR#19,543,401,0007T (27.7% ) * £
—FREMFNEERE 2 ARE23,448,454,000
7T (33.3%) EMFRERLFREEZARE
19,582,575,0007T (27.8% ) N E AFE R EE 2
AR #7,879,676,0007T (11.2% ) - H L EE D
HoABERTAEGMEE (BRENEE)TY
D AEREANRESTEZ AR63,200,106,0007T
(90% ) %L EJLEME 2 AR #3,627,000,0007T
(5% ) &R & et B2 AR®3,627,000,0007T
(5% ) °

REBEL%RRITREMEE (BIEEMNEE) U
BEEXRE MR T57%ANAZE) B KB -
EHit o EFE I EES RSN EMEEBFTAT

ZK‘%lﬁq%Ff%ﬁ%;T/qﬂIﬂ( BIEF Kig ) &
BAERR AT _WF+_A=+—H K
%lz//m@)ﬁ@%@%}\ﬁﬁ%m 321,844,000
JC IRITHRERRE B AR ®34,671,647,0007T (=
E=F: 95l B ARET7,146,991,0007T &
AR #31,858,360,0007T) °E T A B HIEIT(E
ErgeRels HELASEAE#ERZZER
ENAER 7 EEESERRELARAS -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEYmE DR

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions
of the Group are mainly carried and conducted in Hong
Kong dollars, Renminbi and United States dollars.
The Group maintains a prudent strategy in its foreign
exchange risk management, where foreign exchange risks
are minimised via balancing the monetary assets versus
monetary liabilities, and foreign exchange revenue versus
foreign exchange expenditures. The management believes
that the foreign exchange rate between Hong Kong dollars
and United States dollars is relatively stable. Due to recent
fluctuation of Renminbi exchange rate against Hong Kong
dollars, the Group closely monitors the fluctuation and
adopts policy to minimise exchange rate risks, if necessary.

Pledged Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying value of the
Group'’s assets which were pledged to secure credit facilities
granted to the Group are as follows:

AEEZEREERABREBRHETENS
T ARBEETREMIENETT AEBE
SNERBREETEARER 2T BBFE
EMEERERBEARIMNERARINER S -
HINERBHERE -BEEEHRE BTAET
ZERRHRE - ARNFKOARE LB ITIER
ME $$lfwfﬁﬁ%ﬁ@'ﬁﬁ%£%ﬁ
HR B SRR (K BE =X A B

EEREE
RBESHF CEREATEEREEERE
CHRRZAREEBEMT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Investment properties BEMHE 5,530,726 5,008,576
Hotel properties BIEY % 1,605,000 1,280,000
Buildings ¥ 120,258 90,970
Right-of-use assets EREEE 205,392 123,139
Properties under development & % 23,421,673 26,817,016
Properties held for sale BIEHEME 1,118,818 164,296
Bank deposits RITIF R 164,147 226,443
32,166,014 33,710,440

In addition to above pledged assets, as at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the Group's interests in certain subsidiaries
were pledged to secure credit facilities granted to the
Group. The details of net assets value of subsidiaries are as

follows:

HREAEEBMEEIN R_FT_MONFR-F
T=F+ A=+ B AEERETHER
AMERTERITEALASEERNERERE
MER-MERAREEFENFEBENT

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T AR®EFTT

Total assets EESAE 10,462,976 43,069,200
Total liabilities BERTE (10,190,072) (42,764,844)
Net assets value BEFE 272,904 304,356
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Contingent Liabilities

The Group arranged mortgage loan facilities with certain
banks for purchasers of property units and provided
guarantees to banks to secure obligations of such
purchasers of repayment. The maximum guarantees given
to banks amounted to approximately RMB23,496,301,000
(2023: RMB27,693,189,000) as at 31 December 2024. Such
guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issue of the real
estate ownership certificate; and (ii) the satisfaction of the
mortgage loans by the buyers of the properties. The Group
has not recognised any deferred income in respect of these
guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by
the Directors. The Directors also consider that the fair value
of the underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding
mortgage loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the
purchasers default payments to the banks.

As at 31 December 2024,
guarantees to certain banks in respect of credit facilities

the Group had given

granted to certain associates and joint ventures of the
Group amounting to approximately RMB6,494,874,000
(2023: RMB7,544,812,000), of which approximately
RMB3,547,951,000 (2023: RMB5,132,349,000) had been
utilised by associates and joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed about
6,332 employees with remuneration for the year amounted
to approximately RMB1,264 million. The Group provides
employees with various benefits, including year-end double
pay, contributory provident fund and medical insurance. In
addition, share options and discretionary bonuses are also
granted based on the Group’s and individuals’ performance.
Employee trainings are also provided as and when required.

NAREE
AREFDOMYEENE R E
EBE R

ETFHRITLH
BE W AR ITIREERUERZ
EERBUTEREE R_ZE_NMF+=A

=+ —H H#TFRTNESERBEOAR
#23,496,301,000 (ZZE=-=F: AR¥
27,693,189,0007T) - BREERN T HIEH A
B (AR EBAEEARE)RIE: (VBEHEHER
BRE RIMMEERENZBER -AEH
I?ﬁ%E‘JEExvﬂ%‘%EEmEﬁ}ELW)\ [EAERZEDN
EEREEARBEATER-BENRA  BIEF
BERVERRTER BEDEZALEBDRE
DEMAEBRERZAKREEEBENR-

R-ZFB-_MFE+_A=+t—H AKEHRAKN
SEETHE2AALRAZLEMEREER

EHNRG6,494,874,00070 (=& — =&
AR ¥7,544,812,0007 ) [ & T R 17 42 @ 42
R MBEERAAREAGECEEHAEFRLOA
R #3,547,951,000c (ZE —_=F: AR
5,132,349,0007T) °

3=

RZEZ_WEFE+—_A=+—HBH AEBLHH
6,332% 8 - EWM\@%@%AEMQMF‘
rEBAEEREBFRER AESREER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

PREBRS

This Corporate Governance Report sets out the corporate
governance practices of Poly Property Group Co., Limited
(the "Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) always
upholds the highest standards of governance, driving
strategic execution and risk management through robust
governance mechanisms, with a focus on creating long-
term sustainable growth for shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the corporate governance reporting period, the
Company has adopted the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Company has strictly complied
with the provisions of the CG Code in all respects except
for the following two specific deviations:

1. Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and managing director should
be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities

between the chairman and the managing director

has been established and adopted by the Company
in writing in accordance with code provision

C.2.1.

Mr. Wang Jian resigned as an Executive Director

and Managing Director of the Company on 3

November 2023, and his daily management work

However, due to work rearrangements,

was temporarily performed by the Chairman of
the Board with the assistance of various centres
(offices and departments) of the Group. Following
the resignation of Mr. Wang Jian, the Company had
been actively identifying suitable candidates, and
appointed Mr. Hu Zaixin as an Executive Director
and managing director of the Company on 14 March
2024 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the
resignation of Mr. Wang Jian as managing director.
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2. Under code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code, the
chairman of the board should attend annual general
meetings. However, Mr. Wan Yuging, the Chairman
of the Board of the Company, was unable to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 13 June 2024 due to ill-health. Mr. Hu Zaixin
was appointed as the chairman of the meeting and
addressed questions raised by shareholders at the
meeting.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have
been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those in
the CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Guided by the core values of “Responsibility First,
Development Foremost” and the vision to “become
an inspiring and excellent enterprise”, the Group is
committed to building a high-quality and sustainable real
estate business. Anchored in our brand positioning as the
“leading creator of a brighter future”, we foster cultural
alignment to deeply integrate strategic objectives with
daily operations, ensuring unified values, cultural identity,
and behavioral standards across the organization. The
Board, as the architect and guardian of our corporate
culture, has explicitly established “Loyalty, Responsibility,
Pragmatism, and Perseverance” as our core ethos,
embedding the principle of "acting in compliance
with laws, ethics, and responsibilities” into strategic
decision-making and operational management. Through
institutionalized governance and regular advocacy,
we ensure the effective top-down dissemination of
cultural values, cultivating a shared commitment to their
conscious practice and continuous reinforcement among
all employees.

2. REBEEEEATAZTRNRNER2.21%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FEEBHRS

We recognize that corporate culture forms the bedrock
of the Group's core competitiveness. By leveraging the
leadership of the Board, organization-wide engagement,
and institutional safeguards, we strive to transform cultural
soft power into tangible, sustainable growth. Guided by
the ethos of “Loyalty, Responsibility, Pragmatism, and
Perseverance”, all employees act with a profound sense
of responsibility and mission, driving the Group to achieve
breakthroughs in the areas of compliance management,
innovative development and social responsibility. We
prioritize not only the growth of the Group but also the
creation of long-term value for our shareholders, employees,
and society, striving to become a respected industry-leading
player. Going forward, we will continue to be guided by
culture, move forward firmly on the path of high-quality
development, and make unremitting efforts to fulfill our
brand promise as the “leading creator of a brighter future”.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Corporate Governance Structure

Board of Directors

Esg

BRARM EEMERAEEZLBEF DR
H-BREFaslE 2BBRITHENE#EM
BABARE XM RENE R HEERE
EN-H[BH EE KE EFM]BHHES
T 2RBETURENEERMED X HD
PEREAMREL AMBERMLEEESFAE
THRSRE - ZATERIECEEHFNORE
FIBEABRR BEIRHGAGERRNER K
AT ANEHWITERT - R I #
BUXERIIR EREERRMNER LRTE
RITT RER[RFEFENE] WREAHN
THEE -

BEXg
SREARM

Remuneration Committee

FHWEES

Audit Committee
EREER

Nomination Committee

Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee

REEES RE  #HEREREES

Management
EEE
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Roles and Delegation of Authority

The Board, as the core of the Company’s governance,
bears the crucial responsibility of shaping corporate
culture, formulating long-term strategies, approving major
policies and operational decisions, monitoring business
and financial performance, ensuring sound internal controls
and risk management, establishing a corporate governance

framework, and enhancing shareholder value.

The Board has delegated certain functions to its four
specialized Committees, including the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Committee. The powers and duties of the
Committees are clearly defined in written terms of
reference, which are available on the websites of the
Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited
("HKEX").

dealing with specific matters in accordance with its terms

Each of the Committees assists the Board in

of reference and reports to the Board on its decisions or
recommendations. According to their terms of reference,
the Committees may seek support from the management
of the Group and may liaise directly with senior executives.
In addition, the Committees are provided with adequate
resources and, where necessary, may seek assistance of
independent professionals at the Company’s expense to
ensure the effective discharge of their duties.
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Balance Between Authority Reserved by
the Board and Authority Delegated to

Management

The Board retains decision-making authority over core
matters, including corporate strategy and culture, major
organizational and capital management, financial reporting,
internal controls and risk management, remuneration
policy for Directors and senior management, terms of
reference for Board Committees, development of corporate
governance framework and key corporate policies, as well
as communication with shareholders and other stakeholders.
Meanwhile, the Board delegates authority to senior
management for day-to-day operations and the execution
of strategic plans set by the Board, ensuring alignment
between execution and strategic objectives.

To further clarify the delineation of responsibilities, the
Company has established and implemented a list of
material matters requiring prior Board approval, which
explicitly defines decisions that management must
submit to the Board for endorsement. This mechanism
ensures transparency and effectiveness in the delegation
arrangements. The Board regularly reviews this list to ensure
it remains aligned with the Group’s development needs and
governance requirements.

Composition of the Board of Directors

The names of the Directors who held office in 2024 and
up to the date of this report are set out on page 2 of this
annual report.

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section headed "Profiles of Directors, Company Secretary
and Senior Management” on pages 106 to 111 of this
annual report.

There are no special relationships (including financial,
business, familial or other material or relevant relationships)
among the members of the Board. Similarly, there is no
special relationship (including financial, business, familial
or other material or relevant relationship) between the
Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company.
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Diversity Z it
As at 31 December 2024, a summary of the diversity of the W-_ZT WM&+ _-_A=+—H EF€% it

Board is set out below: BRI T
Age Group
FieER
Aged 41-50: One Aged 51-60: Four Aged 61 or above: Two
41-505% : 1A 51-608% : 4A 61BmBRIAE 1 2A
Gender
M5l
Male Members: Six Female Member: One|
B 6N ZHE A
Designation
E=85
Executive Directors: Two  Non-executive Director: One Independent Non-executive Directors
HATES : 2A FHTES 1A BUFHTES : 44
Skills
BEREE
Corporate
Governance,
Regulatory Industry
Business Compliance, Risk Finance & Knowledge &
Operations Management Accounting Market strategy
EEER- GGESIE:E
hEEXLE R EBRER cRgst ™5 B
1 Wan Yuqing v v v
BT
2 Hu Zaixin v v v
ERTERT
3 Chen Yuwen v v v
BRE X
4 Fung Chi Kin v v
55 ER
5 Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia v v
6 Wong Ka Lun v
e
7 Ng Kim Lam v v
R BRI
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The Board is well aware that Board diversity has a significant
positive impact on enhancing decision-making quality
and fostering innovative thinking. Directors with diverse
backgrounds can bring varied perspectives, strengthen
risk insights and problem-solving capabilities, as well as
improving the adaptability of enterprises to market changes,
thereby promoting sustainable development.

Since 2015, the Company has actively implemented
the policy on Board diversity, aiming to consider the
composition of the Board from various perspectives,
including the candidates’ gender, age, cultural background,
professional field and industry experience. In selecting
the most suitable candidates for the Board, we adhere to
the principles of meritocracy and skills matching to ensure
that each Board member’s background and experience are
highly aligned with the Company’s strategic objectives and
maximize his/her potential to contribute to the Board.

The Nomination Committee reviews this policy and its
implementation on an annual basis. The committee is of the
view that the Board demonstrates a high degree of diversity
in terms of gender, age, length of service, professional
background and industry experience. The Board intends to
maintain at least one female Director within its composition
on a continuing basis. The Board has achieved the goal of
diversity and is well balanced in all key areas.

In addition, the Group also emphasizes the diversity of
its workforce. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a
total of 6,332 (2023: 7,748) employees (including senior
management) in Hong Kong and Mainland China. The Board
considers that it is achieving its gender diversity objectives
and progressing towards gender balance across the Group's
workforce, with a sustained commitment to uphold these
long-term goals from a strategic perspective.

The total number of all employees and their gender ratio
are roughly as follows:

31 December 2024
—E_WmE+=-A=t+—8H

BEEeRORBINESTEZ TLERETIRE
CERREMFEHARRENIAZEZ-Z
TESNEFETRSHEANR A BERER
AR ERRIREE ) RIRIGREREH M5 E
ERERE HEBHOEFEER-

ARAE-_Z-HFEBRBETEFEZ T
BE EERZEAEEBEESTSMAN 21
REANMER  Fi EEF - BRXEHRIT
XEBR -EEERAENEFREAR  HM
IHEEEBENMRECENRA - BERTK
ENERRERMEEARANEBEAESE
RE WEAMCEGCEESZETNERMES -

REZEEBFHRBREEATHERETR
HOREERA EFEREHEMR  Fik- R
BER EXERRTELERITARRESE
SRR EFeRERYEXMEESHSE
EEEERABRTEIH L EFECKE
BTZTEMBR TESERBREEST
Ry F -

N AEETEREINZ T -BE T
“HOFE+Z A=t B AEE2REE (L
RaRERRE)S #6332 (T =%
7,748%) N REARPEARNB-EEZER
REEERUERNSZHEENERAYERAKESR
THMRTFE URREAZEEBEEFERD

31 December 2023
—2-=%t=-A=+-H

Headcount Percentage Headcount Percentage

BAH B BAE BoL

Male 3,416 54% 4,257 55%
Sk

Female 2,916 46% 3,491 45%
ik

Total 6,332 100% 7,748 100%
A3t
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Chairman and Managing Director

The Company has clearly delineated the roles and
responsibilities of the Chairman and the Managing Director
in writing to ensure a balanced distribution of powers and
authority.

Mr. Wan Yuging serves as the Chairman of the Board,
responsible for leading the Board in setting the Group's
overall strategic direction and continuously enhancing the
Board’s governance effectiveness. The Chairman ensures
the efficient operation of the Board, facilitates open and
constructive discussions, and fosters positive interactions
between Non-executive Directors and management.
Additionally, the Chairman is committed to building a
culture of information transparency and high-quality
governance, ensuring that Board members have access to
sufficient and accurate information to maintain effective
communication with shareholders and safeguard their
interests.

Mr. Hu Zaixin serves as the Managing Director, responsible
for leading the management in the day-to-day operations
and management of the Group’s business, effectively
implementing the policies and strategies approved by the
Board, and driving and overseeing the Group’s overall
development.

Board Independence

The Company has appointed four Independent Non-
executive Directors, which is in compliance with the
requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of
independent non-executive directors should not be less
than one-third of the board. The Board is of the view that
a balanced composition of Executive and Non-executive
Directors (including Independent Non-executive Directors)
ensures that there is a strong independent element on
the Board, enabling the Board to effectively exercise
independent judgement.

ITRRESEHEE
ARTEABARXBRYS EHEREFRI
BOREDST UERENRERHIEHE -

EFEeTRMETEALET AREESES
SHEAEERBEB I YHESHEFSA
BEYENFERT TEBRRESSIIEE
RERAMBEZRENT W EEFRTESH
EEEZHEMNRETE  HIN TFERIREL
ENEAEEERE(L BREFEREBHE
WMEDTD BEENEM LMERRREAR
BB W M R o
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BEEER-

EEEBVM
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Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
has submitted to the Board a written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
which has been reviewed by the Board to confirm that they
fulfill the independence requirements.

Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia and Mr. Wong Ka Lun have
served as Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company for more than nine years. They have continued to
make invaluable contributions to the Board by leveraging
their extensive professional expertise. The Board is of the
view that Ms. Leung and Mr. Wong remain fully capable of
exercising independent judgment and objectivity in fulfilling
their duties. No adverse impact on their independence due
to their length of service has been identified, as they have
never held any executive or management roles within the
Group and remain independent of the management. The
Board further believes that their in-depth understanding
of the Company’s development trajectory enables them to
effectively balance their roles in experience-sharing and
independent oversight.

To ensure the Board receives independent perspectives and
opinions, the Company has established a robust mechanism.
The diversified composition of the Board ensures a
combination of diverse backgrounds and professional
expertise. In addition, the Independent Non-executive
Directors and the Chairman meet at least once a year to
exchange views in the absence of the Executive Directors to
ensure the full expression of independent views. The Board
has also established four specialized Committees, including
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee. Each of
these Committees is provided with sufficient resources to
fulfill its duties, has direct access to senior management
for support, and may seek assistance from external
professionals when necessary. The remuneration package
of the Independent Non-executive Directors excludes
performance-linked equity interests, which further ensures
their independence. The Company also strengthens the
capabilities of the Directors through continuous professional
training and establishes an anonymous reporting channel
for third parties to report suspected misconduct by parties
associated with the Group.

82 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ERBUBITEFERE LMHRAEI3MEF
MEFSRIBUMHERX ALEZGRE
RAENEBILIIEEK-

REZREIRBBRMELERERRBBILIEHR
TEECBNF MUEBFREHLRENEE
ER HEREZeRHEEAHM -EFER
R RZEIREERENEE2ABRETREMS
MBI HERE N REERE YREREEHE
MHEBYEEBKENEEZE RERER
AEBEEEEMNTRREERY YREFBEL
REBEE-EFCE - TRR MUEFHA
NEAERIRGORAER EEERERTH
KeErREBYEEABG-

REREFQEBBYUBHLER AQFE
BUSTEENKS -EFEKBMNZITLHEMKRE
RTIZTEZRERMBNGES - WIN BL
HNTEFHEZGIREFRIBIT—RE
BOEHTEFERE NETRR AERBEIL
BANANKRE- EFECERLTHEEMZ
Eg ERERZES THEES RERZE
ERRBE HERERZES-RZBQER
RERUNBTTHEHRE JEERBESQREEE
WEEXF  LEBRAZTIBERALRHE -
BYFPTEZTNHSAB TS HERKR
HENBRAEDR E—FPHEAREBILE AR
AEBFEESXERIIRCEETRE XET
EXRHmEE HEZTRREXEEFEX
MERTNERRETNETR-



The Board conducts a comprehensive review of the
implementation and effectiveness of these mechanisms on
an annual basis to ensure that the governance effectiveness
is in line with best practice standards and to continuously
enhance the independence of the Board and the quality of
its decision-making.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of

Directors

The Company has entered into an appointment letter
with each of the Directors, of which the term of office of
the Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-
executive Directors) is three years. Pursuant to the Articles
of Association of the Company, each Director is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general
meetings. At each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors, or if the number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to one third, must retire from
office, and their re-election is subject to the approval of
the shareholders by way of a poll. Any Director appointed
during the year to fill a casual vacancy shall be proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
election of each Director shall be proposed as a separate
resolution.

In accordance with Article 124 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Fung Chi Kin and Ms. Leung Sau Fan,
Sylvia shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting. In
addition, in accordance with Article 107 of the Company's
Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Gong Jian and
Mr. Deng Huan, who were appointed as Directors of the
Company on 21 February 2025, shall retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee has reviewed
and made recommendation to the Board on their re-
election.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Hu Zaixin
and Mr. Ng Kim Lam were appointed as Directors of the
Company. Mr. Hu Zaixin obtained the legal opinion referred
to in the Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 28 February
2024 and Mr. Ng Kim Lam obtained such opinion on 13 May
2024. Both Directors confirmed that they understand their
responsibilities as Directors of the Company. In addition,
Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Gong Jian and Mr. Deng Huan, who were
appointed as Directors of the Company on 21 February
2025, obtained the relevant legal opinions referred to in
the Listing Rules on 14 February 2025 and confirmed that
they understand their responsibilities as Directors of the
Company.

Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(the “Model Code”) for the purpose of the code of conduct
regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they have strictly complied with the requirements of the
Model Code throughout the year of 2024.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance to cover
legal action arising from the businesses of the Group against
the Directors and officers.

Meetings and Attendance

The Board holds no less than four regular meetings in a
year to regularly review the overall strategic, financial and
operational performance of the Group. In 2024, the Board
reviewed a number of important matters, including the
annual and interim financial statements and reports of the
Group, the proposal for distribution of final dividend, and
convened the 2024 Annual General Meeting. In addition,
the Board also reviewed the connected transactions,
notifiable transactions and voluntary announcements, the
announcements relating to the appointment of two Directors
and changes in the composition of Board Committees,
and the amendments to the terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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In addition, the Board also performed its corporate
governance functions during the year, including formulating
and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance policies
and practices (such as the management measures on inside
information, the management measures on connected
transactions and the whistleblowing policy, etc.); reviewing
and monitoring the training and professional development
of the Directors and senior management; ensuring
the Company’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulatory requirements; formulating and reviewing the
code of conduct and the compliance manual applicable to
the employees and Directors; and reviewing the Company's
compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
Corporate Governance Report.

To ensure that all Directors are fully prepared and able to
participate in discussions, at least 14 days’ notice is given to
all Directors for all regular Board meetings, and all Directors
are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion
in the agenda. The agenda and related documents of every
regular Board meeting are sent to all Directors at least three
days in advance. All minutes of Board meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and are available to all Directors for
inspection. The Company Secretary provides draft minutes
of Board or Board committee meetings to the Directors for
their review and comments within reasonable time. The final
minutes will be filed upon completion of the review.

In addition to the Board meetings, the Chairman of the
Board and the Independent Non-executive Directors hold
an annual exchange meeting at least once a year in the
absence of the Executive Directors in order to facilitate
more in-depth communication and understanding.
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The attendance record of each Director at regular Board TJ|ASESEHN _T_NFHFEES TN
meetings, Board committee meetings and general meetings & EZCZEeHENMRRERRASHEFELH:
in 2024 is set out below:

As at 31 December 2024
Meetings attended/meetings eligible to attend as a Director

BE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—-HL

ERLRERY ESRERHLENEENR

Audit Remuneration Nomination ESG General

Committee Committee Committee Committee meetings

BERZEE ¥WZzE® REEEE ESGZEE RRAE

Executive Directors

HTEE

Wan Yuging (Chairman) 4/4 N/ATE R N/AZ i 2/2@ 1/1¢0 1/2
BFE(XR)

Hu Zaixin (Managing Director) @ 3/4 N/ATER 0/0% N/ATNE A 171 2/2
MM (EFRER)®

Ye Liwen ® 3/3 N/AT i N/AT i A 2/2 11 2/2
HERE

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Chen Yuwen @ 4/4 4/4 0/0® N/ATE R 2/2 1/2
BA X

Independent Non-executive
Directors
BYFHITES
Ip Chun Chung, Robert ! 11 2/2 171 11 11 1”7
EiRao
Fung Chi Kin 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 2/2

B £ BX
Vs =2

Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia 4/4 4/4© 2/2 2/2 N/ATE A 2/2
Wong Ka Lun 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 N/ARE A 2/2
XM

Ng Kim Lam © 2/2 2/2 N/ATNE N/ATNE A 1710 11
RgIpe
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Notes:

Mr. Wan Yuging resigned as a member and the chairman of the ESG
Committee on 22 May 2024. Mr. Wan Yuging was unable to attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2024 due
to ill-health. Mr. Hu Zaixin, an Executive Director and the Managing
Director, chaired the meeting on behalf of Mr. Wan and responded
to the shareholders’ questions to ensure that the proceedings were

conducted in a compliant and transparent manner.

Mr. Hu Zaixin was appointed as an Executive Director and
Managing Director on 14 March 2024 and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and the ESG Committee on 22 May 2024.

Mr. Ye Liwen was appointed as a member of the ESG Committee on
22 May 2024, and resigned as an Executive Director and a member
of each of the Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee on 30
September 2024.

Mr. Chen Yuwen was appointed as a member of the Remuneration
Committee on 22 May 2024, and resigned as a Non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the ESG Committee on 21 February 2025.

Mr. Ip Chun Chung, Robert resigned as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
ESG Committee on 22 May 2024.

Mr. Ng Kim Lam was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director, the chairman of the ESG Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee on 22 May 2024.

(C) and (FC) represent the chairmen and former chairmen of the Board
Committees respectively.

(#) represents that no meeting was held during the Director’s term of
office.
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Induction and Continuing Professional
Training

Each Director is required to keep abreast of the Group's
operation methods, business activities and developments.
Each newly appointed Director would receive an induction
guide from the Company covering an overview of the
Group's business, the statutory duties of a director of a
listed company and regulatory compliance requirements to
ensure that he/she is able to settle into his/her governance
role quickly. In addition, Directors regularly receive monthly
information reports prepared by the Company, which contain
detailed operational data, financial updates and industry
trend analysis, helping them to have a balanced perspective
on the Group's operational performance, current situation
assessment and strategic foresight.

In order to strengthen the professional functions of the
Directors, the Company actively promotes an annual
continuous professional development programme, regularly
provides relevant information on the amendments to
the Listing Rules and updates of regulatory policies, and
organises thematic trainings to enhance the Directors’
decision-making abilities and international governance
perspectives.

During the year, the Company also organised a thematic
training on disclosure of inside information of listed
companies for the management to further enhance the
management’s sensitivity, professionalism and compliance
awareness in handling inside information and to ensure
that the Group's information disclosures comply with the
regulatory requirements.
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Summary of Directors’ Training in 2024 CECNFEESEIRE

Read the latest
guidelines of
the Group and
the market

Name of Director regulation
FEAEER
EEAR ™% B B R HiE ol

Executive Directors

BITES

Wan Yuqing v
BF5

Hu Zaixin (appointed on 14 March 2024) v
HEH (R-FE-—WFE=A+MHAZE)

Ye Liwen (resigned on 30 September 2024) v

HRE (R -FE_WFAA=1HEE)

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Chen Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025) N4
MEN(R=ZZFE-—AF=-A=+—HFT)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHITES

Ip Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024) v
BERD (R-F-_WFRLA—+—HEE)

Fung Chi Kin v
R

Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia v
RFEL

Wong Ka Lun v
EEN

Ng Kim Lam (appointed on 22 May 2024) v

RN (R-_F-_WFRA -+ _HZME)

RAE

Attendance of

thematic training

for Directors/

seminars
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BOARD COMMITTEES

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1999. As
at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee was
chaired by Mr. Wong Ka Lun, an Independent Non-executive
Director, and comprised Mr. Hu Zaixin, an Executive
Director, Mr. Chen Yuwen, a Non-executive Director, and
Mr. Fung Chi Kin and Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia, both being
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating
and recommending to the Board the remuneration
policy. The Company has adopted a model whereby
the Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management to ensure that the procedure is transparent
and in line with the Company’s objectives, and consulting
with the Chairman and the Managing Director or seeking
independent professional advice where necessary. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non-
executive Directors, assessing market rates and internal
conditions to ensure that compensation for loss of office or
misconduct is reasonable and consistent with contractual
terms, and preventing Directors from being involved in
deciding their own remunerations, as well as reviewing
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The relevant terms of reference are available
on the websites of the Company and the HKEX.

Work Review for 2024

In 2024, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings.
Please refer to the table on page 86 for the attendance of
the Committee members. The Remuneration Committee
reviewed the overall remuneration policy and structure
for Directors and senior management; and reviewed and
made recommendation on the remuneration packages
for Directors based on their performance, covering
benefits in kind, pension rights, performance bonuses and
compensation payable, to ensure that the remuneration
arrangements are competitive and in line with the best
practice standards of the Company’s governance. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Company did not make
any grants under its share option scheme or share incentive
scheme, nor were there any significant matters subject
to the consideration or approval of the Remuneration
Committee in relation to these schemes.
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The remuneration of senior management by remuneration
range for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

Remuneration range (RMB)

ESMEBABER -—SE-_NE+-_A=+—8 I
FERNERBEE S 2EHMSH 0T :

FEE (ARYE)

RMB2,000,000 or below
2,000,0007T 3 A T~
RMB2,000,001 to RMB3,000,000
2,000,001t £3,000,0007T

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest paid individuals, as disclosed in accordance with
Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules, are set out in notes 11
and 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established in 2021. As at
31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee was chaired
by Mr. Wan Yuging, an Executive Director, and comprised
Mr. Fung Chi Kin, Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia and Mr. Wong
Ka Lun, all being Independent Non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board
as well as the policy on diversity of Board members,
assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors, identifying suitable candidates for
election as Directors and making recommendations to the
Board, formulating and maintaining the nomination policy,
and being responsible for succession planning for the
Board. The relevant terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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In accordance with the nomination policy, the Nomination
Committee arranges for the Executive Directors to lead
the management team in identifying potential candidates
for Directors through corporate networks and professional
recruitment agencies. Candidates are assessed on the
basis of their reputation, time availability, interests in
relevant sectors and potential contribution to the diversity
of the Board members in the factors such as gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and tenure of service. The
members of the Nomination Committee will have one-
on-one interviews with the candidates who have passed
the initial screening to gain a better understanding of
their background and their alignment with the Company’s
strategic objectives. The Nomination Committee assesses
the independence of the candidates for Independent
Non-executive Director with strict reference to the
independence guidelines under the Listing Rules. Adhering
to the principles of selecting the best candidates and
fully utilizing their skills, the Nomination Committee forms
its recommendations and submits them to the Board for
consideration.

The appointment process of the Nomination
Committee is divided into five stages as
follows:

Stage 2
P B2

Stage 3
P& ER3

Stage 1
PEs ER 1
Interview with

Identify candidates Shortlist the

REZEEREBREBER BRTESFHAEE
BEERBEELERELREXSERBEYEER
EEREA-REBEANTIHRERFEHEESR.
ARARR KRERBEBAB OGS ARHE
EE2ZEMBEER  WER - Fik - XXER
HEBR Bk FELR R ARANRS
THEFAR-BBUIHENREAKERES
ZEERBETH-FHX UWRABEEEE
SEREEARREBEENRAE -REEE
EBRR2R ETRRNNBILIERS FEBL
FRTEFTEREANB LM - REEEEEN
RELEMRA RERZEEVKEBERY
EREFEESR-

REZEENEIPRESAUTE
18 P& B

Stage 4
B R4

Stage 5
B S

Recommend suitable ~ Appoint relevant

who meet the Board's candidates candidates candidates to the candidates as
requirements through Board Directors and sign
corporate networks an appointment
and professional letter
recruitment agencies

FRCEBRREE FRREARE BRE AEITI A MEFEEASE I EELESE
SERERRMA AR 3E A
EXZgFROAE
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Work Review for 2024

In 2024, the Nomination Committee held two meetings
and the attendance of its members is set out in the table
on page 86. During the year, the Nomination Committee
conducted a comprehensive review of the structure, size
and composition of the Board to confirm that it has the
appropriate skills, experience and diversified perspectives.
Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Nomination
Committee conducted an annual independence assessment
of all the Independent Non-executive Directors and
confirmed that they are independent. In addition, the
Nomination Committee has recommended to the Board
the appointment of Mr. Hu Zaixin as an Executive Director
and Managing Director in place of Mr. Wang Jian, and Mr.
Ng Kim Lam as an Independent Non-executive Director
in place of Mr. Ip Chun Chung, Robert, respectively. The
Nomination Committee also reviewed the changes in the
composition of each of the Board Committees and made
relevant recommendation, to reflect the unique experience,
expertise and background of each Directors, and reviewed
the list of retiring Directors to be re-elected at the annual
general meeting to ensure that all nominations are in line
with the best practice standards of corporate governance.
Please refer to page 80 for a summary of the policy on
Board diversity.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Committee was formally established in 2023. As at 31
December 2024, the ESG Committee was chaired by Mr.
Ng Kim Lam, an Independent Non-executive Director, and
comprised Mr. Hu Zaixin, an Executive Director, Mr. Chen
Yuwen, a Non-executive Director, and Mr. Fung Chi Kin, an
Independent Non-executive Director.

The ESG Committee, as the core governance body for the
Company’s sustainable development, is responsible for
formulating and monitoring the Group’s ESG strategies,
goals and policies. It is committed to integrating ESG
considerations into the business decision-making process,
evaluating the related material risks and ensuring that
the Company’s performance in the area of ESG is in line
with the expectations of investors and the regulators. The
relevant terms of reference are set out on the websites of
the Company and HKEX.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

ESG Committee of the
Board

ESGRERE

ESG Leading Group

ESG Executing Group

As the highest leadership

and decision-making
body for the Company’s
ESG efforts, it is
responsible for reviewing
and approving ESG
strategies, goals, policies
and reports, as

well as evaluating

the achievement of

the Company's annual
ESG targets.
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Q4
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>

>

EZSESGEES

Authorized by the Board,
it exercises leadership
and oversight
responsibilities on
ESG matters, assisting
the Board in monitoring
the Company’s ESG
strategies, goals,
policies and reports.

It also assesses
significant ESG risks
related to the
Company's business
and reports directly
to the Board.
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ESGI{FEE /M4

Comprising all senior
management of the
Company, it is
responsible for
formulating the
Company's ESG
strategies, goals, and
policies, coordinating
the preparation of the
ESG report, overseeing
the implementation and
execution of ESG
targets across various
functional centres
and subsidiaries, and
regularly reporting
to the ESG Committee
of Board and providing
recommendations.
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Composed of heads of
all functional centres
and major subsidiaries,
it is responsible for
implementing the
ESG policies and
measures, participating
in the preparation of the
Company's ESG report,
providing the ESG work
recommendations and
related risk events, and
regularly reporting
on the progress of
ESG activities and key
performance indicators.
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Work Review for 2024

In 2024, the ESG Committee held two meetings and the
attendance of its members is set out in the table on page
86. During the year, the ESG Committee reviewed the
Company's ESG Report for 2023, which highlighted the
Company’s progress towards its '‘Dual-Carbon Goals'.
Specifically, the Company will strive to reduce the Scope
1 and Scope 2 carbon emission intensity of its operating
properties by more than 20% by 2030 (compared to the
2023 baseline) and aim to achieve carbon neutrality by
2060. In addition, the Company promises that 100% of
newly acquired projects are designed in accordance with
the basic requirements of green buildings in China, further
demonstrating its strong commitment to environmental
protection.

In order to enhance the transparency of climate-related
information disclosure, the ESG Committee reviewed
the reporting framework based on the Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and the
IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standards (ISSB Standards).
The report focuses on the four core areas of governance,
strategy, risk management, indicators and targets, and
initially establishes an information disclosure framework
in line with international standards, which, in conjunction
with the Group’s actual situation, lays a solid foundation for
further improvement of climate information disclosure in the
future.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. As at 31
December 2024, the Audit Committee was chaired by
Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia, an Independent Non-executive
Director, and comprised Mr. Chen Yuwen, a Non-executive
Director, and Mr. Fung Chi Kin, Mr. Wong Ka Lun and
Mr. Ng Kim Lam, all being Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include
reviewing financial information to ensure its accuracy and
compliance; overseeing the appointment and performance
of the external auditors to safeguard audit independence;
and overseeing the financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control system to ensure their
effective operation. The relevant terms of reference are set
out on the websites of the Company and HKEX.
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Work Review for 2024
In 2024, the Audit Committee held four meetings in total
and the attendance of its members is set out in the table on

page 86. The work of the Audit Committee during the year

is as follows:

1.

96

Review of Financial Information

The Audit Committee reviewed the Group's
audited annual financial statements and unaudited
interim financial results to ensure their accuracy
and compliance. In addition, the Audit Committee
reviewed the external auditor’s audit plan, audit
approach and key audit matters, and assessed
the impact of new and revised financial reporting
standards on the Company’s financial statements.

Oversight of the External Auditor

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence of
the external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit
process and approved the auditor’s remuneration
and terms of engagement. The Audit Committee
also made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of the external auditor and reviewed
the policy on the engagement of the external auditor
for providing non-audit services, so as to ensure that
auditor’s services would not impair the independence
of the audit.

Risk Management, Internal Control and
Internal Audit

The Audit Committee reviewed the summary of work
reports on internal audit, internal control and risk
management for 2023 and reviewed the relevant work
plans for 2024 at the beginning of the year. The Audit
Committee reviewed and monitored the progress
and effectiveness of various tasks on a continued
basis in 2024. In addition, the Audit Committee
reviewed the annual compliance report on connected
transactions and notifiable transactions to ensure that
all transactions were in compliance with regulatory
requirements. The Audit Committee conducted a
detailed review of the report on the handling of
whistleblowing matters to ensure that the matters
were handled appropriately. The Audit Committee
also had in-depth discussions with the management on
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control system to ensure that the Company’s resources
and manpower are adequate to support its operational
needs.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board is ultimately responsible for the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. With
the assistance of the Audit Committee, it reviews relevant
systems at least once a year and monitors the design,
implementation and review of risk management and internal
control systems by the management. The management
shall provide the Board with the confirmation report on
the effectiveness of systems. Such systems aim to manage
but not completely eliminate the risks on failing to achieve
business targets. They can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatements or losses.

During the year, the Audit Committee, on behalf of the
Board, comprehensively reviewed the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems, covering finance,
operation and compliance monitoring as well as other
significant aspects. The Board and the Audit Committee
confirmed that they have reviewed the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
during the year and are satisfied with the effectiveness of
such systems.

PROCEDURES FOR RISK MANAGEMENT
AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The internal audit department and the risk management
and legal compliance department jointly organize risk
identification and evaluation with the cooperation of all
functional centres and affiliated enterprises and effectively
carry out self-appraisal on internal control and compliance
on significant business matters, critical processes and
important positions. Detailed work includes:

o Arranging and guiding all centres and affiliated
enterprises to establish and improve risk management
and internal control systems.

o Monitoring the risk management and internal
control work, proposing improvement suggestions
and continuously following the implementation of
rectification measures.
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Evaluating the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control management through the
establishment of the self-appraisal mechanism
on internal control and compliance, sequencing
all significant internal risks and reporting the
evaluation results to the Audit Committee and senior
management.

Continuously improving internal control and
compliance management systems, summarizing the
best practice and experience in internal control
appraisal during the year and promoting the
improvement and upgrading of internal control
systems.

MAJOR CHARACTERISTICS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEMS

%)

Achieving full coverage of risk management through
the normalized closed-loop management mechanism;

Officially distributing the Internal Control and
Compliance Manual and the Manual on Self-appraisal
and Monitoring Appraisal on Internal Control and
requiring all centres and affiliated enterprises to
actively study them to master the internal risk control
and compliance matrix and the list of compliance
management and ensure the effective undertaking and
implementation of management requirements;

Refining and improving business processes, specifying
internal control and compliance requirements on
critical processes and risk response measures,
continuously updating management standards and
promoting the normalized implementation of internal
control and compliance systems;

Regularly updating the Internal Control and
Compliance Manual, summarizing suggestions
on enhancing internal control and compliance
management, improving relevant systems and ensuring
the continuous improvement and perfection of
systems.
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INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The internal audit function provides independent guarantee
to the sufficiency and effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems of the Company. The
Audit Committee approved the internal audit plan and
monitored its progress during the year, while assessing the
effectiveness and workload of the internal audit function
and the sufficiency of available resources. It ensures the
internal audit appropriately equipped with skills and
experience related to the Group’s operation and provides
necessary information for the performance of duties to meet
professional standards.

PROCEDURES FOR SOLVING
SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCY OF
INTERNAL CONTROL

For significant deficiency of internal control identified,
the internal audit department will initiate the emergency
response mechanism and carry out an investigation
with relevant functional centres or affiliated enterprises
to determine the nature, scope of effect and potential
consequence of the issue. It will discuss with the
management based on the results of the investigation and
proposes specific rectification measures and improvement
suggestions, covering short-term emergency measures and
long-term systematic improvement. Finally, it will specify
responsibilities and the timetable, continuously monitor the
effectiveness of rectification and carry out evaluation.
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PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL
CONTROL MEASURES FOR THE
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with the requirements of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the Listing Rules.
The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon
as reasonably practicable unless the information falls within
any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the
information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached,
the Group would immediately disclose the information
to the public. The Group is committed to ensuring that
the information set out in announcements is not false or
misleading as to a material fact and is presented in a clear
and balanced way, with an equal disclosure of both positive
and negative facts to ensure that it is not false or misleading
due to the omission of material facts.

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND
MECHANISM

The Company has formulated the whistleblowing policy
and mechanism, allowing employees and other parties
associated with the Group (e.g., suppliers and customers) to
report possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other aspects anonymously. The Board authorizes
the Audit Committee to take full responsibility for the policy,
including overseeing and reviewing its implementation and
effectiveness, and ensuring that the Company conducts
fair and independent investigations and takes appropriate
actions regarding such matters to safeguard the reputation
of the Company and the trust of stakeholders. The Audit
Committee delegates the internal audit department to
manage and enforce the daily operations of the policy.
The general manager of the internal audit department
will properly record all reports or complaints received and
report them annually to the Audit Committee. Additionally,
any reports that may have a significant impact on the Group
should be promptly reported to the Audit Committee. The
whistleblowing policy has been published on the Company’s
website.
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ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-BRIBERY
POLICY

In its business dealings, the Group does not tolerate
any form of bribery, whether direct or indirect, by, or of,
its Directors, senior management, employees, agents
or consultants and any persons or companies acting on
behalf of the Company. The anti-fraud and anti-bribery
policy, which clearly outlines the Group’s zero-tolerance
stance against bribery and corruption, assists employees in
recognizing circumstances which may lead to or give the
appearance of being involved in corruption or unethical
business conduct so as to avoid such conduct which is
clearly prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance where
necessary.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial year, which shall give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs, the results and cash flows of the Group and
the Company for that year. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Board has selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently; made judgements and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis at the same
time.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND ITS
REMUNERATION

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited was engaged as the external
auditor of the Company on 11 November 2021. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the fees paid or payable
by the Group to the auditor (including disbursements) in
respect of their audit services amounted to approximately
RMB7,930,000. In addition, non-audit services rendered by
the auditor to the Group amounted to RMB125,000 for a
comfort letter on working capital sufficiency in respect of a
major transaction.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

All members of the Board of the Company have access
to the professional advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that the Board follows right procedures
and maintains sound communications on information.
Mr. WONG Cheuk Him is an employee and the Company
Secretary of the Company. He confirmed that he had taken
relevant professional trainings of no less than 15 hours in
2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company amended its dividend policy in 2025. The
policy aims to distribute long-term and stable dividends
to shareholders. It distributes dividends once a year in
principle when conditions for profit distribution are met with
an amount of no less than 40% of the profit attributable to
shareholders in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. The Board will comprehensively take into account,
among other things, when proposing the declaration or
determining dividends:

1. a balance between maintaining sufficient capital
to grow the Group's business and rewarding the
shareholders;

2. the Group's overall results of operation, financial
position, capital requirement, cash flows and

prospects;

3.  the amount of distributable reserves of the Company;
and

4.  other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Company will regularly review the dividend policy and
reserves the right to update or amend the dividend policy
from time to time in its absolute discretion.
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SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION
POLICY

The Company maintains high standards of corporate
governance and endeavours to reinforce relations with
shareholders and investors through transparent and two-
way communications. The shareholder communication
policy is available on the Company’s website and aims to
establish a continuous and open communication mechanism
and ensure that the market is immediately informed about
the Company's strategic goals, business development,
financial performance and governance matters, thereby
enhancing investor confidence and deepening interactions
and communications.

The Company provides detailed information through regular
publication of annual and interim financial reports, results
announcements and other corporate publications and
updates announcements and reports in a real-time manner
on the Company’s website to ensure that shareholders can
be immediately informed of latest developments. To further
enhance interactions, the Company actively holds annual
general meetings, performance briefings and industry
forums. It has on-site question-and-answer sessions with
direct response from the Board, relevant management and
external auditor.

In addition, all corporate communications of the Company
are written in plain Chinese and English. We encourage
shareholders to choose to receive such information
electronically and jointly practise the concept of
environmental protection. Shareholders can opt to receive
relevant notifications via emails and may change their
methods of receiving corporate communications.
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SHAREHOLDERS' ENQUIRIES

Share-related matters

BRREHAGT N

Share registrar: Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Address: 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Email: polyproperty.ecom@computershare.com.hk

Tel: (852) 2862 8555
Fax: (852) 2865 0990
B REEE

BBFPE: BETREFELERAT

it FREF 2R/ AER183R A MFLI1TME

E I : polyproperty.ecom@computershare.com.hk

T i : (852) 2862 8555
{EE : (852) 2865 0990

Enquires with the Board

Investor Relations Officer of the Capital Markets Department

Address: Room 2503, Admiralty Centre, Tower 1, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Email: ir@polyhonghong.com.hk
Tel: (852) 2810 6216

Fax: (852) 2801 7589
BAMGHREERE ML

i
Ht
IS
[
=

it BAEERBI8HEE P OE —HI2503F

B H : ir@polyhonghong.com.hk
B &5 (852) 2810 6216
& : (852) 2801 7589

The Board will annually review the effectiveness of the
implementation of the shareholder communication policy.
In addition to the above measures, the Company will
also disclose monthly sales data to further strengthen
transparency. Based on the above, the Board confirms
that the prevailing shareholder communication policy
and its implementation can effectively promote two-way
interactions with shareholders and meet the market demand
for transparency.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Request to Convene a General Meeting
Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights
of all shareholders of the Company who have the right
to vote at general meetings can request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with Section 566
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).
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The request must state the general nature of the business
to be dealt with at the meeting and may include the text of
a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at the meeting. Such a request must be
authenticated by all the requesting shareholder(s) and can
be submitted through one document or several documents
in like form. The request must be sent to the Company, “for
the attention of the Company Secretary”, either in hard
copy at its registered office at Room 2503, 25/F, Admiralty
Centre, Tower 1, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or by email
to ir@polyhonghong.com.hk.

Request to Put Forward Proposals at an

Annual General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance,
shareholder(s) can propose a resolution at the annual
general meeting by requesting the Company to give
notice of that resolution to all shareholders entitled to
receive notice of the annual general meeting. The relevant
shareholders must represent at least 2.5% of the total
voting rights of all shareholders who have the right to vote
on that resolution, or at least 50 shareholders who have the
right to vote on that resolution.

The request must clearly state the proposed resolution
and be authenticated by all the shareholder(s) making the
request. The request must be sent to the Company, “for the
attention of the Company Secretary”, either in hard copy at
its registered office at Room 2503, 25/F, Admiralty Centre,
Tower 1, 18 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong or by email to
ir@polyhonghong.com.hk. The Company must receive it no
later than 6 weeks before the annual general meeting, or, if

later, when the meeting notice is issued.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s Articles of
Association during the year ended 31 December 2024. The
latest Articles of Association is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WAN Yuqing, aged 49, holds an MBA from Wudaokou
School of Finance, Tsinghua University. Mr. Wan Joined
China Poly Group Corporation Limited (“China Poly Group”)
in July 1997, serving successively as deputy general
manager, executive deputy general manager and chairman
of the subsidiaries of Poly Southern Group Company Limited
and the Company. Mr. Wan was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company in July 2016. Mr. Wan was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
Company in October 2021, and is currently the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wan is
also the secretary of the Party Committee and the chairman
of Poly Property Group Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Poly Property”)
and the chairman of Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Company
Limited (“Poly Hong Kong”).

HU Zaixin, aged 56, holds a master’s degree in Economics
from the School of Business of Sun Yat-sen University
and a doctorate degree in Media Economics from
the Communication University of China. Mr. Hu has
extensive work experience in the real estate and property
management sectors. Mr. Hu is a qualified intermediate
economist (sales and marketing). Mr. Hu's membership
as a representative of the 16th Guangzhou Municipal
People’s Congress was ended on 29 November 2024,
and he resigned as vice president of the China Property
Management Institute in December 2024.
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Mr. Hu started working in 1987 and joined a subsidiary of
Poly Developments and Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“Poly
Developments and Holdings”, formerly known as {R 7
Bit E(SB)BRMHBRRQFA,
listed on the main board of the Shanghai Stock Exchange
in July 2006, with stock code: SH600048) in July 1998.
During this period, he worked as manager and supervisor
of the sales department, head of the planning and research
centre and head of the marketing centre. In September

the shares of which were

2002, Mr. Hu was transferred to Poly Developments and
Holdings. From September 2002 to September 2021, Mr.
Hu served as deputy manager of the planning and research
centre, general manager of the marketing centre, general
manager of the brand management centre, marketing
director, assistant to the general manager, deputy general
manager and deputy secretary of the Party Committee in
Poly Developments and Holdings. In October 2021, Mr.
Hu was appointed as a director and a member of the audit
committee of Poly Developments and Holdings. Mr. Hu
was also appointed as a director of Poly Property Services
Co., Ltd. ("Poly Property”, formerly known as Poly Property
Development Co., Ltd., the shares of which were listed
on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in December 2019, with
stock code: 06049) in April 2009. He served as chairman
from April 2009 to June 2018 and was re-designated as
a non-executive director in May 2019. Mr. Hu was also
a member of the audit committee of Poly Property. Mr.
Hu resigned from all positions in Poly Developments and
Holdings and Poly Property on 13 March 2024.

Mr. Hu was appointed as an Executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company on 14 March 2024, and
is currently a member of the Remuneration Committee and
the Environmental, Social and Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Hu currently also serves as a director and
the general manager of Poly Hong Kong and Shanghai Poly
Property.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Yi, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee in
February 2025. Mr. Zhang holds a master’'s degree in
business administration from the School of Economics and
Management at Northwestern University and is a senior
certified accountant. Since commencing his career in 1988,
Mr. Zhang has held various positions including chief financial
officer of China New Era Technology Co., Ltd., deputy
director of the operations and management department
of China New Era Holding (Group) Corporation, assistant
director of the finance department of China Poly Group,
vice general manager, chief accountant, party secretary,
general manager and chairman of Shandong Yinguang
Civil Explosive Equipment Co., Ltd., vice general manager
of Poly Chemical Holdings Co., Ltd., member of the Party
Committee and vice general manager of Poly Union Group
Corporation, and deputy party secretary, vice general
manager, general manager and director of Poly Union
Chemical Holding Group Co., Ltd. (“Poly Union”, the shares
of which are listed on the main board of the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, with stock code: SZ002037). He currently serves
as a designated external director for China Poly Group,
director of Poly International Holding Co., Ltd., and director
of Shanghai Poly Property.

GONG Jian, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee in
February 2025. Mr. Gong holds a master’s degree in
development economics from the Graduate School of the
Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. Since commencing
his career in 1986, Mr. Gong has held various positions,
including office director of Poly Culture and Arts Co., Ltd.,
deputy director of the real estate department and deputy
director of the strategic investment centre of China Poly
Group. He currently serves as a designated external director
for China Poly Group, supervisor of Poly Developments and
Holdings, director of Poly Hong Kong, director of Shanghai
Poly Property, director of China Arts and Crafts Group Co.,
Ltd., supervisor of Poly Union, and director of Beijing New
Poly Plaza Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
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DENG Huan, aged 42, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee in February 2025. Mr. Deng holds
a master’'s degree in business administration from the
Central University of Finance and Economics and is a senior
economist. Since July 2009, Mr. Deng has held various
positions including supervisor and assistant director in the
planning and development department, assistant director
and deputy director and director of the board office,
director of corporate development, director, supervisor,
and assistant general manager of science and technology
management and industry promotion centre of China
National Light Industry Group Co., Ltd. Currently, he serves
as a designated external director for China Poly Group, a
director of Shanghai Poly Property, and a director of Poly
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

FUNG Chi Kin, aged 75, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company.
in May 2021 and is currently a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Environment, Social
and Governance Committee. Mr. Fung is the permanent
honorary president of the Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange
Society and a director of Fung Chi Kin Consulting
Limited. Mr. Fung has over 34 years of experience in
banking and finance. Prior to his retirement, he was the
director and deputy general manager of Po Sang Bank
Limited (merged into Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
in 2001), managing director of BOCI Securities Limited
and chief administration officer of BOC International
Holdings Limited. From October 1998 to June 2000, Mr.
Fung served as a council member of the first Legislative
Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He also held offices in various public organisations and
was the president of the Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange
Society, vice chairman of the Stock Exchange, director
of the Hong Kong Futures Exchange Limited, director
of Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited and
Hong Kong Affairs Advisor. From July 2018 to September
2023, Mr. Fung was also a non-executive director of Sang
Hing Holdings (International) Limited (stock code: 01472,
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from March 2020).
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Mr. Fung has been appointed as an executive director of
Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (“LOCO HK Holdings”,
stock code: 08162, the shares of which are listed on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange) since June 2019 and has
also been appointed as the compliance officer of LOCO
HK Holdings in August 2019. Mr.
independent non-executive director of Chaoda Modern
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 00682, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) since September 2003. Additionally, Mr. Fung

Fung has been an

was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Waton Financial Limited (Stock Code: WTF, the shares
of which are listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market from
April 2025) in March 2025.

LEUNG Sau Fan, Sylvia, aged 61,
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in
August 2010 and is currently the Chairlady of the Audit
Committee and a member of each of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Ms. Leung
holds a bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy from the City

was appointed as an

University of Hong Kong and was an overseas student
of the University of London and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in Laws through a recognised examination. Ms.
Leung is currently a responsible officer of an entity
licensed to conduct type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activity under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. She was an independent non-executive
director of China Aerospace International Holdings
Limited (stock code: 00031,
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) until
she retired from that office upon the conclusion of the

the shares of which are

annual general meeting of the company held on 24 June
2022. Ms. Leung has been an independent non-executive
director of Harbin Bank Co., Ltd. (stock code: 06138, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) since 12 December 2024. She has over 20
years of experience in company secretarial and corporate
finance advisory.
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WONG Ka Lun, aged 75, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
in November 2012 and is currently the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr.
Wong holds a bachelor’s degree in Social Sciences from
The University of Hong Kong, majoring in Economics
and Psychology. Mr. Wong held various executive and
management positions with Cathay Pacific Airways
Limited, John Swire & Sons (China) Limited and Swire
Travel Limited. Mr. Wong is also a director of The Hong
Kong International Film Festival Society Limited.

NG Kim Lam, aged 53, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, chairman of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Committee, and a
member of the Audit Committee on 22 May 2024. Mr. Ng
previously served as the national head of the technology
and media sectors for KPMG in China. During his tenure,
he was responsible for establishing the innovative startup
centre in 2015, developing an online and offline model to
serve high-growth technology companies, and leading a
team in developing an online ecosystem application system
that connects startup companies, leading enterprises,
investment institutions, research institutes, and the
government, as well as a SIP framework for identifying
and assessing early-stage technology companies. Mr. Ng
served as a core/lead partner, establishing the ecosystem
for high-growth technology companies in China, including
Autotech, Retailtech, Fintech, Biotech and Chipset. He
currently holds the position of vice chairman of the Green
Development Institute and general manager of the Green
Technology Centre, where he is dedicated to promoting
the development of green technology and green finance
in Hong Kong and mainland China. Mr. Ng previously
served as an independent non-executive director of Aquila
Acquisition Corporation (stock code: 07836, the shares of
which were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
until its De-SPAC transaction was completed on 10 March
2025. He also serves as an independent non-executive
director of Bank of China International Limited (a restricted
license bank authorised under the Banking Ordinance of
Hong Kong). On 23 June 2023, Mr. Ng was appointed
as a member of the Green Technology and Finance
Development Committee by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region for a two-year term. Mr.
Ng is a Certified Information Systems Security Professional,
a Certified Information Systems Auditor, a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Chartered Global Management Accountant.
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COMPANY SECRETARY AND
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE

WONG Cheuk Him, aged 59, joined the Group in 2007 and
is currently the Company Secretary and general manager
of the capital markets department of the Company. He
holds a bachelor’'s degree of Social Sciences awarded by
The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, and is a member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has extensive
working experience in the areas of accounting, auditing,
financial control, compliance and corporate finance. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Wong had over ten years of working
experience in international certified public accountants
firms and had held the positions of financial controller,
company secretary and authorised representative in other
listed companies, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LIU Chen, aged 47, holds a bachelor's degree in
Accountancy from Nankai University and a master's degree
in Business Administration from Sun Yat-Sen University and
is a senior economist and accountant. He joined China
Poly Group in July 2004. Mr. Liu was the assistant general
manager of Poly Developments and Holdings and the
director of certain subsidiaries of Poly Developments and
Holdings during the period from January 2014 to November
2019. Mr. Liu has been the chairman of Poly Property
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited since October 2024. Mr. Liu was
appointed as the deputy general manager of the Company
and the deputy general manager of Shanghai Poly Property
in November 2019. He is currently the chief accountant
and chief legal counsel of Poly Hong Kong, the deputy
general manager, financial controller, chief legal counsel
and chief compliance officer of the Company, the deputy
general manager, chief accountant, chief legal counsel and
chief compliance officer of Shanghai Poly Property and the
chairman and director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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PENG Yi, aged 42, holds a master’s degree in Business
Management from Sun Yat-sen University, and is an
economist. Mr. Peng joined China Poly Group in July 2006
and joined the Company in October 2007, and served as
the chief officer of the investment management department
from September 2010 to August 2015. From September
2015 to November 2021,
general manager of Guangdong Poly Property Co.,
Limited. Since November 2021,
of Guangdong Poly Property Co.,

he served as the director and

he has been the chairman
Limited. Mr. Peng was
appointed as the deputy general manager of the Company
and the deputy general manager of Shanghai Poly Property
in November 2021,
subsidiaries of the Group.

and is currently a director of certain

LIU Yu, aged 43, holds a master's degree in Business
Administration from Wuhan Institute of Technology. Mr.
Liu joined China Poly Group in August 2000. He served as
a director and deputy general manager of Poly Shandong
Property Group Co., Ltd. from April 2013 to October 2015
and a director and the general manager of Poly Property
Group Heilongjiang Co., Ltd. from October 2015 to August
2019. Mr. Liu has served as the chairman of Poly Yunnan
Property Co., Ltd. since July 2019, the chairman of Guangxi
Poly Property Co., Ltd. since September 2021, and the
chairman of Poly Property Group (Shanghai) Investment Co.
Ltd. since August 2022. Mr. Liu was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company and the deputy general
manager of Shanghai Poly Property in November 2021.

ZU Dayong, aged 49, holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accounting from Beijing Wuzi University and a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the School of
Economics and Management of Tsinghua University. Mr. Zu
joined China Poly Group in July 1999. He served as deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Poly Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. from December 2009 to May 2015, the general
manager, chairman and the secretary of the Party
Committee of Hubei Poly Investment Co., Ltd. successively
from May 2015 to January 2020, and the secretary of the
Party Committee and general manager of Shenzhen Poly
Ltd. from January 2020 to
November 2021. He has served as the chairman of Shenzhen

Real Estate Development Co.,

Poly Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. since January 2020,
and the secretary of the Party Committee and chairman of
Shanghai Poly Property Hotel Management Group Co., Ltd.
since November 2021. Mr. Zu was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company and the deputy general
manager of Shanghai Poly Property in November 2021.
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LI Yang, aged 50, holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree
in Industrial Automation from Beijing University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture. Mr. Li. joined China Poly
Group in July 1997. He served as deputy general manager
and executive deputy general manager of Poly Shandong
Property Group Co., Ltd. from October 2007 to October
2015, director, general manager, deputy secretary of the
Party Committee and secretary of the Party Committee
of Poly Shandong Property Group Co., Ltd. from October
2015 to September 2024, and the secretary of the
Party Committee and chairman of Poly Property Group
Heilongjiang Co., Ltd. from August 2009 to September
2024. Mr. Li has served as the chairman of Poly Shandong
Property Group Co., Ltd. since October 2019, the chairman
of Hubei Poly Investment Co., Ltd. and Poly Business
and Tourism Hotel Management Co., Ltd. since October
2024, the chairman of Polystar Digidisc Co., Ltd. and
Poly Microchip Co., Ltd. since February 2025. Mr. Li was
appointed as the deputy general manager of the Company
and the deputy general manager of Shanghai Poly Property
in September 2024.

SONG Xin, aged 44, holds a Master of Engineering degree
in Structural Engineering from South China University of
Technology. Mr. Song first joined China Poly Group in July
2006 and from April 2013 to August 2017, he was the
deputy general manager of Guangdong Poly Property Co.,
Limited. From October 2017 to July 2019, Mr. Song left
China Poly Group and joined Guangzhou City Construction
& Development Co., Ltd.  where he successively served as
deputy general manager of the operation and management
centre and deputy general manager of the Pearl River
Delta regional branch. Mr. Song re-joined China Poly
Group in September 2019 and served as deputy general
manager, deputy general manager (Officer-in-Charge),
director, general manager and deputy secretary of the Party
Committee of Zhejiang Poly Property Co. Co., Limited from
September 2019 to November 2021, and secretary of the
General Party Branch of Poly Jiangsu Property Co., Limited
from November 2021 to September 2024. Mr. Song has
been the secretary of the Party Committee and chairman of
Zhejiang Poly Property Co., Limited since November 2021,
the chairman of Poly Jiangsu Property Co., Limited since
November 2021, and the secretary of the Party Committee
and chairman of Poly Guizhou Property Group Co., Limited
since October 2024. Mr. Song was appointed as the deputy
general manager of the Company and the deputy general
manager of Shanghai Poly Property in September 2024.
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PUN Chi Ping, aged 58, holds a master’s degree in Finance
Management from the City University of Hong Kong. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Pun joined Poly Hong Kong in May 1994
and joined the Group in April 2000. He was appointed
as an assistant to the general manager of the Company
in October 2009 and is currently a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
presents its annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of Poly Property Group Co., Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 49 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss on page 150 of this annual report.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2023: nil).
The Directors recommend payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.021 per share for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$0.083).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(IIAGMII)

In order to determine the entitlement of shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM of the Company which is
scheduled to be held on Thursday, 29 May 2025, the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 23
May 2025 to Thursday, 29 May 2025, both dates inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
All properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 May
2025. Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Thursday, 29 May 2025 are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR ENTITLEMENT TO PROPOSED
FINAL DIVIDEND

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to Thursday, 19 June 2025
(both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to determine
the identity of shareholders who are entitled to the
proposed final dividend, all duly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30
p.m. on Monday, 16 June 2025. Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Thursday, 19 June 2025 are entitled to receive the proposed
final dividend in cash for the year ended 31 December
2024.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations of approximately RMB3,756,000 (2023:
RMB7,178,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

As at 31 December 2024, the investment properties of
the Group were revalued at RMB8,676,752,000 by an
independent firm of professional surveyor and property
valuer on an open market value basis.

Details of these investment properties of the Group and
other movements during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available
for distribution to shareholders represented the accumulated
profits of RMB1,146,798,000 (2023: RMB1,272,866,000)

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and financial position of the Group
for the preceding five financial years is set out on page 359
of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group's operations for the year ended
31 December 2024 is set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on page 4 and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on page 20 of this annual report
respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible enterprise, the Group is fully aware of
the importance of sound environmental practices and
performance. For details of our environmental, social and
governance efforts during the year ended 31 December
2024, please refer to this year's Environmental, Social and
Governance Report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE
LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A
SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON THE GROUP

The Group and its activities are subject to various laws
and regulations. During the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Group
has been in compliance with, among other things, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) and the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules relating to, inter alia, information disclosure
and governance practices, as well as all the applicable
regulations, guidelines, policies and licensing terms
issued or promulgated under or in connection with these
statutes. The Group seeks to ensure compliance with these
requirements through various measures such as internal
controls and approval procedures, trainings and oversight
of various business units with the designated resources at
different levels of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We are committed to operating in a sustainable manner,
taking into account the interests of all stakeholders,
including our employees, customers, suppliers and the
communities. We always regard our employees as the core
driving force of our business, and we ensure they grow with
us by providing a sound working environment, equitable
remuneration systems, and ample career advancement
opportunities. For our customers, we uphold a customer-
centric service philosophy, prioritising an in-depth
understanding of their needs to deliver enhanced value. In
cooperation with our suppliers, we adhere to the principles
of fairness, impartiality, and transparency, aiming at building
long-term, stable partnerships that achieve mutual benefits.
Furthermore, we actively fulfil our social responsibilities by
engaging in community development. Through participation
in public welfare initiatives, support for education and
other philanthropic efforts, we strive to contribute to the
communities and foster harmonious coexistence between us
and the communities we serve.

POTENTIAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
OF THE GROUP

The financial position, operating results, business and
prospects of the Group may be affected by various risks
and uncertainties. Major risks and uncertainties identified by
the Group are set out below. However, there may be other
risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
not deemed material at present but could turn out to be
material in the future.

BUSINESS RISK

The majority of the operating assets of the Group are
located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"),
and the Group expects that a substantial portion of its
turnover will continue to be generated from its operations
in the PRC. Operating results and prospects are subject,
to a significant extent, to economic, political and legal
developments in the PRC. The PRC economy differs from
the economies of most developed countries in many
respects, including the level of government involvement,
the level of development, growth rate and government
control over foreign exchange. The Group is unable to
predict whether changes in the political, economic and
social conditions, and laws, regulations and policies of the
PRC will have any material adverse effect on the current or
future business, operating results or financial position of the
Group.
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FINANCIAL RISK

The financial risk management of the Group is set out in
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors:
Wan Yuqing (Chairman)
Hu Zaixin (Managing Director)
(appointed on 14 March 2024)
Ye Liwen (resigned on 30 September 2024)

Non-executive Directors:

Zhang Yi (appointed on 21 February 2025)
Gong Jian (appointed on 21 February 2025)
Deng Huan (appointed on 21 February 2025)
Chen Yuwen (resigned on 21 February 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
IP Chun Chung, Robert (resigned on 22 May 2024)
Fung Chi Kin

Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia

Wong Ka Lun

Ng Kim Lam (appointed on 22 May 2024)

In accordance with Article 107 of the Company's Articles
of Association, Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Gong Jian and Mr. Deng
Huan shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 124 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Fung Chi Kin and Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia
shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

According to code provision B.2.3 of the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules,
as Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia has served as Independent
Non-executive Director for more than 9 years, her re-
appointment should be subject to shareholders’ approval by

way of a separate resolution.
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Mr. Zhang Yi, Mr. Gong Jian and Mr. Deng Huan, all being
Non-executive Directors, were appointed for a term of three
years commencing from 21 February 2025 and are subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Mr. Fung Chi Kin, an Independent Non-executive Director,
was appointed for a term of three years commencing from
28 May 2024 and is subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia, an Independent Non-
executive Director, was appointed for a term of three
years commencing from 11 August 2022 and is subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association.

Mr. Wong Ka Lun, an Independent Non-executive Director,
was appointed for a term of three years commencing from
23 November 2024 and is subject to retirement by rotation
in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

Mr. Ng Kim Lam, an Independent Non-executive Director,
was appointed for a term of three years commencing from
22 May 2024 and is subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received an annual written confirmation
from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
concerning their independence and considered that the
Independent Non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

A list of all the directors who served on the board of
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year
under review is available on the Company’s website at
www.polyhongkong.com.
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Changes to Information in respect of

Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules,
pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2),
the changes in Directors’ information for the year ended 31
December 2024 and as at the date of this report are set out
below:

Mr. Hu Zaixin's membership as a representative of the 16th
Guangzhou Municipal People’s Congress ended on 29
November 2024, and he resigned as vice president of the
China Property Management Institute in December 2024.

Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Harbin Bank Co., Ltd. (stock code:
06138, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) from 12 December 2024.

Mr. Ng Kim Lam ceased to be an independent non-
executive director of Aquila Acquisition Corporation (stock
code: 07836, the shares of which were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) upon the completion of its
De-SPAC transaction on 10 March 2025.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and their associates in the shares of the
Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
were as follows:

Long position

Ordinary shares of the Company

Ms. Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia is holding 33,000 (0.001%) shares
of the Company.
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Ordinary shares of Poly Developments
and Holdings Group Co., Ltd. (“Poly
Developments”), an associated corporation

of the Company
Mr. Hu Zaixin is holding 915,497 (0.008%) shares of Poly
Developments.

Ms. Qi Wen'e, the spouse of Mr. Hu Zaixin, is holding
27,173 (0.0002%) shares of Poly Developments.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to provide incentives or rewards to the directors
and certain employees of the Company and certain eligible
persons (the “Eligible Participants”) to contribute to the
long-term success of the business of the Group, the board
of directors of the Company considers that it is in the best
interest of the Company to adopt a share option scheme.

At the AGM of the Company held on 28 May 2014, the
shareholders of the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), pursuant to which
the Eligible Participants may be granted a maximum of
364,463,704 options to subscribe for shares of the Company
upon and subject to the terms and conditions of the rules of
the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
on the adoption date of 28 May 2014 and having expired
on 27 May 2024.

According to the Share Option Scheme, the Board of
Directors of the Company may grant options to (i) any
director and employee of the Company or subsidiaries, or
an entity in which the Group holds an interest (“Affiliate”);
(i) any customer, supplier, agent, partner, consultant, adviser
or shareholder of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate;
(iii) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any
discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which include
any director, employee, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
consultant, adviser or shareholder of or contractor to the
Group or an Affiliate; or (iv) a company beneficially owned
by any director, employee, consultant, customer, supplier,
agent, partner, shareholder, adviser of or contractor to the
Group or an Affiliate to subscribe for shares in the Company
for a consideration of HK$1 for each lot of share options
granted.
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Share option granted should be accepted within 28 days
from the date of grant. The Board of Directors may, at its
absolute discretion, determine the period during which a
share option may be exercised; such period should expire
no later than 10 years from the date of grant of the relevant
option. The Board of Directors may also provide restrictions
on the exercise of a share option during the period a share
option may be exercised.

The exercise price is determined by the Board of Directors
of the Company, and shall not be less than the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each individual under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company (including both exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company.

The fair value of share options granted to Eligible
Participants is recognised as staff costs with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at the grant date using the Binomial model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the Eligible Participants have
to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to the options, the total estimated fair value of
the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options will vest.
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During the vesting period, the number of share options that
are expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment
to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is
charged/credited to the statement of profit or loss for the
year under review unless the original staff costs qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. On the vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company's shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the share option reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it is included
in the amount recognised in share capital for the shares
issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to
accumulated profits).

During the financial year under review, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme, and no share options remained
outstanding.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of options
available for grant is nil (31 December 2023 and 1 January
2024: 254,713,704), representing 0% (2023: 6.67%) of the
issued shares of the Company.

The number of exercisable share options as at 31 December
2024 was nil.

Other details of the Company’s Share Option Scheme are
set out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than the option holdings set out above, at no time
during the year was the Company or any of its holding
companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

REBHRSEERENEENBERESE -
BRIERBEIKRACERERAREE TR
BEFEBRANENRARAABARSINGRE,
AFABRFEMNBRRR  WAARERREERER
B-REEAN BAEEI/FAINERE UR
REFEBOBRESE MERERETS
MHEAE BRIFRLAERERNQRANRMT
BRENEBHREMMRIN -Eas B R BRE
EER BEBRERETE (AR ETR
MRIRAER 2 SRR ) KBRERER (EER
BERFHR M) o

CEEMEFEE SEREBRESS R
1718~ FESH SR A BB A A - TR BB R 19 R 7T
fiE o

RZZE-WNF+_A=+—H AI#HELENE
e (ZE-_=ZF+_A=+—HK
fjfmi B — H:254,713,7041%) {6 &
NBIBEITRMDHNES X A% (T - =F:
6.67%>°

RZZB-_ME+ _A=+—HaTEERED
218 R0t

AABBEREFE ZHEBERBRAFRES
FITSRR M FE38 -

BEROIEZ Z2ZH

BEMAAEZHAEBREIN FARAAHE
E O NIy = PNSIE S
RIMEAAEESEEBARRB KM EM
EEZ B R EF ML 2 Bk

RIUBZEMARAR
—E-MEFR

125



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEHRS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 December 2024, the register of substantial KRENFIEEBEEBEETESZZEDIIN R_Z
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to ZPF+_A=+—H ' ZAQRAREZESFKL

Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than the interests  HAE{KFIE336KMEE 2 T ER R A MATE -
disclosed above in respect of certain Directors, the following ~ TAIREEMEARNAFER AR E S EITRMD
shareholders had notified the Company of relevant interests 2 & BafEzs:

in the issued shares of the Company:

Number of shares

grig LG

Approximate
percentage of
Held by the issued share

controlled Total number capital of the

Name of shareholder Beneficial owner corporation(s) of shares Company
EERRE#T

HZ BRAZ B

BRRERB EZREA AREE ROEH B

Long position

#e

China Poly Group Corporation Limited 253,788,246 1,583,738,058 1,837,526,304 48.09%

RERAEEFR AR (Note 1) (Hzt1)

Poly Developments and Holdings Group Co., Ltd. - 1,583,738,058 1,583,738,058 41.45%

RIZEREREERNER QA (Note 2) (Hi5#2)

Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited 120,381,544 1,463,356,514 1,583,738,058 41.45%

RN (BB ERERDAR (Note 3) (fif73)

Ting Shing Holdings Limited - 1,463,356,514 1,463,356,514 38.30%
(Note 4) (}{i14)

Congratulations Company Ltd. 1,111,578,283 - 1,111,578,283 29.09%

Source Holdings Limited 244,594,241 107,183,990 351,778,231 9.21%
(Note 5) (H155)
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Notes:

Save

China Poly Group Corporation Limited directly beneficial holds
253,788,246 shares of the Company and owns 50% of the issued
share capital of Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, and is accordingly
deemed by the SFO to be interested in the shares directly and
indirectly owned by Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited.

Poly Developments and Holdings Group Co., Ltd. owns 50% of the
issued share capital of Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and is
accordingly deemed by the SFO to be interested in the shares directly
and indirectly owned by Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited.

Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited is deemed by the SFO to be
interested in 1,583,738,058 shares of the Company as a result of
its direct holding of 120,381,544 shares and indirect holding of
1,463,356,514 shares through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Ting Shing
Holdings Limited.

Ting Shing Holdings Limited is deemed by the SFO to be interested
in 1,463,356,514 shares of the Company as a result of its indirect
holding of 1,463,356,514 shares through its subsidiaries, Source
Holdings Limited and Congratulations Company Ltd., of 351,778,231
shares and 1,111,578,283 shares, respectively.

Source Holdings Limited is deemed by the SFO to be interested in
351,778,231 shares of the Company as a result of its direct holding
of 244,594,241 shares and indirect holding of 107,183,990 shares
through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Musical Insight Holdings Ltd.
and Wincall Holding Ltd., of 47,825,571 shares and 59,358,419 shares,

respectively.

as disclosed above, the Company has not been

notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in
the issued shares or underlying shares of the Company as at
31 December 2024.
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DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE
13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

1.

12

On 24 July 2020, a joint venture company (“JV")
of the Group in which the Company holds 35%
beneficial interest (as borrower), the Company (as
one of the guarantors) and Industrial and Commerecial
Bank of China (Asia) Limited (as facility agent),
among others, entered into a facility agreement for
a 5-year term loan facility of a principal amount of
up to HK$9,437,400,000. Pursuant to the facility
agreement, the Company (as one of the guarantors)
severally guarantees the due and punctual payment
and performance of all obligations of the JV under,
among others, the facility agreement, up to 35% of
all sums owed by the JV under such obligations. The
final maturity date of the loan facility shall be the
earlier of the date falling: (a) 60 months from the date
of the facility agreement; or (b) 6 months after the
completion date of the development of the land held
by the JV.

Pursuant to the facility agreement, if, among other
things, China Poly Group Corporation Limited (“China
Poly Group”) ceases to: (a) be the single largest
shareholder of the Company; (b) maintain control (as
defined in the facility agreement) of the Company;
and (c) be under the control of the SASAC, the facility
agent may declare all or any part of the borrowings
together with the interest accrued thereon and all
other sums payable by the debtors (including the
Company) under the finance documents (as defined
in the facility agreement) be immediately due and
payable.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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On 10 November 2020, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (as the issuer), the Company (as
the guarantor) and China Poly Group entered into a
keepwell deed in relation to US$500,000,000 4.00%
notes due 2025 (the “Notes Due 2025").

Pursuant to the keepwell deed and the terms and
conditions of the Notes Due 2025, if China Poly Group
(a) ceases to be the single largest shareholder of
the Company or ceases to hold, directly or indirectly
through its controlled corporations (as defined under
Part XV of the SFO) at least 40% of the issued share
capital of the Company or (b) ceases to maintain
management control of the Company, this will
constitute an event of default under the Notes Due
2025.

On 31 January 2024, the Company (as borrower)
entered into a facility agreement with (1) Hua
Xia Bank Co., Limited Hong Kong Branch, China
Zheshang Bank Co., Ltd. (Hong Kong Branch), Bank of
Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, China
CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright
Bank Co. Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, Agricultural Bank
of China Limited Hong Kong Branch, Ping An Bank
Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, CMB Wing Lung Bank
Limited and Malayan Banking Berhad, Hong Kong
Branch (as mandated lead arrangers, bookrunners
and lenders); (2) Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
Hong Kong Branch (as advisor and co-ordinator for
sustainable development-linked loans) and (3) China
CITIC Bank International Limited (as facility agent)
for a term loan facility in an aggregate amount of
HK$3,900,000,000. The final maturity date of the
facility shall be the date falling 36 months after the
first utilisation date under the facility.

Pursuant to the facility agreement, it shall be an
event of default if, among other things, China Poly
Group ceases to: (a) (together with its controlled
corporations) be the single largest shareholder of
the Company, or directly or indirectly through its
controlled corporations, to hold at least 40% of the
issued share capital of the Company; (b) maintain
management control of the Company; or (c) be under
the control and supervision of the SASAC.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Set out below the continuing connected transactions of the
Group during the year pursuant to the Listing Rules:

(1) Office Lease Framework Agreement,
Theatre and Cinema Box Office Income
Sharing Framework Agreement and
Theatre and Cinema Lease Framework

Agreement
On 21 December 2023, the Company and China Poly
Group entered into (i) the office lease framework

13

agreement,

(ii) the theatre and cinema box office

income sharing framework agreement and (iii) the

theatre and cinema lease framework agreement

(the “Framework Agreements”), each with a term

commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending on 31
December 2026.

(i)

Office Lease Framework Agreement
According to the terms and conditions of the
office lease framework agreement, (1) the leased
properties shall be used for the purpose of
office premises and ancillary services; and (2)
the Group and China Poly Group will set out
the specific terms and conditions and enter into
separate lease agreements according to the
principles provided in the office lease framework
agreement. The maximum aggregate annual
amount of the office lease framework agreement
for the three years ending 31 December 2026
shall be RMB15,000,000.
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Theatre and Cinema Box Office
Income Sharing Framework
Agreement

According to the terms and conditions of
the theatre and cinema box office income
sharing framework agreement, (1) the Group
will provide theatre and cinema premises to
China Poly Group for the purposes of China
Poly Group operating its theatres and cinemas
and providing ancillary services; (2) the Group
and China Poly Group will set out the specific
terms and conditions and enter into separate
agreements according to the principles provided
in the theatre and cinema box office income
sharing framework agreement; and (3) the Group
and China Poly Group will split the net theatre
and cinema box office income (i.e., box office
income net of taxes including value-added tax
and special fund for national film development)
generated from performances and movie
screenings based on an agreed ratio, and China
Poly Group shall pay the Group any theatre and
cinema management fee, energy charge and
other facilities fees. The maximum aggregate
annual amount of the theatre and cinema box
office income sharing framework agreement for
the three years ending 31 December 2026 shall
be RMB9,000,000.

(ii)
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(iii) Theatre and Cinema Lease

Framework Agreement

According to the terms and conditions of the
theatre and cinema lease framework agreement,
(1) the leased properties shall be used for the
purposes of theatre and cinema operations
and ancillary services; and (2) the Group and
China Poly Group will set out the specific
terms and conditions and enter into separate
lease agreements according to the principles
provided in the theatre and cinema lease
framework agreement. The maximum aggregate
annual amount of the theatre and cinema lease
framework agreement for the three years ending
31 December 2026 shall be RMB10,000,000.

As at 21 December 2023, China Poly Group
and its associates held approximately 48.09%
of the total issued ordinary share capital of the
Company. China Poly Group and its associates
(other than the Group) are therefore connected
persons of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Framework
Agreements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

As all the applicable percentage ratios for
the annual caps contemplated under each of
the framework agreements are less than 5%,
the transactions contemplated thereunder are
subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule
14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.
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During the year under review, (i) the actual
rentals for the year ended 31 December 2024
under the office lease framework agreement
amounted to RMB10,108,000 and did not
exceed the maximum aggregate annual
amount of RMB15,000,000; (ii) the actual box
office income sharing for the year ended 31
December 2024 under the theatre and cinema
box office income sharing framework agreement
amounted to RMB2,752,000 and did not exceed
the maximum aggregate annual amount of
RMB9,000,000; and (iii) the actual rentals for
the year ended 31 December 2024 under the
theatre and cinema lease framework agreement
amounted to RMB6,733,000 and did not exceed
the maximum aggregate annual amount of
RMB10,000,000.

(2) Financial Framework Agreement

On 19 May 2022, the Company and Poly Finance
Company Limited (“Poly Finance”) entered into the
financial framework agreement (the “2022 Financial
Framework Agreement”) to replace and supersede
the financial framework agreement entered into in
2019. The 2022 Financial Framework Agreement
was considered and approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 11 July 2022.

According to the terms and conditions of the 2022
Financial Framework Agreement, the Group will place
deposits with Poly Finance from time to time, and
the interest rates should be higher than the interest
rates offered by independent third parties for the
similar services obtained in the PRC. The Group and
Poly Finance will monitor the deposit of the Group’s
member entities from time to time.
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The annual caps of the deposit services (i.e. maximum
daily deposit balance) under the 2022 Financial
Framework Agreement is RMB2,500,000,000 for each
of the three years commencing from 11 July 2022.

On 19 May 2022, Poly Finance was owned as
to 82.83% by China Poly Group, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and its associates.
Therefore, Poly Finance is an associate of a connected
person of the Company. The 2022 Financial Framework
Agreement and the deposit services contemplated
thereunder therefore constitute a continuing
connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio of the
proposed annual caps under the 2022 Financial
Framework Agreement exceeds 25% but is less than
75%, the 2022 Financial Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
() a major transaction of the Company subject to the
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules;
and (ii) continuing connected transaction of the
Company subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, deposits placed with
Poly Finance did not exceed the maximum daily
balance of RMB2,500,000,000. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the maximum daily balance of
RMB2,498,536,000 was placed with Poly Finance.
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ANNUAL REVIEW AND CONFIRMATION
REGARDING CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS IN
PURSUANCE OF RULE 14A.55 AND
14A.56 OF THE LISTING RULES

The Independent Non-executive Directors had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions (the “Transactions”) set
out above and confirmed that:

1. the Transactions were entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

2. the Transactions were conducted on normal
commercial terms or better; and

3. the Transactions were entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Board has engaged the auditor of the Company and the
auditor of the Company had reviewed the Transactions and
provided an unqualified letter to the Board in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and confirmed,
inter alia, that the Transactions have been entered into
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the Transactions, the Transactions have not exceeded
their respective annual caps as disclosed in the relevant
announcements, in accordance with the pricing policies of
the Group in all material respects and it has been approved
by the Board.

In respect of the Transactions, the Company has complied
with the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules
in force from time to time, and has followed the pricing
policies and guidelines as laid down in the guidance
letter HKEX-GL73-14 issued by the Stock Exchange when
determining the price and terms of the transactions
conducted during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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A summary of significant related party transactions during
the year is disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Transactions as disclosed
in note 46(a) “Transactions and balances with China Poly
Group” to the consolidated financial statements also
constitute connected/continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules (where applicable) with respect to the
connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions entered into by the Group during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the financial year and as at the date of this report,
a qualifying indemnity provision made by the Company for
the benefit of the Directors is in force as required by section
470 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of the laws of
Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors had any interest, other than the business of the
Group, whether directly or indirectly, in any business which
competes or may compete with that of the Company and its
subsidiaries pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the employment contracts, no contract concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Company’s business was entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor any entity connected with a Director is or
was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract, which is of significance
to the business of the Group and to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end of, or at any
time during, the year ended 31 December 2024.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, both the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's five largest customers and the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group's five largest suppliers
were less than 30% of the Group’s sales and purchases,
respectively.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is
set up by the remuneration committee on the basis of their
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the Company's
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. The scheme
has expired on 27 May 2024 and details of the scheme
are set out in this report and note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s Articles of Association, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company
and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024 and up to 17 April 2025, being
the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual
report.
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AUDITOR

BDO Limited (“"BDO") resigned as auditor of the
Company on 11 November 2021 and the Board, upon the
recommendation of the Audit Committee of the Company,
appointed Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly Hong
Kong”) as the auditor of the Company with effect from 11
November 2021 to fill the casual vacancy arising from the
resignation of BDO.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by
Baker Tilly Hong Kong. The term of office of Baker Tilly
Hong Kong will expire upon the forthcoming AGM of the
Company.

A resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming AGM
of the Company to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong as
auditor of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

No significant post-reporting period events materially
affecting the Group have occurred between 31 December
2024 and the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

WAN Yuqing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Poly Property Group Co., Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Poly Property Group Co., Limited (the
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages
150 to 358, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement

“"Company”) and

of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy

information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants”
(the "Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

(i) Revenue recognition from sales of
properties
The Group recognised revenue arising from sales of
properties of RMB37,946,206,000 for the year ended
31 December 2024.

We identified revenue recognition from sales of
properties as a key audit matter as the revenue from
sales of properties is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and there is judgment
involved in determining the appropriate timing of
revenue recognition from sales of properties.
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The Group's revenue from sales of properties is
generally recognised at a point in time when the
completed property is transferred to customers, which
is when the customer obtains control of the property,
the Group has a present right to payment, and
collection of consideration is probable. This conclusion
depends on a number of considerations including
whether the Group’s performance creates an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and whether
the Group has a right to payment for performance
completed to date in case of customer cancellation.

Determination of whether revenue should be
recognised at a point in time or over time requires
significant management judgment. This assessment
depends on contractual arrangements, applicable
laws, and whether the Group has an enforceable
right to payment. Management considers the terms
of agreements and applies judgment in evaluating
whether a contract meets the criteria for recognising
revenue over time or at a point in time.

Refer to notes 5 and 8 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies set out in note

2(u)(i)(@).
Our response:

Our procedures involved testing revenue transactions
of sales of properties on a sample basis and
specifically included:

o Assessing the management’s control over the
timing at which revenue from sales of properties
is recognised by obtaining an understanding of
the management'’s control process and testing
the control on a sample basis;

o Obtaining evidence regarding the transfer of the
control of properties (including, where relevant,
completion certificates, occupation permits and
acceptance letters);
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° Reviewing signed sales and purchase agreements
to identify contractual arrangements;

o Reconciling sales amounts from ledgers and
agreeing the corresponding contracted terms to
the signed sales and purchase agreements; and

° Agreeing deposits, final payments or mortgage
receipts to bank statements.

Valuation of investment properties
Management has estimated the fair value
of the Group’s investment properties to be
RMB8,676,752,000 at 31 December 2024, with a
revaluation loss of RMB66,691,000 recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Estimations of fair value are dependent on certain
key assumptions and unobservable inputs that
require significant management judgment, including
capitalisation rates and market transaction prices for
comparable properties.

Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in changes in fair value of the
Group's investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the gain or loss recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. As a result,
the financial performance can be greatly affected by
the assumptions and unobservable inputs.

Refer to notes 5 and 16 to the consolidated financial

statements and the accounting policies set out in note
2(h).
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(iii)

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation
of investment properties included:

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of independent external valuers;

o Obtaining external valuation reports, discussing
with external valuers to understand the results
of their work and assessing and challenging
the valuation methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the significant assumptions,
including market transaction prices for
comparable properties and capitalisation rates
by benchmarking these assumptions to relevant
market evidence including specific property sales
and other external data; and

. Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used in the valuation.

The significant unobservable inputs have been
disclosed in note 16.

Net realisable value of properties under
development and held for sale

The total net carrying amount of the Group's
properties under development and held for sale as
at 31 December 2024 was RMB125,489,623,000.
Impairment loss of RMB707,612,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Estimations of net realisable value of the Group's
properties under development and held for sale are
dependent on certain key assumptions that require
significant management judgment, including current
schedules of the projects, construction progress by
contractors, estimated costs to completion, intended
use and management’s expectation on future property
market.

(iii)
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Favourable or unfavourable changes to these
assumptions would result in change in net realisable
value of the Group's properties under development
and held for sale and the corresponding adjustments
to the impairment recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. As a result, the financial
performance can be significantly affected by the
assumptions.

Refer to notes 5 and 23 to the consolidated financial
statements and the accounting policies set out in note

2()().
Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessments of the net realisable value of the
properties under developments and held for sale
included:

] Assessing the valuation methodologies used,
and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions on a sample basis, including future
market value, estimated costs to completion,
intended use and adjustment based on current
market environment;

] Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated
cost to completion of the properties under
development, on a sample basis, by comparing
the budgeted construction costs, to the
signed contracts with subcontractors, and
actual development cost of similar completed
properties of the Group and comparing the
adjustments made by the management, on a
sample basis, to current market data;

° Assessing the appropriateness of estimated
selling price of the properties held for sale, on
a sample basis, by comparing it to the recent
market prices achieved in the same project or
comparable properties, based on our knowledge
of the Group’s business and the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") and Hong Kong
real estate industry; and
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° Assessing the recoverable amount of properties
by reviewing independent publicly available
information, such as property industry reports,
for potential impairment indicators. Where
the market environment or estimated costs to
completion changed significantly, we challenged
management as to whether this indicated a
decrease in net realisable value.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of the other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process. The Audit Committee
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this
regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

-l 4 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going

concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence and, to communicate with them

all relationships and other matters that may reasonably

be thought to bear on our independence and, where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Gao Yajun.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March 2025

Gao Yajun
Practising certificate number P06391
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2024 2023
—E-OmEF —ET=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T ARBEFT
Revenue A 8 40,208,482 40,932,418
Cost of sales & AR (33,612,960)  (32,572,337)
Gross profit EH 6,595,522 8,360,081
Decrease in fair value of investment WEMEZ ARBERD
properties 16 (66,691) (250,160)
Increase in fair value of financial SREEZAABEEM
assets 72,160 69,252
Other gains, net HAh g A F 58 9 671,170 663,917
Selling expenses HERMX (1,431,333) (1,324,200)
Administrative expenses THRAX (1,235,987) (1,268,527)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR Wz 52 184,647 16,036
Impairment loss on properties BRARFIELEMEZ
under development and VERENSEi=!
held for sale 23 (707,612) (101,289)
Other operating expenses Hth 2 E R (446,519) (447,782)
Finance costs & AR 10 (1,583,371) (1,593,362)
Share of results of associates DIRE & N R ELE 119,482 (70,740)
Share of results of joint ventures DMEEELEES 70,169 (21,129)
Profit before income tax expense B BT 1S 75 5 2 Al A 13 2,241,637 4,032,097
Income tax expense FrEfimAX 14 (2,145,823) (2,400,189)
Profit for the year F N F 95,814 1,631,908
Attributable to: oL :
Owners of the Company KARHEA A 182,867 1,444,626
Non-controlling interests SRR (87,053) 187,282
Profit for the year F A Al 95,814 1,631,908
Earnings per share BREN
(expressed in RMB cents) (AAREESFIR) 15
— Basic and diluted —EXK#EE 4.79 37.81
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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For the year ended 31 December 2024
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2024 2023
—E-mME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT
Profit for the year FRER 95,814 1,631,908
Other comprehensive income HiaZ2mEUBA
Items that will not be reclassified to TeEF P EEBmmIEE -
profit or loss:
Surplus arising on revaluation of e = e
properties 77,230 206,844
Exchange differences arising on N ERBRERZENNEE
translation of functional currency to EEZIERZRR
presentation currency 158,436 167,965
Other comprehensive income before FEHaiz A2 EBA
income tax effect 235,666 374,809
Deferred tax liability arising on MEEHESE 2ELEHIE
revaluation of properties Bf& (19,308) (51,711)
Other comprehensive income FREM2ERA MR
for the year, net of tax HESE 216,358 323,098
Total comprehensive income FR2HMB AL
for the year 312,172 1,955,006
Attributable to: T 5 ek
Owners of the Company ZN/NIEZ 2SN 400,869 1,748,941
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR HE (88,697) 206,065
312,172 1,955,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

oIS E

As at 31 December 2024
R-ZFE-mFE+—H=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
+=—A=+—-B +=ZA=+—8
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥T T AR®EF T
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Investment properties "EWHE 16 8,676,752 8,917,152
Property, plant and equipment ME - HWE LR 17 3,392,941 3,479,549
Right-of-use assets TRAEEE 18 530,439 582,901
Interests in associates REtE N R 2 19 2,765,516 2,258,535
Interests in joint ventures REeEELEZER 20 2,702,012 6,073,322
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFAEBRZ
through profit or loss TREE 21 785,231 713,048
Loan receivables JE W E K 27(a) 176,560 196,030
Deposits paid for acquisition of Wi + i b A E At
land use rights 2& 22 439,123 426,693
Deferred tax assets RN IE & 40 270,826 249,751
Total non-current assets FRBEELE 19,739,400 22,896,981
Current assets REEE
Properties under development TRy E 23 80,266,271 102,092,369
Properties held for sale FEHEME 23 45,223,352 32,309,830
Other inventories HibiF & 24 42,361 41,038
Contract costs CR DN 25 1,104,604 491,253
Trade and other receivables JEUWE 5 K E IR 26 5,477,695 4,984,022
Amounts due from associates g NI E S E] 19 619,885 758,277
Amounts due from joint ventures ~ FEUA & ¥R 20 4,446,368 4,285,403
Amounts due from non-controlling & UL /& A R FEIZ &
shareholders of subsidiaries &% B 3K IB 31 3,356,816 2,345,171
Taxation recoverable AU [ 7 1 3,754,378 3,748,248
Pledged bank deposits BB ITER 32(a) 164,147 226,443
Bank balances, deposits and cash WITHET GFRERE 32(a) 34,507,500 31,631,917
Total current assets RBEERRE 178,963,377 182,913,971
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31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-@OE —T-=F
+=—HA=+—H +=-—A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
gz AR¥T T AR®EF T
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables e85 R E MR 33 24,127,769 29,913,119
Contract liabilities GHEE 36 41,377,239 40,802,298
Property rental deposits mMERSIES 85,681 83,234
Amounts due to associates JFE A~} Bt 2 B FROB 19 1,761,342 1,110,739
Amounts due to joint ventures B & & ERIR 20 925,353 992,316
Amount due to the ultimate JER SR IR A R FUIE
holding company 28 7,099 7,554
Amount due to an intermediate FERT —RH AR A F
holding company I8 29 2,792 2,792
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary B —E R XK B A 7]
IR 30 485 485
Amounts due to non-controlling FE TR B A B FE 13 AR
shareholders of subsidiaries IR 3R FRIE 31 3,723,788 4,284,477
Taxation payable FE 518 8,086,584 7,775,280
Note payable — due within one year [Eff 2 ——F R F| 35 10,127,000 626,000
Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEBEE—
due within one year — F X 2 B 34 9,416,401 20,168,686
Total current liabilities mEBAEBE 99,641,533 105,766,980
Net current assets REBEEFE 79,321,844 77,146,991
Total assets less current liabilities #&EE R ABAE 99,061,244 100,043,972
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

iSRRI E
As at 31 December 2024
R-F-mFE+=-HA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
+=A=+—H +=—A=+—8H
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
B & AR®T T ARETT
Capital and reserves attributable Z2 A#EH A K
to owners of the Company EXARFE
Share capital [ 37 15,712,159 15,712,159
Reserves B 4,107,704 3,806,190
Accumulated profits 25t A 14,389,490 14,581,921
Equity attributable to owners AREEE ANELRRE
of the Company 34,209,353 34,100,270
Non-controlling interests FERER 12,337,957 11,060,363
Total equity RAEEE 46,547,310 45,160,633
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Bank and other borrowings — WITRAMBEE—
due after one year — 1% %I B 34 36,784,705 34,551,668
Note payable — due after one year [Eff ¥ ——F 1% 5| 8 35 14,126,000 18,549,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 18 11,499 38,341
Loan from a fellow subsidiary —HRRNBAGER 39 - 180,000
Deferred tax liabilities RILFITEAE 40 1,591,730 1,564,330
Total non-current liabilities FRBRERE 52,513,934 54,883,339
99,061,244 100,043,972

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors

on 20 March 2025.

Wan Yuging
BFE
Chairman

S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERREEDE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE-ZFT-_mNEF—A=1—HIFFE

Notes:

(iii)

15

Statutory reserves are reserves required by the relevant laws in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and are applicable to the
Group'’s PRC subsidiaries.

Included in other capital reserve at 31 December 2024 is deemed
capital contribution arising on acquisition of subsidiaries of
RMB141,528,000 (2023: RMB141,528,000) and deemed capital
contribution arising from interest-free loans provided by a fellow
subsidiary of RMB67,065,000 (2023: RMB67,065,000).

Other reserve represents the difference between the fair value of
consideration paid and payable and the carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the changes in ownership in the subsidiaries being
acquired or disposed from non-controlling interests without change of

control.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

moOREMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2024
BE—E-NEL-_A=+—HIEFE

2024 2023
—ESE-E —E-=%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 7E ARBT T ARET T
Cash flows from operating activities REKEIHNEESHRE
Profit before income tax expense B AT 15 B4 78 2 Al g ) 2,241,637 4,032,097
Adjustments for: FRATEBELFE:
Interest income from banks RITH B U A 9 (401,660) (410,033)
Interest income from loans to ﬁ?ﬁ(%ﬁf%’\ AERZ
associates s LI&U\ 9 (46,056) (55,919)
Interest income from loans to BRT EFERZ
joint ventures e LI&UK 9 (166,811) (206,437)
Interest income from amounts due FE UL BT B A B FEE AR
from non-controlling shareholders IR FIETE R 2
of subsidiaries MEHA 9 (12,217) (3,654)
Gain on lease termination MEXRIEZ W 9 (865) (141)
Dividend income from financial assets 1% ’Rﬁfﬁ&+)\TEﬁnZ
at fair value through profit or loss SREEZRIWA 9 - (54)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 18 37,792 43,616
Depreciation of property, plant and M BERRETE
equipment 17 156,342 190,757
Finance costs A& AR 10 1,583,371 1,593,362
Reversal of impairment loss on trade  EUWE 5 R HEMIRF 2
and other receivables B (B &5 18 B O] 13 (10,756) (9,839)
Reversal of impairment loss on BRPRFIELEMEZ
properties under development and VEREYSEi=E
held for sale 13 (136,336) (276,308)
Impairment loss on properties under  BEREAFARIFEHEWEZ
development and held for sale B &1 13 707,612 101,289
Impairment loss on trade and JEWE B R EMERTRZ
other receivables B & 1R 13 95,814 81,418
Decrease in fair value of investment EWMEZ R ERD
properties 16 66,691 250,160
Increase in fair value of financial assets ®@t&EEZ A EEMN (72,160) (69,252)
Loss on disposal of investment LEREMEZER
properties 9 18,869 2,592
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE - BERZEZ
and equipment E1E 13 25,916 20,654
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries Hjﬂﬁ% 8]z W 52 (184,647) (16,036)
Share of results of associates DILEE QR EE (119,482) 70,740
Share of results of joint ventures DiEAEE ﬁi%f (70,169) 21,129
Amortisation of incremental ﬁﬁﬁ\ﬁi nEe
commission 25 505,346 511,987
Operating profit before EEESHBHAIKERF
working capital changes 4,218,231 5,872,128
(Increase)/decrease in deposits paid for W& T i AERE
acquisition of land use rights ‘e (38m) R 22 (12,430) 113,000
Decrease in properties under BRPRSELEYME
development and held for sale e 14,057,908 1,236,125
(Increase)/decrease in other inventories EM1FE (&0 )/7\}329\ (1,323) 573
(Increase)/decrease in trade and FEWE 5 K EABBR K
other receivables (&), (581,488) 325,814
Increase in contract costs B #IRK 28 0 (1,112,378) (492,169)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JEE S K EMERR
other payables CRA) /3 (5,926,042) 69,599
Increase in contract liabilities EHEE iJJD 572,483 5,809,950
Increase/(decrease) in property MERERZRSEM
rental deposits 0% 2,422 (3,245)
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CONSOUDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
JlU-.ﬁ Iﬁ % AMEE %E
For the year ended 31 December 2024
HE-—T-_mMF+-_A=1+—HIFE
2024 2023
—E-@mE —ET=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR®T T AREFIT
Cash generated from operations KEFMBRE 11,217,383 12,931,775
Income taxes paid B ATEH (1,853,998) (3,546,590)
Interest paid EARFLE (2,568,779) (4,015,826)
Net cash generated from RETHFBREFHR
operating activities 6,794,606 5,369,359
Cash flows from investing activities XERETHNESHRE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWME WELERXE
equipment 17 (17,725) (29,222)
Capital reduction of non-controlling SRR E
interests - (1,155,132)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal HENBAREE RS
of subsidiaries MAFFE 52 118,803 13,233
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of WEKE AR KRB
cash acquired WEIR 5 51 (289,525) (218,443)
De-registration of subsidiary EX 1N EUNG] (395) -
Acquisition of additional interests HENRB AR ER
in subsidiaries - (152,397)
Acquisition of associates W B Bk i R A (361,680) (520,292)
Decrease in loan receivables JE U B FORL 23,778 44,007
Decrease in pledged bank deposits EEARITFEFORD 62,296 218,196
Bank interest income received Euﬁlﬁﬁﬂ BUZA 351,694 410,033
Interest income received from loans BERT ESRZ
to joint ventures Euﬁlﬂ E' A 166,811 206,437
Interest income received from loans MTEENRER
to associates E g F) B g A 46,056 55,919
Interest income received from amounts &Y B A &) FE3%E A A% 3R
due from non-controlling IR R 2 B WRLE
shareholders of subsidiaries A 12,217 3,654
Dividend income received from BRI ARBEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value through TREEZRIWA
profits or loss - 54
Dividend income received from a BEl—fEeERrEY
joint venture A B WA 96,370 36,921
Dividend income received from B U HE & A R 2 iR B
associates 36,000 -
Advance to joint ventures BRTFELDE (170,661) (46,054)
Advance to non-controlling BT B R R IEIE R
shareholders of subsidiaries % 3 (1,011,645) (332,810)
Repayments from associates Bt N Bl 3N 261,422 160,019
Proceeds from disposal of investment &R E Y15 FIE
properties 122,849 16,057
Net cash used in investing activities REFZEFMARESFE (553,335) (1,289,820)

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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2024 2023
—E-mF —F-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5E AR®T T ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities REREFHNRESRE
Borrowings raised MEEE 17,034,692 21,340,761
Repayments of borrowings BEEEX (25,912,753) (34,683,091)
Notes payable raised I EN RR 35 5,220,000 7,000,000
Repayment of notes payable BEENER 35 (220,000) -
Capital contribution by non-controlling {8 A &) JEIE AR R &
shareholders of subsidiaries 829,286 2,802,772
Repayment to non-controlling BARTHEBAREZER
shareholders of subsidiaries % 2R (574,849) (677,813)
Payments of lease liabilities HEABRMK 18 (22,132) (25,705)
Repayment to the ultimate holding BT REERRA A
company (455) (10,954)
Repayment to loan from a ERT—RHRBERMEARF
fellow subsidiary (180,000) -
(Repayments to)/advances from (BRTAREDE) &%
joint ventures REBRK (66,963) 318,038
Advance from associates i R/NECTE=1F /¢ 650,603 374,347
Dividends paid to owners of ERNAREHE AZKE
the Company 48 (291,786) (165,075)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BB & 2 ) 3RS RR AR R
shareholders of subsidiaries 2B (66,600) (99,680)
Net cash used in financing activities BEZBHFTARSFE (3,600,957) (3,826,400)
Net increase in cash and REeERERRESEMFLRE
cash equivalents 2,640,314 253,139
Cash and cash equivalents at FYzHERERRE
beginning of the year 31,631,917 31,178,704
Effect of exchange rate changes on EZEEHHBESREM
cash and cash equivalents Bevgeg 235,269 200,074
Cash and cash equivalents at end FHRZAEREFRS
of the year 34,507,500 31,631,917
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 2 #TEERERAHRE
Cash and cash equivalents as stated FREMBIRRARIRZ
in the consolidated statement of RekERRE
financial position 34,507,500 31,631,917
34,507,500 31,631,917

RFNEBEHEEBBR QA
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159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2024
—FomFE+=A=1+—H

16

GENERAL

Poly Property Group Co., Limited (the “Company”)
is a public limited company incorporated in Hong
Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company referred to as
the “Group”) are engaged in property development,
property investment and management, hotel
operations and its related services, and manufacturing
and sales of digital discs and others. The principal
activities and other details of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 49.

The directors consider the Company’'s immediate
holding company is Poly (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited (“Poly Holdings”), a company incorporated
in Hong Kong. The ultimate holding company is
China Poly Group Corporation Limited (“China
Poly”), a state-owned enterprise established in the
People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC"). China Poly
and its affiliated companies, other than the Group,
are hereinafter collectively referred to as China Poly
Group.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA™), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622). These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”). Material accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting period
of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for
the current accounting period reflected in these
financial statements.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

16

statements
The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 comprise the
Group and the Group's interest in associates and
joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that the following assets
and liabilities are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- investment property, including interests
in leasehold land and buildings held as
investment property where the Group
is the registered owner of the property
interest (see note 2(h));

- hotel properties carried at revaluated
amounts (see note 2(i)); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (see note 2(g)).

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application
of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
to these financial statements for the current
accounting period:

. Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current (“2020
amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS
1, Presentation of Financial Statements
— Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(2022 amendments”)

° Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases — Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

. Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement
of Cash Flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Supplier Finance
Arrangements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies
(Continued)

The Group has not applied any new standard
or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period. Impacts of the
adoption of the amended HKFRSs are discussed

below:

Amendments to HKAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements
(the 2020 and 2022 amendments,
collectively the “"HKAS 1

amendments”)

The HKAS 1 amendments impact the
classification of a liability as current or non-
current, and have been applied retrospectively
as a package.

The 2020 amendments primarily clarify the
classification of a liability that can be settled
in its own equity instruments. If the terms of a
liability could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of
the entity’'s own equity instruments and that
conversion option is accounted for as an
equity instrument, these terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or
non-current. Otherwise, the transfer of equity
instruments would constitute settlement of the
liability and impact classification.

The 2022 amendments specify that conditions
with which an entity must comply after the
reporting date do not affect the classification of
a liability as current or non-current. However, the
entity is required to disclose information about
non-current liabilities subject to such conditions.

Upon the adoption of the HKAS 1 amendments,
the Group has reassessed the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current and no
reclassification is considered necessary.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries
are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date on which control
commences until the date on which control
ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for
foreign currency transaction gains or losses)
arising from intra-group transactions, are
eliminated. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can
elect to measure any non-controlling interests
("NCI") either at fair value or at the NClI's
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets. NCI are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company.
NCI in the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between NCI and the
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with notes 2(p)
or (q) depending on the nature of the liability.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

16

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling
interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest
retained in that former subsidiary is measured at
fair value when control is lost.

In the Company'’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 2(k)), unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group classified as held for sale) (see
note 2(x)).

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group
or the Company has significant influence, but
not control or joint control, over the financial
and operating policies. A joint venture is an
arrangement in which the Group or the Company
has joint control, whereby the Group or the
Company has the rights to the net assets of the
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and
obligations for its liabilities.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method, unless
it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal Group classified as held for sale) (see
note 2(x)). They are initially recognised at cost,
which includes transaction costs. Subsequently,
the consolidated financial statements include
the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (“OCI"”) of those
investees, until the date on which significant
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the investee. For this purpose,
the Group’s interest is the carrying amount
of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests
that in substance form part of the Group's net
investment in the associate or the joint venture,
after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable (see note 2(k)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated
against the investment to the extent of the
Group's interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

16

(e)

Associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture
is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
2(k)), unless it is classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal Group classified as held
for sale) (see note 2(x)).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is tested annually for impairment (see
note 2(k)).

Other investments in debt and
equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investment. The investments
are initially stated at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs, except for
those investments measured at FVPL for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in profit
or loss. For an explanation of how the Group
determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 7(c). These investments are subsequently
accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g) Other investments in debt and
equity securities (Continued)

(i)

Non-equity investments
Non-equity investments are classified
into one of the following measurement
categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is

held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective
interest method (see note 2(u)(ii)(c)),
foreign exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.

- FVOCI - recycling, if the contractual

cash flows of the investment
comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is
held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows
and sale. Expected credit losses,
interest income (calculated using
the effective interest method)
and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or
loss and computed in the same
manner as if the financial asset was
measured at amortised cost. The
difference between the fair value
and the amortised cost is recognised
in OCI. When the investment
is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in OCl is recycled from
equity to profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

17

(g) Other investments in debt and
equity securities (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Non-equity investments

(Continued)

- FVPL if the investment does not meet
the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVPL, unless the investment
is not held for trading purposes and on
initial recognition the Group makes an
irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in OCI. Such elections are made
on an instrument-by-instrument basis,
but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’'s perspective. If such election is
made for a particular investment, at the
time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is
transferred to accumulated profits and not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends
from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income (see note 2(u)(ii)(b)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Investment property

Investment property is initially measured at
fair value, and subsequently at fair value with
changes therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental
income from investment properties is recognised
in accordance with note 2(u)(ii)(a).

Property, plant and equipment

Hotel properties held for own use are stated at
their revalued amount, being their fair value at
the date of the revaluation less any subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 2(k)), if any.

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses (see note 2(k)):

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see note

2())).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

In prior years certain land and buildings held
for own use were revalued to their fair value. In
preparing these financial statements, advantage
has been taken of the transitional provisions set
out in paragraph 80AA of HKAS 16 “Property,
plant and equipment” issued by the HKICPA,
with the effect that these land and buildings
have not been revalued to their fair value at the
end of the reporting period.

If significant parts of an item of property, plant
and equipment have different useful lives, then
they are accounted for as separate items (major
components).

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of
property, plant and equipment is recognised in
profit or loss. Any related revaluation surplus
is transferred from the revaluation reserve to
accumulated profits and is not reclassified to
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost
or valuation of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress,
less their estimated residual values, if any, using
the straight line method at the rates as disclosed
in note 17, and is generally recognised in profit
or loss.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs
of construction as well as borrowing costs
capitalised during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate class of property,
plant and equipment when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the assets
for their intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and
ready for its intended use.

Depreciation methods, depreciation rates
and residual values are reviewed annually and
adjusted if appropriate.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This
is the case if the contract conveys the right to

control the use of an identified asset for a period

of time in exchange for consideration. Control is

conveyed where the customer has both the right

to direct the use of the identified asset and to

obtain substantially all of the economic benefits

from that use.

(i)

As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for leases that
have a short lease term of 12 months or
less, and leases of low-value items such
as laptops and office furniture. When the
Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low value item, the Group decides whether
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease
basis. If not capitalised, the associated
lease payments are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the lease
term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability, and are charged to profit or
loss as incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(i) and 2(k)(iii)), except
for the following types of right-of-use
asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are
carried at fair value (see note 2(h));
and

- right-of-use assets related to interests
in leasehold land where the interest
in the land is held as inventory are
carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (see note 2(l)).

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost (see
notes 2(g)(i), 2(u)(ii)(c) and 2(k)(i)).
excess of the nominal value over the initial

Any

fair value of the deposits is accounted for
as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of use assets.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(j)

Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)
The Group presents right-of-use assets that
do not meet the definition of investment
property separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
if there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable
under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether
it will exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability
is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to
zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is
not originally provided for in the lease
contract, if such modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case, the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-
term lease liabilities is determined as the
present value of contractual payments that
are due to be settled within twelve months
after the reporting period.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

17

(j) Leased assets (Continued)

(ii)

As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as
an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income
from operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 2(u)(ii)(a).

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and lease

receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance
for expected credit losses ("ECLs") on the
following items:
- financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including pledged
bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other
receivables, and amounts due
from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries, which are held for the
collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of
principal and interest); and

- lease receivables.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses
are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls between the
contractual and expected amounts.

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following rates if the
effect is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets and trade

and other receivables: effective
interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation

thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

- lease receivables: discount rate used
in the measurement of the lease
receivable.

The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial
instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs
(Continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are the portion
of ECLs that result from default
events that are possible within the
12 months after the reporting date
(or a shorter period if the expected
life of the instrument is less than 12
months); and

- lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from all possible default events
over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except
for the following, which are measured at
12-months ECLs:

- financial instruments that are
determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date; and

- other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued) for which
credit risk (i.e. the risk of default
occurring over the expected life
of the financial instrument) has not
increased significantly since initial
recognition.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)
Significant increases in credit
risk

When determining whether the credit risk
of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition and
when measuring ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information
and analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment, that includes forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on
a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to
be in default when the debtor is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is
held).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXE:tEZFE (£
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of k) EEFEBREERE (8)
assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial i) EMIAEREKWEE

instruments and lease NEZEEEBE (&)

receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit EiE =il

risk (Continued) (%)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting BHEEEENESERE B S

date to reflect changes in the financial TUREFFE URBRBVIH

instrument’s credit risk since initial EReEemIAGERRNE

recognition. Any change in the ECL amount H-EHEEBERSBENEM

is recognised as an impairment gain or BEONBERTHEIRRREK

loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises mAEE-ANEERRAES

an impairment gain or loss for all financial BTEMBERZNEE I

instruments with a corresponding RBEBRRERPHAEKREEAE

adjustment to their carrying amount ETHERE HERQIAES

through a loss allowance account, except AE A 2 E W AGT 2 8 FER A

for investments in non-equity securities Br (AEE)NRERNN B

that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), AR E s EBERBENREMAZE

for which the loss allowance is recognised WAERIE R A EREE (A

in OCI and accumulated in the fair value )R R MARLEE

reserve (recycling) does not reduce the TR EREE ZRA

carrying amount of the financial asset in B

the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Credit-impaired financial assets EEREERBEZE®

BEE

At each reporting date, the Group assesses REMEBH NEEFE2

whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. MEERSFEEERE-E

A financial asset is credit-impaired when BESHEREEMFARKER

one or more events that have a detrimental TMEBEKTNZEN —IANK

impact on the estimated future cash flows ZHEENH eREEFERGE

of the financial asset have occurred. A

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- TREEFEEERENZE

impaired includes the following observable BRENATABESRMN:

events:

- significant financial difficulties of the - BEBAERREXREBR
debtor; 2
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial
instruments and lease
receivables (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
(Continued)

- a breach of contract,
default or being more than 90 days
past due;

such as a

- the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the
Group would not consider otherwise;

- it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset or lease receivable is written off
to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the
case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in
the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

18

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial

guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that
require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to
make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”)
for a loss the holder incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the terms of
a debt instrument.

Financial guarantees issued are initially
recognised at fair value, which is
determined by reference to fees charged
in an arm’s length transaction for similar
services, when such information is
obtainable, or to interest rate differentials,
by comparing the actual rates charged
by lenders when the guarantee is made
available with the estimated rates that
lenders would have charged, had the
guarantees not been available, where
reliable estimates of such information can
be made. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the
guarantee, the consideration is recognised
in accordance with the Group’'s policies
applicable to that category of asset.
Where no such consideration is received
or receivable, an immediate expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

The amount initially recognised as deferred
income is subsequently amortised in profit
or loss over the term of the guarantee as
income (see note 2(u)(ii)(e)).
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial

guarantees issued (Continued)
The Group monitors the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the
contract and remeasures the above liability
at a higher amount when ECLs on the
financial guarantees are determined to be
higher than the carrying amount in respect
of the guarantees.

A 12-month ECL is measured unless the
risk that the specified debtor will default
has increased significantly since the
guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime
ECL is measured. The same definition
of default and the same assessment
of significant increase in credit risk as
described in note 2(k)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by
the specified debtor in accordance with the
terms of the instrument that is guaranteed,
an ECL is estimated based on the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amount
that the Group expects to receive from
the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party. The amount is
then discounted using the current risk-free
rate adjusted for risks specific to the cash
flows.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current

assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets (other than investment property,
properties under development, properties
held for sale, other inventories and
contract costs and deferred tax assets) to
determine whether there is any indication
of impairment. If any such indication exists,
then the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped
together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the
cash inflows of other assets or cash-
generating units (“CGUs"). Goodwill
arising from a business combination is
allocated to CGUs or groups of CGUs that
are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or
CGU is the greater of its value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal. Value
in use based on the estimated future cash
flows, discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or CGU.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of
assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of other non-current

assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the
carrying amount of an asset or CGU
exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit
or loss. They are allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce
the carrying amounts of the other assets in
the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversed. For other assets, an
impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no
impairment loss had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and

impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial
reporting, in respect of the first six months
of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and
reversal criteria as it would at the end of
the financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and (iii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not
reversed in a subsequent period. This is
the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim
period relates.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Inventories and other contract costs

(i) Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost
and net realisable value as follows:

Properties under
development and held for

sales

The cost of properties under
development and held for sales
comprises specifically identified
cost, including the acquisition
cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of
development, materials and supplies,
wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads
and borrowing costs capitalised
(see note 2(w)). Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price
less estimated costs of completion
and costs to be incurred in selling the

property.

In the case of completed properties
developed by the Group which
comprise of multiple units which are
sold individually, the cost of each
unit is determined by apportionment
of the total development costs for
that development project to each
unit on a basis that is representative
of the cost of the specific unit.
Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Other inventories

Other inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price
less costs to be incurred in selling the
inventories.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()  Inventories and other contract costs
(Continued)

(i)

Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the
incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not
capitalised as inventory (see note 2(I)(i)) or
property, plant and equipment (see note

2(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract
e.g. sales commission, are capitalised if
the costs relate to revenue which will be
recognised in a future reporting period and
the costs are expected to be recovered.
The Group has taken the practical
expedient to recognise the incremental
costs of obtains a contract as an expense
when incurred if the amortisation period of
the asset that the entity would otherwise
have recognised is one year or less. Other
costs of obtaining a contract are expensed
when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised
if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide
goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Otherwise,
costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory or property, plant
and equipment, are expensed as incurred.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

18

()

(m

Inventories and other contract costs

(Continued)

(ii) Other contract costs
(Continued)

Capitalised contract costs are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses. Amortisation of
capitalised contract costs is recognised in
profit or loss when the revenue to which
the asset relates is recognised (see note

2(u)).

) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(u)).
recognised if the Group has an unconditional

A contract liability is also

right to receive non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note

2(n)).

When the contract includes a significant
financing component, the contract balance
includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method (see note 2(u)(ii)(c)).

Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration
and only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost (see note 2(k)(i)).
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component
of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of
the consolidated statement of cash flows. Cash
and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL (see
note 2(k)(i)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised
at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition,
trade and other payables are stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at
invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequently, these borrowings are stated
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with note 2(w).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Employee benefits

(i)

(iii)

Short term employee benefits
and contributions to defined

contribution retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are
expensed as the related service is
provided. A liability is recognised for
the amount expected to be paid if the
Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of
past service provided by the employee and
the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed
as the related service is provided.

Share-based payments

The grant-date fair value of equity-
settled share-based payments granted
to employees is measured using the
binomial lattice model. The amount is
generally recognised as an expense, with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the
vesting period of the awards. The amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the number of awards for which the
related service conditions are expected to
be met, such that the amount ultimately
recognised is based on the number of
awards that meet the related service
conditions at the vesting date.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable
or receivable on the taxable income or loss for
the year and any adjustments to the tax payable
or receivable in respect of previous years. The
amount of current tax payable or receivable is
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to
be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes. It is measured using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax
arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used
for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

- temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

- temporary differences related to
investment in subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture to the extent that the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;

- taxable temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of goodwill; and

- those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based
on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related
tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future taxable

profits improves.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at
their fair value in accordance with note 2(h),
the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply
on sale of those assets at their carrying value
at the reporting date, unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the measurement of deferred tax reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the
reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Generally provisions are determined by
discounting the expected future cash flows
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based
on historical warranty data and a weighting
of possible outcomes against their associated
probabilities.
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(t)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A provision for onerous contracts is measured
at the present value of the lower of the
expected cost of terminating the contract and
the expected net cost of continuing with the
contract, which is determined based on the
incremental costs of fulfilling the obligation
under that contract and an allocation of other
costs directly related to fulfilling that contract.
Before a provision is established, the Group
recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract (see note 2(k)(iii)).

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of properties and
goods, the provision of services or the use by
others of the Group's assets under leases in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other

income recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Revenue from contracts with

customers

The Group is the principal for its revenue
transactions and recognises revenue on a
gross basis, including the sale of properties
and goods, building management services
income and hotel operations that are
sourced externally. In determining whether
the Group acts as a principal or as an
agent, it considers whether it obtains
control of the products or services before
they are transferred to the customers.
Control refers to the Group's ability to
direct the use of and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits from the
products or services.

Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third
parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.

(@) Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of
properties developed for sale in
the ordinary course of business is
recognised when legal assignment is
completed, which is the point in time
when the customer has the ability
to direct the use of the property
and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits of the property.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

(i)

(a)

Sale of properties
(Continued)

When residential properties are
marketed by the Group while the
property is still under construction,
the Group may offer a discount
compared to the listed sales price,
provided the customer agrees to
pay the balance of the consideration
early. Otherwise, the customer is
required to pay 5-70% of the contract
value as a deposit upon signing the
sale and purchase agreement (“SPA")
with the rest of the consideration
being paid no later than on
completion of the SPA. Deposits and
instalments received on properties
sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial
position under contract liabilities (see
note 2(m)).

To the extent that the advance
payments from customers are
regarded as providing a significant
financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the
adjustment of time value of money
will be accrued by the Group
during the period between the
payment date and the completion
date of legal assignment. This
accrual increases the balance of the
contract liability during the period of
construction, and therefore increases
the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed
property is transferred to the
customer. The interest is expensed
as accrued unless it is eligible to be
capitalised (see note 2(w)).
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(u)

Revenue and other income
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with
customers (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(b)

Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when a
customer takes possession of and
accepts the goods.

Building management

services income

Building management services
income is recognised over the
relevant period in which the services
are rendered.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations and
related services is recognised when
the relevant services are provided.

Revenue from other sources and
other income

(a)

Rental income from

operating leases

Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted
are recognised as an integral part of
the total rental income, over the term
of the lease. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are
earned.

Dividends
Dividend income is recognised in
profit or loss on the date on which
the Group's right to receive payment
is established.
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(Continued)

(u) Revenue and other income
(Continued)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and
other income (Continued)

(c)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using
the effective interest method. The
"effective interest rate” is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset
to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. In calculating interest
income, the effective interest rate
is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset (when the asset
is not credit-impaired). However, for
financial assets that have become
credit-impaired subsequent to initial
recognition, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset. If the asset is
no longer credit-impaired, then the
calculation of interest income reverts
to the gross basis.
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2

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u) Revenue and other income
(Continued)
(ii) Revenue from other sources and
other income (Continued)

(d) Government grants
Government grants are recognised
in the consolidated statement of
financial position initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will
comply with the conditions attaching
to them. Grants that compensate
the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are
deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or
loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(e) Income from financial

guarantees issued

Income from financial guarantees
issued is recognised over the term of
the guarantees (see note 2(k)(ii)).

(v) Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of
Group companies at the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions.
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(v)

Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate at
the reporting date. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured based
on historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated at the exchange rate at the date of
the transaction. Foreign currency differences are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into
Renminbi at the exchange rates at the reporting
date. The income and expenses of foreign
operations are translated into Renminbi at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised
in OCIl and accumulated in the translation
reserve, except to the extent that the translation
difference is allocated to NCI.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)

Translation of foreign currencies
(Continued)

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its
entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve related to
that foreign operation is reclassified to profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
On disposal of a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount
of the exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation that have been attributed to
the NCI shall be derecognised, but shall not
be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary
but retains control, then the relevant proportion
of the cumulative amount is reattributed to
NCI. When the Group disposes of only part of
an associate or joint venture while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the
relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.
Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.
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(x)

Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets, or disposal Group
comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as
held for sale if it is highly probable that they will
be recovered primarily through sale rather than
through continuing use.

Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally
measured at the lower of their carrying amount
and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment
loss on a disposal group is allocated first to
goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and
liabilities on a pro-rata basis, except that no loss
is allocated to deferred tax assets, employee
benefits assets, financial assets (other than
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures) and investment properties, which
continue to be measured in accordance with the
Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held for sale or
held for distribution and subsequent gains and
losses on remeasurement are recognised in profit
or loss.

Once classified as held for sale, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment are
no longer amortised or depreciated, and any
equity-accounted investee is no longer equity
accounted.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y)

Related parties

(a)

A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the
Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of

the following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The entity and the Group are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or
an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.
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(Continued)

(y)

Related parties (Continued)
(Continued)

(b)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person

are those family members who may be

expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(z) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated
financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management
for the purposes of allocating resources to,
and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION
CURRENCY

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
functional currency of the Company and its Hong
Kong subsidiaries is HK dollars ("HK$"). The functional
currency of the Group's PRC subsidiaries is Renminbi
("RMB"). As the major operations of the Group are
within the PRC, the Group determined to present its
consolidated financial statements in RMB.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
standards which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2024. None of the new and
amendments were adopted in these financial
statements. These developments include the following
which may be relevant to the Group.

BE-ZE-_WE+=H
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Effective for accounting
periods beginning on
or after

RIS BHHHEE
et BEER

Amendment to HKAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange

Rate: Lack of Exchangeability

BB EAE215 (BT AR) —EXEeH & R L%
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

1 January 2025

—E-_RF—H—H
1 January 2026

BEMBREENFIREETR (BFTA) — 2R T A BEMAENER —E-RF—-A—H

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

FEVHHRELEANSHEANFERE-F11E

HKFRS 18, Presentatlon and Disclosure in Financial Statements

ERMBHmEERE18H - M IEHRROETFKE

HKFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures
BV BHREERNB19N - EQLRMEENNE AR HE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BEMBMEENEI105 R BB GTHERE285 (BETA)
—REEHHBENAXEERACHENEELRERERA

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7,
Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments
The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the recognition
and derecognition for financial asset and financial
liability and add an exception which permits an entity
to deem a financial liability to be discharged before
the settlement date if it is settled in cash using an
electronic payment system if, and only if certain
conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the
assessment of whether the contractual cash flows of
a financial asset are consistent with a basic lending
arrangement. The amendments specify that an entity
should focus on what an entity is being compensated
for rather than the compensation amount. Contractual
cash flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable that is
not a basic lending risk or cost. The amendments state
that, in some cases, a contingent feature may give rise
to contractual cash flows that are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement both before and after the
change in contractual cash flows, but the nature of
the contingent event itself does not relate directly to
changes in basic lending risks and costs. Furthermore,
the description of the term "“non-recourse” is
enhanced and the characteristics of “contractually
linked instruments” are clarified in the amendments.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7,
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
(Continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in respect
of investments in equity instruments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income
are amended. In particular, entities are required to
disclose the fair value gain or loss presented in other
comprehensive income during the period, showing
separately those related to investments derecognised
during the reporting period and those related to
investments held at the end of the reporting period.
An entity is also required to disclose any transfers of
the cumulative gain or loss within equity related to
the investments derecognised during the reporting
period. In addition, the amendments introduce the
requirements of qualitative and quantitative disclosure
of contractual terms that could affect the contractual
cash flow based on a contingent event not directly
relating to basic lending risks and cost.

The Group has various subsidiaries operating in
jurisdictions where the electronic payment systems
are not instantaneous. Upon the application of the
amendments, the Group will apply the exception
to derecognise financial liabilities settled via such
electronic payment systems when the payment
instruction is initiated. On the other hand, for
the settlement by the subsidiaries’ customers
via electronic settlement systems, the Group can
only derecognise the financial assets when cash is
deposited in the bank accounts of the subsidiaries.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BE-ZE_-_NF+=H
=St+—-HLEFECHEMEN
AREMWIER FERI K2
BURERNEE (B)

BERNBRELERFERRET
R(EBITAXR) —SRHIAEDE
MErEHNEE (8)

EEVBRELENFETRETFEARAR
REEIREMGERENBEETAR
EMHRBEEROKEBRI - BARBRGH BX
ERGCHHARBEEEMES KE+T 2
REMARERSEEBR X DR BT ER
& HA ) R B 3R E B4R B A B A0 B 3 5 1)
AFENKRERBENTE) EREFTHE
EREHEER R ENOREMSIENE
SARNRBESKNBROEE B HN &
AIBIATHRAEEEERMEEFM
TEESRERNEERBRMKAN G L
BensngtmettmEmEke

AREAEE S RN ET LN R I
BN DA E BB SN B AR - 7
BEFETE ERHESTHE A%
046 5% 73 1 51 5 T2 DA BR 1R TE B 1B 3 5
BT XN RARANSBAE S HE
RHBARNEFSEBETHERMET
HHEOER ARBETERS AN E
ARRTEFE S TRERREBARE -



POSSIBLE IMPACT OF
AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
(Continued)

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure

in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS, while carrying forward
many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit
or loss; provide disclosures on management-
defined performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS
7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of Cash
Flows and HKAS 33, Earnings per Share are also made.

The application of the new standard is expected to
affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
accounting judgements:

Critical judgement in applying policies
The following is the critical judgement, apart from
those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group's accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date; otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the buyer obtains
the control of the completed property. The Group
may not change or substitute the property unit or
redirect the property unit for another use due to the
contractual restrictions with the customer and thus
the property unit does not have an alternative use
to the Group. Significant management’s judgments
were involved in determining whether there is an
enforceable right to payment which depends on the
terms of sales contract and the interpretation of the
applicable laws governing the sales contracts. The
Group obtained legal counsel opinion regarding
the enforceability of the right to payment for sales
contracts. Management uses judgments in interpreting
the applicable laws, based on legal counsel opinion,
to identify sales contracts with right to payment and
those without such right.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Estimated net realisable value of
properties under development and held

for sale

Management reviews the net realisable value of
the Group's properties under development and
held for sale with reference to its estimated costs
to completion, intended use and current market
environment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets exceeds its net realisable value. Appropriate
write-down to estimated net realisable value is
recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.

In determining whether write-down of properties
under development and held for sale is required, the
Group takes into consideration the intended use of
the properties, the estimated costs to completion, the
current market environment, the estimated market
value of the properties and/or the present value of
future cash flows expected to receive. Write-down
is recognised based on the higher of estimated
future cash flows and estimated market value. If the
market environment/circumstances or estimated costs
to completion changes significantly, resulting in a
decrease in the net realisable value of these properties
interest, additional write-down may be required. As
at 31 December 2024, the total carrying amounts of
properties under development and held for sale are
RMB125,489,623,000 (2023: RMB134,402,199,000) net
of accumulated impairment loss of RMB1,959,766,000
(2023: RMB1,383,847,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimated impairment of loan
receivables and trade and other

receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group used judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the credit
loss calculation, based on the past 3 years, existing
market conditions and forward looking estimates at
the end of each reporting period. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amounts of loan receivables and
trade and other receivables are RMB176,560,000
(2023: RMB196,030,000) (net of allowance for credit
loss of RMB19,072,000 (2023: RMB19,072,000)) and
RMB5,477,695,000 (2023: RMB4,984,022,000) (net of
allowance for credit loss of RMB273,288,000 (2023:
RMB188,230,000)), respectively. More details are given
in notes 7(b), 26 and 27.

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties

Investment properties were revalued as at 31
December 2024 based on the appraised market value
by independent professional valuer. Such valuations
were based on certain assumptions, which are subject
to uncertainty and might materially differ from the
actual results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment

properties (Continued)

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial
and non-financial assets and liabilities utilises market
observable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs
used in determining fair value measurements are
categorised into different levels based on how
observable the inputs used in the valuation technique
utilised are (the “fair value hierarchy”):

o Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for
identical items (unadjusted);

° Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs
other than Level 1 inputs;

. Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived
from market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is
based on the lowest level of the inputs used that has a
significant effect on the fair value measurement of the
item. Transfers of items between levels are recognised
in the period they occur.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar properties. In the absence of
such information, the amount is determined within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. The valuers
have relied on the income capitalisation approach or
the direct comparison approach. The fair value derived
from income capitalisation approach is based upon
estimates of future results and a set of assumptions
specific to each property to reflect its cashflow profile,
while the direct comparison approach considers the
recent prices of similar properties with adjustments
to reflect the difference in characteristics of the
properties.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment
properties (Continued)

Details of the estimates and assumptions have been
disclosed in note 16.

The carrying amount of investment properties at
31 December 2024 was RMBS8,676,752,000 (2023:
RMB8,917,152,000).

PRC enterprise income tax and deferred

taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland
China. As a result of the fact that certain matters
relating to the income taxes have not been confirmed
by the local tax bureau, objective estimate and
judgment based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies are required
in determining the provision of income taxes to be
made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have impact on the income tax and
tax provisions in the period in which the differences
realise.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in Mainland China. The
provision of LAT is based on management’s best
estimates according to the understanding of the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws
and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject
to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects.
The Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and
payments with the tax authorities for certain property
development projects. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to owners of the
Company through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debt, which includes the asset-backed securities, bank
and other borrowings, and note payable disclosed in
notes 33, 34 and 35, lease liabilities disclosed in note
18, bank balances, deposits and cash, and total equity,
which comprises issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated profits and non-controlling interests.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share
buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt.
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6 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 6
(Continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total asset-backed securities,
bank and other borrowings, note payable and lease
liabilities less bank balances, deposits and cash. Total
capital is calculated as “total equity”, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position, plus net
debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023
were as follows:
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RZBEERBELERMT:

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREFIT

Bank and other borrowings (note 34) RITREMEE 46,201,106 54,720,354

Note payable (note 35) FET =58 (HM15E35) 24,253,000 19,175,000

Asset-backed securities (note 33) BEERFZS (MH3E33) - 588,000

Lease liabilities (note 18) HEEE (KE18) 25,238 63,498
Less: Bank balances, deposits and B RITREE TR

cash (note 32(a)) He (H7F32(a)) (34,507,500) (31,631,917)

Net debt B FEE 35,971,844 42,914,935

Total equity % 4 42 2R 46,547,310 45,160,633

Total capital BB 82,519,154 88,075,568

Gearing ratio BEBMELE 44% 49%

2-| POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 SRMIBARERRER

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) EM T EDYE
TRITeEMEEMBENREE:

The following table shows the carrying amount
of financial assets and liabilities:

2024 2023
—E-mEF =
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABRZ
through profit or loss TREE 785,231 713,048
Financial assets at amortised cost REIEKEFTEZ
TREE
— Loan receivables — BER 176,560 196,030
— Trade and other receivables — EWE S MR EMEER 5,163,833 4,795,442
— Amounts due from associates — FEUEE E R RIFRIE 619,885 758,277
- Amounts due from joint ventures — ElWEETERE 4,446,368 4,285,403
— Amounts due from non-controlling — JEURHTE R FIFEE
shareholders of subsidiaries % f% 3 5808 3,356,816 2,345,171
- Pledged bank deposits — BERRITER 164,147 226,443
— Bank balances, deposits and cash —RITETF FRAERE 34,507,500 31,631,917
Financial liabilities cRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised costs X #HK AT 2 2 & &
aE
- Trade and other payables — ERE S REARR 24,078,607 29,249,843
— Asset-backed securities — BEERES - 588,000
- Property rental deposits —EHeES 85,681 83,234
— Amounts due to associates — BB EARRIE 1,761,342 1,110,739
— Amounts due to joint ventures — ENEETERE 925,353 992,316
— Amount due to the ultimate holding — & & &4 & A A FUIE
company 7,099 7,554
— Amount due to an intermediate — B — A AR
holding company NRIFRIE 2,792 2,792
— Amount due to a fellow subsidiary — — FEfF— & [E X K B
NRFRIA 485 485
- Amounts due to non-controlling — FETFT B & B 3E 1R
shareholders of subsidiaries I R RIE 3,723,788 4,284,477
- Bank and other borrowings — RITREMEER 46,201,106 54,720,354
- Note payable — ERER 24,253,000 19,175,000
- Lease liabilities —HERE 25,238 63,498
— Loan from a fellow subsidiary — —EREKBARER - 180,000

RIUEXEBHER DA
ZEMFFR
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

21

objectives and policies

Exposure to market risks (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk arises in the normal course of
the Group’s business. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group's activities expose it primarily to the
financial risks of changes in foreign currency
rates, interest rates and equity security prices.
Market risk exposures are further measured by
sensitivity analysis. There has been no significant
change to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk. Details of each type of market risks are
described as follows:

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk refer to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and the PRC. The functional currency
of the Company and its subsidiaries are
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and Renminbi
("RMB"). The Group is exposed to currency
risk arising from fluctuations on foreign
currencies against the functional currencies
of the Group entities.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

7

TRTARVBRARERE
(%)

(b) MBEREBEEEERRE

AEEEREEGBRTEETS
Rk (B8R R A EER R
ERER) FERRERBHE R
B o BB 2 F AR 2 BRRIR S0
ToEEEEEREE EMER A
BRAUAKAMMEEEEHE-

™ 5 & b

AEEZEGEIEmMHES FI X
EBRAZBLFEREDH ZWHER -
FABREDIMETE -
AEBEEH T HEARIEEER
AERRzTALTEBERES X

5 R —

BEmZRARFBEALT

() EHEER

E¥RBREERMTANARE
EARKRERAREREE
Rk AEET2EDE
[ap=ih S VNI = NG
MR E®=RET([ET])
BARE(TARE]) A&
BAZEHARESERYEE

BB SME R B R o



7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

For the Group’s PRC subsidiaries whose
functional currency is RMB, the balance of
foreign currency denominated monetary
assets or liabilities is not significant as
of 31 December 2024 and 2023 and
accordingly the Group does not anticipate
that there is significant exposure of foreign
exchange risk.

Since Hong Kong dollars is being pegged
to United States dollars ("US$"), material
fluctuations in exchange rates of Hong
Kong dollars against US$ are remote.

The Group currently does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against
its exposure to currency risk. The
management manages its currency risk by
closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rate and consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

E%IE&M%@@%E

(b) MBEAMEEEEREE

(&)

™5
(i)

BB (&)

R (8)

MRS BB EBRFH
NeEEBAEARE HEZ
EZEFRZZEZ=F+=
A=1+—R IINE#HENEE
EESBBEEHKITER K
I AEEBEHE T HIRE
RONE R -

BB T EETAS BT
ETEXRHRARRBDOES
1R 48 o
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22

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 =T ARMKEREERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (8)
(Continued)
(b) Financial risk management BREREEEERBEE
objectives and policies (Continued) (&)
Market risk (Continued) miEERE (8)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) BEERRR(E)
For the Group’s Hong Kong subsidiaries BARAEEEENE QR EE
whose functional currency is HK$, the E¥RBIT TRHFIAEH
following table details the Group's RBEHREAEBERIEE
exposure at the end of the reporting BN EEINE 2 D #R
period to currency risk arising from BEXREMELE ZERE
recognised assets or liabilities ot 2ME - E g E 5
denominated in a currency other than the ARBZ2%3] W ERAFRAH
functional currency of the entity to which BENEIE R0 H - TN RIEK G
they relate. For presentation purposes, INEBE B RRIRENAREE
the amounts of the exposure are shown 2 EEERE-
in Renminbi, translated using the spot
rate at the year end date. Differences
resulting from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations
into the Group's presentation currency are
excluded.
Exposure to
foreign currencies
(expressed in Renminbi)
S [ B
(MAR®IIR)
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Renminbi ARY
Bank balances, deposits and cash  $R{T&F TR KR & - 1
Short-term loans to subsidiaries BYHBARZEH
L E N 7,562,752 7,563,271
Gross exposure arising from EEREEMEEZ
recognised assets and [\ 48 R
liabilities 7,562,752 7,563,272

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 =T ARMKERERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ()
(Continued)
(b) Financial risk management BERREEEEREE
objectives and policies (Continued) (%)
Market risk (Continued) miEER (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EERR(E)
The following table indicates the TRIIRMAEERRE R
approximate change in the Group's profit T ¥ 8 K [ by o) o 8 [ R R0
after tax and accumulated profits that ZALBEHE  AEEKRMN
would arise if foreign exchange rates to 1& % M & REHE N 2 B4 &
which the Group has significant exposure (R FTA H R B 8 75
at the end of the reporting period had TE) - BRE D T RE I
changed at that date, assuming all other MIEXEHERNEMHAEE
risk variables remained constant. The R & B R R A I [ $ HME &
sensitivity analysis assumes that the change eV emITE-
in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Group which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period.
2024 2023
—E-mE ZEC-=F
Increase/ Increase/
Appreciation/ (decrease) in Appreciation/ (decrease) in

(depreciation) profits after tax
in foreign and accumulated

(depreciation) in  profits after tax

foreign exchange and accumulated

exchange rate profits rate profits

BRBL IR BBt 1% 8 A

SEER SE-S Pl M I REFHER

FE/ (RE) 2/ (AY) AE/ () g/ (Rd)

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETT

Renminbi AR 5% 315,745 5% 315,767
(5%) (315,745) (5%) (315,767)

RMNEXEEERAF
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to amounts due from/
to related parties, pledged bank deposits,
fixed-rate bank and other borrowings,
asset-backed securities and note payable
(see notes 19, 20, 31, 32, 33, 34 and 35
for details of these balances). The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable
rates. Currently, the Group does not have
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate
risk should the need arise.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates
on financial liabilities are detailed in
the liquidity risk management section
of this note. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Loan Prime Rate
("LPR"), Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR"”) and benchmark rate in
the PRC arising from the Group’s HK$
and RMB borrowings. Loan Prime Rate
is the prevailing lending interest rate
promulgated by People’s Bank of China
being 3.10% (2023: 3.45%) per annum.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to amounts
due from/to related parties with variable
interest rates, loan receivables, bank
balances and variable-rate bank and other
borrowings (see notes 27(a), 31, 32 and 34
for details of these balances, bank balances
and borrowings).

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to
interest rates for both derivatives and non-
derivative instruments at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of asset and liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis points increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2024 would
decrease/increase by RMB10,418,000
(2023: RMB37,259,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its variable-rate bank and
other borrowings and bank balances.

TRTARVBRARERE
(%)

R EEEEREE
(%)
miEEE (&)

(ii)

A= (8)
REBAZEFREU R
MEEALTRIE  ERER
RITHET LFEFRBITRE
mEE (BEZE&EF R
%éﬁ&%%?Z#%ﬁ%&ﬁw
F£27(a) 31 32K%34) MR
i//lu%ﬂﬁ‘_ﬂk

B IT
ATEERED T DERITER
FITETARBERRZA R
H&fEOﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%Bﬁ
RN BE R Z RWEE E M
*E%E%@%%%iZ@
HemEEZERABRALER
) 2 L B By - R ASOME R B 2
BRCERKREEEHNERA
SN A R

sl F & £ AT B501E & 2
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rEBBEZ_ZT_NF+ =
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
arising from its investment in financial
assets at FVPL. Other than unquoted
securities held for strategic purposes,
all of these investments are listed. The
management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price
risk is mainly concentrated on listed equity
instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.
In addition, the Group has appointed a
special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

All of the Group’s unquoted investments
are held for long term strategic purposes.
Their performance is assessed at least bi-
annually against performance of similar
listed entities, based on the limited
information available to the Group,
together with an assessment of their
relevance to the Group’s long term
strategic plans.

22 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 SRMIBARERRER
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (&)
(Continued)

BEREBREEREEERBE

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iii) Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure
to equity price risks at the end of the
reporting period.

If the prices of the respective equity
instruments had been 5% higher/lower:

Profits after tax and accumulated profits
would increase/decrease by RMB42,000
(2023: RMBA47,000) for the Group as a
result of the changes in fair value of listed
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its trade and other receivables, cash deposits
with banks, amounts due from associates, joint
ventures and non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries and loan receivables.

The carrying amounts of trade and other
receivables, bank deposits, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and loan receivables
represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to financial assets.
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m%nm<a
(i) EmEXRRERR (8)
HE ST
LATQQ@E AT Th R A SR H
AETEBZEREERRRE
=

WEBRETAZE®R LR T
[£5% :

AEBZHEBRERINREER
FToE R A R AR
42,000t (ZE=-_=F: AR
#47,00000) - THEARIZ A
TEﬁMaﬁaZiﬁ%%ﬂéfizz
N ERAEE

FERR
AEEHEEBERKE S REM
ﬁE?%ﬁEﬁﬁ@ﬁ%vﬁ%Hﬂﬁ%ﬂ
BB EDEMNE N R IRE R
RREREREFTNEERR -

FEWE 5 R EMERR - RITHER &
WitENE - BEEEMNE QA
FEIE Hxﬂxﬁmlﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂﬁgﬁz,ﬁ&ﬁ
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁ R K

=&
I:/\

RAUEEEWHRAR
Tz-margy 229



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
B

B} ¥ ¥k R BY 5

31 December 2024
—E-mFE+-A=+—H

7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

22

objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

To manage this risk, bank deposits are mainly
placed with state-owned financial institutions
and reputable banks which are all high-credit-
quality financial institutions. The management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to

for determination of credit limits,

ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual
trade debt at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses
In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider

are made for irrecoverable amounts.

the Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk, with exposure spread over a large
number of counterparties and customers. For
other receivables, management makes periodic
collective assessments as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement
records and past experience and forward-looking
information. The directors of the Company
believe that there is no material credit risk
inherent in the Group's outstanding balance of
other receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks
with high credit ratings, the Group does not
have any other significant concentration of credit
risk.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of, a financial asset and
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It
considers available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. Especially the
following indicators are incorporated:

. internal credit rating;
J external credit rating;
o actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligations;

o actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of the debtors; and

J significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the debtors,
including changes in the payment status of
debtors in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the debtors.

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provision for trade receivables.
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss
allowance provision was determined as follows.
The ECL below also incorporated forward
looking information (e.g. outlook of property

7 &€@MIAR

==
=]
&)

(

ny

Bt %5 | B i R

HERKREEEERREK
(#%&)

FERR (&)
R-E-MR-FT-=Z#F+-A
=t+—A BEREETOTUT
EHEEBATEE T ABEER
(Pl EmBHER) -

market).
2024 —E-mE
0-90 90 days
Trade receivables B E S EM Current days or above Total
B 0Z£90k 90KRHMULE a5
Expected credit loss rate ~ FBHI{Z EEIEX 0% 0% 23%
Gross carrying amount REAE
(RMB’000) (ARETT) 187,945 16,192 318,911 523,048
Loss allowance provision — E5iE# &
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) (53) (59) (71,892) (72,004)
2023 —B-=f
0-90 90 days
Trade receivables EWE SRR Current days or above Total
ENER 0£90K 90KM E A%
Expected credit loss rate ~ TAHE EEIER 0% 1% 13%
Gross carrying amount RHEAE
(RMB’000) (AR®TT) 82,605 23,720 234,273 340,598
Loss allowance provision — [E1E& &
(RMB’000) (ARETT) (285) (223) (31,449) (31,957)

22

Expected loss rate are based on actual loss
experience over the past 3 years. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between
economic conditions during the period over
which historical data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management
objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Movements in the expected credit loss allowance
in respect of trade receivables during the year
are as follows:

E%I\ R Bt %5 L B ' 2B
(&

MEEBREEEEREE
(&)

8RR (&)

AEFRNE SEREREEHA
BEHEHERMT

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT

At 1 January m—H—8
Impairment loss recognised MR EE R
Reversal of impairment loss BERERSE

At 31 December W+—A=+—81

As at 31 December 2024, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables was
RMB523,048,000 (2023: RMB340,598,000) and
the expected credit loss allowance to loss was
RMB72,004,000 (2023: RMB31,957,000). The
Group made no write-off of trade receivables
during the year (2023: Nil).

Except for RMB5,227,935,000 (2023:
RMB4,831,654,000) of other receivables were
assessed by the management as individually
credit-impaired, for the residue other
receivables, the amounts due from associates,
joint ventures and non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries and loan receivables, the Group
considered the ECL impairment was insignificant
as there have been continuous payments with
no history of default and there have not been a
significant change in credit quality. In the opinion
of the management, it is not probable that
default payment would result and accordingly,
the Group credit risk in this respect is remote.

31,957 26,805
49,070 11,126
(9,023) (5,974)
72,004 31,957

RZZE_NFF+—_A=+—H [
WESERNEEREAARE
523,048,000t (ZE - =F: AR
#340,598,0007T) - MEHEEE
EREEE AR ARK72,004,000T
2= =%: AR%31,957,000
TC) o AN S B 5 1A 0 4 B S R U &
SGER(ZEZ=F:8]) -

B HE o R AR K
5,227,935,000c (ZE = =%F: A
R #4,831,654,00070 ) # & 32 [E =F
HAEBANEEREN 8T EffE
WERFR - BB & N A AEER
BB A Rl IEIE AR AR R 5 Iﬁwgzru&
BRI AR AEEEFEWK
*E%ﬁLiqiEﬁHTD,\Eﬁlﬁﬁﬁ
''''''' B MAEBERATEHEEESE
BETTEX-BEERAET KA
REBENRELN R AEETELLT
HHEERBRTK-

RAMNEBEXEEBR AT
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 ERMIARMBRRERE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT &)

(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management b) BHEEAKMEEEERBKE
objectives and policies (Continued) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR (B&)
Movements in the expected credit loss allowance RFEHEMERERFEREERBIE
in respect of other receivables during the year BEOHZEERNOT

are as follows:

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

At 1 January Hn—A—H 156,273 89,846
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE 46,744 70,292
Reversal of impairment loss B ol R E 18 (1,733) (3,865)
At 31 December R+—_HA=+—H 201,284 156,273
Liquidity risk mENE SR

The Group has net current assets amounting RZZE-_WE+_A=+—H K
to approximately RMB79,321,844,000 (2023: EERERDEEFAENARE
RMB77,146,991,000) at 31 December 2024. 79,321,844,000;c (ZE_=4F: A

R#77,146,991,0007T) °

In the management of the liquidity risk, the REBRBESRRBRIE A&H
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash ERRHEFHReLERRENER
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the BRBARZKF UXNAEH
management to finance the Group's operations HEMMT URBERERENDZ
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash TE - BEEBERRITRHEMEE
flows. The management monitors the utilisation ZRE LNERFEERROZH
of bank and other borrowings and ensures E °

compliance with loan covenants.
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7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(b) Financial risk management

objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group relies on bank and other borrowings
as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31
December 2024, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
RMB12,248,491,000 (2023: RMB23,891,591,000).
Details of which are set out in note 34.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
loans with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

7

ﬁ%ﬁglﬂﬁﬁﬁ%@[‘ﬁ"éﬁ
(#&

(b) MBEAMEEEEREE

(&)
RBEEERE (F)

AEBERBROTLEMBEER

TERESRRE- R _F
F+-_A=Z=+—B KA5£EH
FARTERBREDN A A

(=
Lt
Z R
R %

12,248,491,000c (T - =4 : A
R #23,891,591,0007T) - BB 15

B AMIFE34 -

TRANAKEZ SR AEZ %
BHMHR-ZXDIREBEERARLZ
AFBERSMEARNEE AR E K
BERZEFHHAEERH AR
mE MAREREERKZRT
EXBIARE ZHR TwRT
BETEREMN TSR -EMm3kF
TESBRABZIHANERBE
ZEFAYME - ZREIAFNE

MAREBRERE-

RABEXEEMBRAQ A
— T PUEER
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 ERMIARMBRERRERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (&)
(Continued)
(b) Financial risk management b) BHEEAKMEEEERBKE
objectives and policies (Continued) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESERR (&)
Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective o less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-5 years  Over 5 years cash flows Amount
nETH  BERS KBRS
EBAE  HWN-F  -BEE  EENE  FBEAE EAE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  AR®TRT ARMTR  AR%TR  AR%TR

2024 —gomE
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTESRER
Trade and other payables EREAREMER 24,078,607 - - 24,078,607 24,078,607
Property rental deposits nERLRE 85,681 - - 85,681 85,681
Lease liabilities HERE 4.27% 14,564 11,981 - 26,545 25,238
Amount due to the ultimate ERGERERAFRE
holding company
- interest-free —TiE 7,099 - - 7,099 7,099
Amount due to an intermediate ER-EPEERADNE
holding company
- interest-free —TiE 2,792 - - 2,792 2,792
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary ER-BRZNEARNE
- interest-free — T3 485 - - 485 485
Amounts due to associates ERBERATE
- interest-free —FitE 1,689,342 - - 1,689,342 1,689,342
- fixed rate —BEEfE 3.00% 74,160 - - 74,160 72,000
Amounts due to non-controlling JERTHEA A ERRRFE
shareholders of subsidiaries
- interest-free —Tie 2,446,897 - - 2,446,897 2,446,897
- fixed rate —EENE 5.73% 1,350,055 - - 1,350,055 1,276,891
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAELENE
- interest-free — T3 925,353 - - 925,353 925,353
Bank and other borrowings B REMEE
- fixed rate —EEfx 3.94% 3,063,484 1,975,728 1,461,560 6,500,772 5,971,750
- variable rate — 3Ef|x 3.12% 10,505,325 25,002,020 7,805,647 43,312,992 40,229,356
Note payable ARES
- fixed rate —EEfx 3.40% 10,471,318 15,661,642 - 26,132,960 24,253,000
54,715,162 42,651,371 9,267,207 106,633,740 101,064,491
Financial guarantee issued in respect REEREARLZBBER
of credit facilities
- to the Group maximum amount —REBFERRRE
guaranteed (note 43) RE (M5E43) 23,496,301 = - 23,496,301 =
- to associates and joint ventures —BERARGERE
maximum amount guaranteed FERSEERE
(note 43) (Fi5E43) 3,547,951 - - 3,547,951 -

23 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 SRIARBKRRERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (&)

(Continued)

MEERRE
(%)
RBESRE (&)

(b) Financial risk management (b) BEEEREXEK
objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Weighted
average  On demand Total
effective  or less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1-5years  Over 5 years cash flows amount
METH RESS ABES
ERFIE DR—F —Z8% AFNE neRR FHE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR
2023 —BZE
Non-derivative financial liabilities FTEeRARE
Trade and other payables EREAREMER 29,249,843 - - 29249843 29,249,843
Asset-backed securities BERRES 3.40% 607,992 - - 607,992 588,000
Property rental deposits NERERSE 83,234 - - 83,234 83,234
Lease liabilities HEERE 4.54% 26,649 40,173 - 66,822 63,498
Amount due to the ultimate ERGRERARNE
holding company
- interest-free —Tit8 7,554 - - 7,554 7,554
Amount due to an intermediate ER-FEPEERARHE
holding company
- interest-free —Tit8 2,792 - - 2,792 2,792
Amounts due to a fellow subsidiary ER—-HRZRBRANE
- interest-free —FiE 485 - - 485 485
Amounts due to associates EREBERRAIRE
- interest-free —Ti8 1,110,739 - - 1,110,739 1,110,739
Amounts due to non-controlling ERHBRAFERRERY
shareholders of subsidiaries
- interest-free — T8 1,408,440 - - 1,408,440 1,408,440
- fixed rate —EEfE 5.46% 3,032,967 - - 3,032,967 2,876,037
Amounts due to joint ventures ERAELENE
- interest-free — T4tE 893,316 - - 893,316 893,316
- fixed rate —EEfE 4.35% 103,307 - - 103,307 99,000
Bank and other borrowings FAREMEE
- fixed rate — EEfilx 4.24% 3,897,511 4,778,486 3,327,390 12,003,387 10,704,100
- variable rate — 3Ef% 3.85% 17,192,289 27,027,539 3,274,246 47,494,074 44,016,254
Note payable ERER
- fixed rate — EEfilx 3.60% 648,536 17,718,123 3,202,273 21,568,932 19,175,000
Loan from a fellow subsidiary -HRZHBRAAER
- interest-free E:) - 180,000 - 180,000 180,000
58,265,654 49,744,321 9,803,909 117,813,884 110,458,292
Financial guarantee issued in respect of REERARMZHBER
credit facilities
- to the Group maximum —AEEFERGRERE
amount guaranteed (note 43) (F343) 27,693,189 - - 27,693,189 -
- to associates and joint ventures —BERNARAECEMER
maximum amount guaranteed (note 43) FERERE (Mi43) 5,132,349 - - 5,132,349 -
RNEXEBBRARF

—F= u¢¢ﬁ
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 TRMIARMKEERERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (8&)
(Continued)
(c) Fair values (c) DRE
(i) Financial instruments measured i) UAAEFEZSHE
at fair value TH

RIEFEM GRS ERE3
SIRREFEIARAEN=

The following table presents the fair value
of financial instruments measured at the
end of reporting period on a recurring BEAREER RMERAER
basis, categorised into the three-level fair REFHEEFENERTIA
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, RAABEZINR TR 2R

AEMBENERNDZBUT
B AP R A BURH AT B
RIEEREBRREMERE

“Fair Value Measurement”. The level into
which a fair value measurement is classified
is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

= —aray

° Level 1 (highest level): fair values . EFE—R(mEFEH) F

measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments

Level 2: fair values measured using
quoted prices in active markets
for similar financial instruments, or
using valuation techniques in which
all significant inputs are directly
or indirectly based on observable
market data

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values
measured using valuation techniques
in which any significant input is not
based on observable market data

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

(c)

Fair values (Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments measured

at fair value (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the
finance manager performing valuations for
the financial instruments, including unlisted
equity securities which are categorised
into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
The team reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the audit committee. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in
fair value measurement is prepared by the
team at each interim and annual reporting
date, and is reviewed and approved by
the chief financial officer. Discussion of the
valuation process and results with the chief
financial officer and the audit committee
is held twice a year, to coincide with the
reporting dates.

7

ERMITAR

(&)
(c) AR
(i)

\

Bt %5 B i R

fE (&)

A REEz &
IR (E)

7K 5 8 5 37 o B A R A 4R A

Exyem T E(BEREAS
AAEERE=MZ2IELTE
REHF)ETHE - ZBEKE
BERERVEERERZES
WE-ZEBGREPHEFE
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FOBEEZ R E - FFW
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7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Fair values (Continued) (c) 2RE(E)
(i) Financial instruments measured (i) U2RnEFEZEH
at fair value (Continued) TH (&)
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the NR-_ZE-_NERKLR T - =
Group had following financial instruments TZA=+—HA - XEEUT
carried at fair value all of which are based TRMITAZUAAREBEERZE
on the Level 1 and Level 3 of the fair value —MRE=FFTEZARLEAN
hierarchy: B
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
R-B-ME+ZA=+—-BH
AREFEDEAR
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-Z-QOE
+=A
=+-8
WARE E—§ -t £=R
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBTR ARBT R AREBTR
Assets BE
Financial assets at BOREFAE
fair value through Wl ERERE
profit or loss
- Listed —km 1,011 1,011 - -
- Unlisted (Note) — 3k (FisE) 784,220 - - 784,220
785,231 1,011 - 784,220
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7

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 ERIANRBHEERERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT ()
(Continued)
(c) Fair values (Continued) (c) AR{E(E)
(i) Financial instruments measured (i) UADAEFEZSHE
at fair value (Continued) THE(%E)
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
R_B_=%+_A=t—HH
AREFHENRR
Fair value at
31 December
2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-F-=F
+=A
=+—H
MARE E—8 R E=4
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARETR
Assets BE
Financial assets at BLARERAR
fair value through nEHEE
profit or loss
- Listed — Lt 1,134 1,134 - -
- Unlisted (Note) — Je b (M) 711,914 - - 711,914
713,048 1,134 - 711,914
Note: The fair value of unlisted financial assets at fair Miz: RAREHARGZZIELTS

value through profit or loss was measured by
net asset value approach in which valuation
of underlying investments are based on non-

observable market data.

During the year ended 31 December 2024
and 2023, there were no transfers between
financial instruments in Level 1 and Level
2, or transfer into and out of Level 3. The
Group's policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at
the end of the reporting period in which
they occur.

MAEMAANBERAEEFE
AR HPEBRENGED
HER TR B E T 5 805 -

BE_Z-_WER-_T-_=F
+—ﬂ:+—5¢¢F £
BRE_HERMT AT E
Eﬂ%% %_&ﬁﬁkkﬁ
EHN -AEBHRKEZNEER
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170

RIUEXEBHER DA
ZEMFFR

237



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i © B 75 ik R BY 5%
31 December 2024
—E-mFE+-A=+—H

7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND 7 SRIARMERKRERE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (%&)
(Continued)
(c) Fair values (Continued) (c) ARE(E)
(i) Financial instruments measured (i) UAAREFEZERE
at fair value (Continued) TE(%E)
The movements during the period in HEZEE=RANEFEH
the balance of these Level 3 fair value BEHMEEINT
measurements are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —TE-=%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T ARET T

Unlisted equity securities: FELETIRAE % -
At 1 January W—B—H 711,914 641,983
Net change in fair value REERBHER

recognised in the profit or loss NAEEEFHE

during the year 72,306 69,931
At 31 December ®“+=—A=+—H” 784,220 711,914

(i) The fair values of financial (i) EMEERSHARS

assets and financial liabilities ZAREBEZEUTER
are determined as follows: Ex:

The fair values of financial assets with
standard terms and conditions and traded
on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted active bid prices
and ask prices respectively; and the fair
values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models
based on discounted cash flow analysis
using prices or rates from observable
current market transactions as input.

23 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of the net
amounts received and receivable from third parties,
net of value-added tax in the PRC. Disaggregation
of revenue from contracts with customers by major
products or service lines is set out as follows:

A

WATEREE =77 2 W R B URIE F R A
B (MEPEZEER) HXTBEMKL
RIGBAGEP BB AD BIAKRIT :

2024 2023
—E_E =4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFT T AREF T
Revenue from contracts with customers & BB 53R & %Al
within the scope of HKFRS 15 FISHEE AW
BEEEHHBA
Disaggregated by timing of RER WA -2 5
revenue recognition N
Point in time RE—RE
— Sales of properties — MEHEE 37,946,206 38,726,390
- Sales of goods —HEER 30,125 33,008
- Others — HAth 160,841 98,159
Over time R—BREER
— Income from hotel operations — BE&ZURA 364,625 376,940
- Building management services income — EBFEERKWA 1,206,264 1,206,072
Revenue from other sources outside ERUKEREER
the scope of HKFRS 15 F15REE I Y
H 4t 3R #Y A
— Rental income — el A 500,421 491,849
40,208,482 40,932,418

Detailed segmentation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of recognition, major products or
service line and geographical markets is disclosed in
note 50.

RERSE TEEMAMBELICET
BHEPANMBAZFMAE DN E
50 5% °
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24

REVENUE (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations as at year end date regarding
contracts for sales of properties and the expected
timing of recognising relevant revenue are as follows:

LONIE D

TREFEFEANGBGENER
MR 5 E%

RESERMEHESN I EENRE
WEENXZGERALBEREBRAD
EHREMT

2024 2023
—2omE —EI=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREF T
Amounts expected to be recognised 8 B 6 R WA K
as revenue: Sr:
- Within one year — —FR 36,502,102 31,373,197
— After one year — —Fi% 13,136,367 17,095,609

The Group has applied the practical expedient in
paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its hotel operations,
building management services income and sales
of goods such that the above information does
not include information about revenue from hotel
operations and sales of goods that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts for sales that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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OTHER GAINS, NET

9 HiblAFHE

2024 2023
—F-mEF —E-=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREF T
Loss on disposal of investment properties  HERE M EREE (18,869) (2,592)
Dividend income from financial assets at BEARBEFTABERN
fair value through profit or loss TREENREEA - 54
Exchange loss, net VE 5 B EFEEE (164,427) (168,258)
Forfeiture of deposits RIBRES 71,836 78,176
Government subsidy (Note) AT #E L (BTRE) 20,361 20,484
Interest income from banks HRITF B WA 401,660 410,033
Interest income from loans to associates ERTHBENREEN
A B WA 46,056 55,919
Interest income from loans to BERTEELEELEN
joint ventures F B YA 166,811 206,437
Interest income from amounts due from JE WS BT B A B FE T A
non-controlling shareholders PR R RIE E A Y
of subsidiaries M EMA 12,217 3,654
Compensation income HERA 26,233 -
Gain on derecognition of trade and RIEERE S R EAM
other payables FEAT BR B M 74,660 -
Gain on lease termination HEXIEMKE 865 141
Others H At 33,767 59,869
671,170 663,917
Note: All government subsidies received by the Group represent Mt AEBERIOAEBRHEBAHEEEEN

incentives provided to compensate for expenses or losses

already incurred or as immediate financial support, with no

future related costs and no association with the acquisition of

assets. As at the reporting date, all conditions attached to the

subsidies have been fully satisfied, and there are no unfulfilled

obligations in respect of these subsidies.

Xk EEMEROZBRIERNET B X
N RORAGAR AR B S E R R
RE R SHBAENMEGRTEETE
ERC BREHBETFERBITNET
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10 FINANCE COSTS 10 Bb&E A
2024 2023
—E-UE =
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

ARET T ARET T

Finance costs on interest bearing FFEEEREXAK

borrowings 2,799,792 3,213,896
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,921 2,608
Less: amounts capitalized B B AMEFRIA (1,218,342) (1,623,142)

1,583,371 1,593,362

Borrowing costs capitalisation during the year arose FRNERNMEZEER A RBFEEE-
from specific borrowings.
The capitalisation rate of borrowings was 3.66% (2023: BHE_T_NF+-_A=+—HILFE"
4.07%) for the year ended 31 December 2024. EBEEERILE R AB3.66% (T - =4

4.07%) ©
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11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 1M EEME

BIERERAIEN (5£622%F ) 55383(1)
BEAR (BEESFEZER) RO (F

Directors emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.

622) and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) are as follows:

Other emoluments

622GE)F _HEWEMNEEMEWT:

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme Total
Fees other benefits Bonuses  contributions  emoluments
HER BRER
He Hith gl A IS MemE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET ARETT AR¥TT ARET
2024 —E-mE
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Wan Yuging (Chairman) BT (ER) - 1,714 - 359 2,073
Hu Zaixin (Managing e (E3E85E)
Director) (Appointed on (RZZ-m%F
14 March 2024) ZRTHBEZE) - 1,375 - 256 1,631
Ye Liwen (Resigned on WRE(R-F-mF
30 September 2024) NA=ZTHEE) - 600 = 194 794
Independent Non-executive BIKHTES:
Directors:
Ip Chun Chung, Robert ERA(RZZ-mE
(Resigned on 22 May 2024) AE-t-HEM) 132 - - - 132
Fung Chi Kin BER 337 - - - 337
Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia RER 337 - - - 337
Wong Ka Lun 55 337 - - - 337
Ng Kim Lam (Appointed on REM(R-T_m%F
22 May 2024) RA-+-HEZA) 206 - - - 206
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
Chen Yuwen (Appointed on BEX(R-ZE==F
10 March 2023 and resigned “ATREZE:
on 21 February 2025)* R-BE-_RE
ZAZT-BEE) - - - - -
Total ) 1,349 3,689 - 809 5,847
RAMNEBEXEEBR AT 243
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11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 1M EEME (&)

(Continued)
Other emoluments
H#e
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme Total
Fees other benefits Bonuses  contributions  emoluments
Tek RINEN
ik EfiEH feiT B Henm
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETT ARBFTL ARETR ARETT
2023 —BC-=E
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Wan Yuging (Chairman) EFE(XR) - 3,480 - 270 3,750
Wang Jian (Managing Director) TH(EZEEE)
(Resigned on 3 November 2023) (R=B==F
T-A=A#§fT) - 2,942 - 243 3,185
Ye Liwen (Resigned on HHE(R-T-mEF
30 September 2024) MNAZTHEE) - 2,892 - 268 3,160
Independent Non-executive BUUTES:
Directors:
Ip Chun Chung, Robert ERB(RN_E-RF
(Resigned on 22 May 2024) ARZt-RE) 330 - - - 330
Leung Sau Fan, Sylvia PER 330 - - - 330
Wong Ka Lun EXMm 330 - - - 330
Fung Chi Kin BER 330 - - - 330
Non-executive Directors: FUTES:
Chen Yuwen (Appointed on BREX(R-Z-=%
10 March 2023 and resigned “A+REZE:
on 21 February 2025)* W-ZE-h&
ZRZ+-BEE)* - - - - -
Guo Jianquan (Resigned on PR2(M=F==F
10 March 2023)** “RtHEL) = - - - _ _
Total CE 1,320 9,314 - 781 11,415
\ The emoluments to Chen Yuwen are borne by the ultimate * RWEFER BRE XK G AR EEZEE
holding company of the Group for the both years. /NP
¥* The emoluments to Guo Jianquan are borne by the ultimate *x HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HILFE F&

holding company of the Group for the year ended 31 2SR AEEHKEIERD R AEE-

December 2023.

24 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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12

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS M EEME (B)

(Continued)

Notes: Ft3E -

(i) In each of the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, (i) HE-Z-NWFR-_TE-_=F+=-A=+—H
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as IEREFESF AEBEHEATMNESEZM
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a B & 1F 7 5% B AN A B0 0 A 7R &R B I Y 22D
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has SEBEE NEE T _MER_T_=F
waived any emoluments during each of the two years ended T A=+ -BUREAFEST HETEN
31 December 2024 and 2023. EEMBE -

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there (ii) HE-Z-_WNER-_Z-_=F+-A=+—H
were, no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of HFEFE TEUNARRES EFEHAEE
directors of the Company, their controlled body corporates RESHEEERAIRANER EERK
and their connected entities. Hithx 5o

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12 AE8BEFMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments AEEhEGReFMALR TE(ZZ

in the Group, none of them are directors (2023: one) —EF—R)RARRAERE (HMEH

of the Company whose emoluments are included in B EXHEEN) BB hR (ZT =%
the disclosure in note 11 above. The aggregate of the WE)&EEHMATHMSBERNT
emoluments in respect of the other five (2023: four)

highest paid individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
—BCOEF —E-=HF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET R AR¥ETTT

Salaries and other benefits e RAEMER 5,494 3,784

Bonuses TE4T 5,876 8,524

Retirement benefits scheme contributions  E K18 5 &4 3% 1,357 995

12,727 13,303

RABEXEEMBRAQ A
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31 December 2024
—E-mFE+-A=+—H

12 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12 AEBEEHFMAL (E)
(Continued)
The emoluments of the five (2023: four) highest paid hE(ZE=F:WB)&EaFMAL
individuals were within the following bands: BB BRI TRMER :
2024 2023
—E-EF —EC=F
Number of Number of
employee employee
EBEA™ BB A
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 T E
3,000,0007% 7T 5 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 T2
3,500,0007% 7T = -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 L&
4,000,000/ 7T - 4

24 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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13 PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

EXPENSE

Profit before income tax expense is arrived at after 123

charging/(crediting):

13 BRATGHIE A

N7
I

i )

PRSBRAXANaME MG, (FtA) -

2024 2023
“BEF —E-=%F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARE TR AR¥ETFTT
Staff costs BT KA
— directors’ emoluments (note 11) — EEZME (HE11) 5,847 11,415
— other staff costs — EHEME TR 998,625 1,097,339
— other staff’s retirement benefit — H M8 TRKEH
scheme contributions BEIATA 259,696 268,849
1,264,168 1,377,603
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEEZITE 37,792 43,616
Depreciation of property, plant and mE - -BERREZITE
equipment 156,342 190,757
Total depreciation e 194,134 234,373
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B &
- audit fee — & E 7,330 8,100
— disbursements — BR 600 600
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R AR T 2 FEKA 32,025,074 30,998,836
Loss on disposal of investment properties  HEREME 2 5B 18,869 2,592
Loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE - BEREEZ
and equipment &8 25,916 20,654
Impairment loss on other receivables /H\WZJEHKHE X2 BIEEE 46,744 70,292
Impairment loss on trade receivables JEWE ZERR Z A EE 49,070 11,126
Impairment loss on properties under ERF &T%T’Eiﬁ%%%»z
development and held for sale VERENEi=! 707,612 101,289
Reversal of impairment loss on H R AR S 2 M EEE
other receivables # 0] (1,733) (3,865)
Reversal of impairment loss on FEWE 5 R 2B IEEE
trade receivables # 0] (9,023) (5,974)
Reversal of impairment loss on properties ZERAP RIFIEHEDEZ
under development and held for sale BB B 18 B O] (136,336) (276,308)
Short term leases expenses EHAEMX 17,978 25,966
Low value leases expenses KEEHEME 374 547
Property rental income and building MEHREBAREFER
management services income, net of FRIE U A - HBR B R X
direct expenses of RMB546,926,000 AR #546,926,0007T
(2023: RMB539,083,000) (ZF-=F: AR¥%¥
539,083,0007T) (1,159,759) (1,158,838)
RINBEEEERAT 247
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31 December 2024
—E-mFE+-A=+—H

14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 14 FrEHEX
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Hong Kong Profits Tax HEENSH
— Current taxation — BV ERFR IR 20,600 18,890
— (Over)/under provision in prior years —BEFE (BEEE)
BESR (5) 9
20,595 18,899
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B (PTG
— Current taxation —BIEATR 18 1,088,210 1,157,693
— Under/(over) provision in prior years - BEFERETIR
(FBEEE) 74,943 (8,501)
1,163,153 1,149,192
Overseas Taxation NI
— Current taxation — BV EAFR IR 20,105 688
— Under provision in prior years —BEFEEETR - 995
20,105 1,683
PRC Withholding Income Tax B B TR0 PSR 3,086 -
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") A I (E
(ML IBER]) 951,868 1,239,293
2,158,807 2,409,067
Deferred taxation JRAE T IA (12,984) (8,878)
2,145,823 2,400,189

24 POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) based on the estimated assessable profit for
the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which
is a qualifying corporation under the two-tiered Profits
Tax rates regime. For that subsidiary, the first HK$2
million of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2024 is
taken into account a reduction granted by the Hong
Kong SAR Government of 100% of the tax payable
for the year of assessment 2023-2024 subject to a
maximum reduction of HK$3,000 for each business
(2023: a maximum reduction of HK$6,000 was granted
of 100% of the tax payable for the year of assessment
2022-2023 and was taken into account in calculating
the provision for 2023).

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25%
(2023: 25%) based on the estimated assessable profit
for the year.

Taxation for other overseas operations (including the
United Kingdom and Macau) is calculated at the local
prevailing rates.

Under the PRC EIT law, dividends received by
foreign investors from investment in foreign-invested
enterprises in respect of their profits earned since 1
January 2008 are subject to withholding tax of 5% to
10% unless reduced by treaty.

Certain PRC subsidiaries are also subject to LAT which
is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of properties, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditure
including costs of land use rights and development
and construction.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 40.

14

FrEsmx< ()

MBI 5L A F 55 B R T d A

B E16.5% (ZF = =% :16.5% ) &t
BoOMAREE B A BE RSB R AR

TREEBRARIRINZHE R A ER
Rt 3% F 89 #2,000,0007% T % Ft £8.25%
FRECOMRTHERE R R BEHE16.5%
FE

—E_NFNETENERHEBEH LT
BEHEERNR S _ZFF2_T_UF
ERBHFEREHRIBENI00%M 2 (&
MR Al &= % 8 A3,00087m) (=2

TEF B CFE T FERM
FEEAHEBNI100%E 2 &= 6% 58
B6,0008 T ERFTE S _=FE B
RETHE)

PRCERSRIREAFEE G ER
RSt MR T R25% ( —ZF =~ =4 :25% ) =t
ﬁo

HAb RN TS (B R E FORFT) o Bk
TR E BRI R E -

BIEFPBRSEMERE BRIFERKIGE
B BARIINEEER_TZTN\F— A
—HRERAERERIINBERECEER Y
BRI TR ZRE BB ME%E10%2 T8
o

ETHENERRRA#ZX LR ER
WHRIETI SR EFHER D (L EMEM

15 SR IER AT FOOR R 32 0 B AR L i AR A
M MR ER )R F30%E60%
ZRER R -

A FE B TR R 1 A M 140

RFNEBEHEEBBR QA
—EUFEFR
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POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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14 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 14 FrE#iBAX (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled FAMGHRAXEGEEaBERRTRAE
to the profit before income tax expense in the 0 5 2 Al v R AR 0T
consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —EC=5F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Profit before income tax expense B P15 B 5 2 A ) 2,241,637 4,032,097
Tax at PRC statutory tax rate of 25% =R BUEE B %E25%
(2023: 25%) (ZEZ=F:25%)
FFEEBIA 560,409 1,008,024
Tax effect of share of results of associates D HEEE N B E4EH)
MR E (29,871) 17,685
Tax effect of share of results of SMhEEEEEN
joint ventures MR E (17,542) 5,282
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A YERL 75 15 5 2 &Y
tax purpose msre 185,779 110,999
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBMBANT G2
tax purpose (153,366) (243,833)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ANERRIEEBHERN
MR E 837,343 594,944
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B 2 B R ERBIIAEE
previously not recognised BT R 2 (125,976) (107,697)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E b Bl A &AL E )
operating in other jurisdictions N NG SN o
W& (7,364) 20,651
Effect of LAT deductible for calculation FTEFTE R AT R i
of income tax purpose HER T E (237,967) (309,823)
LAT T IRER 951,868 1,239,293
PRC Withholding Income Tax H B TR A0 PSR 3,086 -
Statutory tax concession EEBBRESR (152) (154)
Under/(over) provision in prior years BAFEREBETIR/
(BRI ) 74,938 (7,497)
Others H At 104,638 72,315
Income tax expense Frigfif 2 2,145,823 2,400,189




15 SRER

RAFE ARAEBRESRREES
B BN #F BN RE T BURRE

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
Company for the year is based on the following data:

2024 2023
“EWF —To=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥ETT
Earnings: B
Profit for the year attributable to RRRHEEANEBIEEA
owners of the Company bl 182,867 1,444,626
2024 2023
—E_OFE —_F-=
Number of shares: fRn &8 :

Weighted average number of ordinary ERERZF 2 B %17
shares in issue for the purposes of TR e 8

basic earnings per share 3,821,183,118 3,821,183,118

Basic and diluted earnings per share BREREES R
(RMB cents per share) (BRARES) 4.79 37.81

There were no potential shares in existence as at 31
December 2024.

At 31 December 2023, the outstanding share options
(see note 38) were excluded from the diluted weighted
average number of ordinary shares calculation because
the exercise price of these options was higher than the
average market price for shares for 2023. The average
market value of the Company’s shares for the purpose
of calculating the dilutive effect of share options was
based on quoted market prices for the period during
which the options were outstanding.

Based on the above, diluted earnings per share for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 were the
same as the basic earnings per share.

HE_Z-_WNF+_A=+—H0 W&
EBERD -

RZBZ=F+ZA=+—H BR%E
RMARTEBRENTEESREMHR =
T_-_FNFOMGE A EEARE
SEMEFHERT T EBREZEERE (R
MiaE38) - ARNFTEBREEBREN AR
REE D ZFETETERBRE K
TEHENTISRE -

ARt B2 -_=FLK_ZT-_NF
+ - A=+—BUHFENEREZTER
HEREKRZFER -
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWM=E
2024 2023
—BoNmEF —FTo=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®BT T ARBTT
Level 3 fair value measurement F=HBAABERE

At beginning of the year FH) 8,917,152 9,666,939

Transfer from property, plant and EEWE BEKIEE
equipment (note 17) (Mi5E17) - 668
Transfer to properties held for sale HRFELEYE (34,871) (492,267)

Increase in fair value recognised in equity R EZFERHAAE
1 m - 7,432

Change in fair value recognised in RIEEFRERNAAE
profit or loss =) (66,691) (250,160)
Disposals He (141,718) (18,649)
Exchange adjustments bE 56 38 B 2,880 3,189
At end of the year FR 8,676,752 8,917,152
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16

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(Continued)

All of the Group's property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out on that date
by A A Property Services Limited, an independent
professional surveyor and property valuer not
connected with the Group. A A Property Services
Limited is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors, and has appropriate qualifications and
experiences in the valuation of properties in the
relevant locations. The valuation were determined
either on the basis of capitalisation of rental income
derived from existing tenancies or by reference to
comparable sales transactions as available in the
relevant market. The Group's property manager and
the chief financial officer have discussions with the
valuer on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results twice a year when the valuation is performed
for interim and annual financial reporting.

16 REWZE (E)

AEBEFRMERBELHERBARNRA
TREEABERENYE R HER
NABERAFE XD BARIMEREY
%0

REBEBNREMER_ZT_NMFR=T
TZFF+ A=+ HHMRAAENLER
VEEREMBEYEGMEMREMER
MAERAA (BAEEBEEE)ENZ
HREEET - BEMEBRMBR AR
BENEMEegs EEEEERLY
BB EETHENCER ZEETD
EREEEHENHERANERNE
EXEDEREBEME AN ELR
HEXHGMET AEEMEEBEARSE
EEBNTSE B R &4 M X (f B B B E 6D
HmEEREREELER  UER7H
MEEMBRE -
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16

25

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
(Continued)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties
measured at the end of the reporting period is
categorised as Level 3 of fair value hierarchy as

defined in HKFRS 13.

16 BEYWE (E)

RBEERRAENAEEREDEN L
REEIBR/BTEMBKR
PIRENAREBEERE=M-

&R 1357

The carrying amounts of investment properties REMENREEGE:
comprises:
2024 2023
—EBoNmEF —F-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTT
Ownership interests in leasehold IRIA T B EERE
investment property, carried at fair MEMBEER &
value, located at: NABEHEE:
- long-term leases in Hong Kong — REENRBHELY 122,760 141,960
— medium-term (10-50 years) land use — RHFE/FH (102
rights in the PRC 504 ) - b {5 A4 8,553,992 8,775,192
8,676,752 8,917,152

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWE (E)
(Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value FRAE=RLAAEFENEHR
measurements
Fair value as at  Valuation Significant Range or Relationship of unobservable
31 December 2024  techniques* bservable inputs weighted average inputs to fair value
R-B-mE
TZA=+-AH
DAE RERN EXTHERGAYE EERMETY TABRERAHBEAABNRE
RMB’000
ARBTL
Completed properties 122,760 Direct comparison Transaction price RMB19,864 The higher the transaction price,
in Hong Kong (2023: 141,960) EELE (RMB/square feet) (2023: RMB22,971) the higher the fair value
REENRINE 122,760 R5E®R(ARBL/ ARH19,8647C RHEREE DAELS
(ZZZ=%:141,960) FHER) (ZFz=%:
AR#22,9717)
Completed properties 8,163,992  Direct comparison Transaction price RMB258-RMB71,124 The higher the transaction price,
in the PRC (2023:8,385,192) El it (RMB/square meter) (2023: RMB262- the higher the fair value
REBENRTINE 8,163,992 R HER (ARET/ RMB71,124)  R5ERER DAEYS
(Z2==fF: FRER) AR#2580E
8,385,192) ARET 1240
(ZF==F:
AR#2620FE

AE#71,12470)

Completed properties 390,000  Income approach Capitalisation rate 7.0% to 8.0% The higher the capitalisation rate,
in the PRC (2023:390,000) W A% YN[ (2023: 7.0% to 8.5%) the lower the fair value
RAPEMRTIYE 390,000 7.0%%8.0% BRI ESS DABME
(ZZZ=%:390,000) (ZZZ=5F:7.0%%
8.5%)
Total 8,676,752
Bt (2023: 8,917,152)
8,676,752
(ZF==%F:
8,917,152)
* Fair value of completed properties is generally derived * BRTYENAABBRESFEAERLBESE (A
using the direct comparison approach unless reliable market ML ESFENERARMBRZ A SEmHEERD
information is not available for certain properties due to their ETFWERIN) -

locations or specialised function uses.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is REMENAAEABDDREABRRR
recognised in the line item “decrease in fair value of NEEMENRDARERLD | HEER -

investment properties” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during RENE=ZRIWEAE(TE A EL -
the year.

RINEBXEEBERAF
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17

25

PROPERTY, PLANT AND

17 M5 BERRE

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel fixtures and Plant and  Construction
properties Buildings equipment Motor vehicles  equipment in progress Total
Bi-RER
BEENE BT R "E BERRZE ERIR EH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR ARETRT  ARETR ARETFR ARETRT  ARETR ARETFR
Cost or valuation: BAHMEE:
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-A-R 2,654,400 786,051 382,989 73,394 242,211 890 4,139,995
Additions RE - 3,278 14,206 4,480 5219 2,039 29,222
Elimination of accumulated depreciation ~ #{# 2:t i1 & (113,912) - - - - - (113,912)
Disposals & - (16,570) (11,967) (13,614) (1,324) (2,395) (45,870)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 52) HEMBAR (M352) - - (23) - - - (23)
Transfer from properties held for sale BaRFEHENE - 62,392 - - - - 62,392
Transfer to properties held for sale SIRELENE - (13,881) - - - - (13,881)
Transfer to investment BERENE (Wi16)
properties (note 16) - (2,724) - - - - (2,724)
Surplus arising on revaluation EfhEH 199,412 - - - - - 199,412
Exchange adjustments EH B - 860 914 198 - - 1972
At 31 December 2023 and R-B-=E+Z§
1 January 2024 =Zt-BR-Z=QF
-A-H 2,739,900 819,406 386,119 64,458 246,166 534 4,256,583
Additions NE - 3,375 11,488 904 294 1,664 17,725
Elimination of accumulated depreciation HEZFE (95,504) - - - - - (95,504)
Disposals & = (9,838) (28,011) (9,380) (2,384) (1,468) (51,081)
Surplus arising on revaluation EfMBH 77,230 - - - - - 77,230
Exchange adjustments EHBE - 860 937 197 - - 1,994
At 31 December 2024 RZB-ME+ZA
=t+-H 2,721,626 813,803 370,533 56,179 244,076 730 4,206,947
Accumulated depreciation: RAHE:
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=f-A-H - 192,681 266,348 59,828 209,307 - 728,164
Charge for the year FEMB 113,912 28,910 38,122 391 5,902 - 190,757
Disposals HE - (1,867) (9,553) (12,530) (1,266) - (25,216)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 52) HEN B R (M3E52) - - 1) - - - 1)
Transfer to properties held for sale BIRELENE - (1,672) - - - - (1,672)
Transfer to investment properties (note 16) &35 &% (Hi16) - (2,056) - - - - (2,056)
Elimination on revaluation ERfEHH (113,912 - - - - - (113,912
Exchange adjustments EHBE - 332 467 191 - - 990
At 31 December 2023 and RZBZZF+ZA
1 January 2024 Z+-BARZ-B=MF
-A-H - 216,328 295,363 51,400 213,943 - 777,034
Charge for the year EaEsil 95,504 25,243 28,583 2,816 4,196 - 156,342
Disposals HE - (4,290) (11,770) (9,080) (25) - (25,165)
Elimination on revaluation B EHE (95,504) - - - - - (95,504)
Exchange adjustments EiHE - 349 756 194 - - 1,299
At 31 December 2024 g i 3
+-A=t+-R - 237,630 312,932 45,330 218,114 - 814,006
Carrying amounts: REME:
At 31 December 2024 RZBZ@E
+=-A=t+-H 2,721,626 576,173 57,601 10,849 25,962 730 3,392,941
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF
+=A=+-H 2,739,900 603,078 90,756 13,058 32,223 534 3,479,549
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated using the straight-line basis at the
following rates per annum:

Hotel properties 2%
Leasehold land over the lease term
Buildings 2%-18%
Furniture, fixtures and 20%
equipment
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 5%-23%

17 ¥I% - -BERRE (F)

Ll BERREEEHRERER
& EMFEFENT

BIEY S 2%
et B A FH
EF 2%%18%
R KB REKE 20%
A 20%
R B K =5 5%%23%
2024 2023
—ENF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T

The carrying amounts of hotel properties ~ R IA T ZIR AT A

and building located at: RENBEDERETF
B BREI(E :
- long-term leases in Hong Kong — REBNRBHEL 23,362 23,642
- medium-term (10-50 years) land — RAHFE/MFHE (102
use rights in the PRC 504F ) -t {5 FA 4 3,274,437 3,319,336
3,297,799 3,342,978

The fair value of the Group’s hotel properties at 31
December 2024 and 2023 was arrived at on the basis
of a valuation carried out on that date by A A Property
Services Limited, an independent professional
surveyor and property valuer not connected with the
Group. A A Property Services Limited is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has
appropriate qualifications and experiences in the
valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The
valuation were determined by either discounting the
construction cost with reference to the remaining
useful life or arrived by the income approach, whereby
the income derived from the hotel operations with
regard to past trading accounts are capitalised at an
appropriate rate of return to arrive at the value of the
property interests with due allowance for outgoings
and expenses. The Group's property manager and the
chief financial officer have discussions with the valuer
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results
twice a year when the valuation is performed for
interim and annual financial reporting.

AREBBAEYWER T _NFER -
TZF T+ A=t HOARENESE
VEXNEMEDEGHEMBEDIDER
BMBERAR (BAEBEMERE)IENZ
ANEEETE - REMEBMBER AR
EAANEMEees BEBEABEERKY
BRI MEETHEENER - ZEETD
SLEAFAFHBBRITREEN ALK
BRAZET HEEAELREHBAER
SRBREMAEEBRAELRL  UE
EYEESINEE UHEEMAYNER
EHEERB TEEMEEEARER
PEEDRESEM I G EREGEN
HEEBRRNEEER UWE27PH KL
FEMBRE -
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31 December 2024
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 17
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

ME - BERRE (&)

The fair value of the Group’s hotel properties RBEHRAENAEEBEEMENRQ
measured at the end of the reporting period is AEEIBEABAY B R EENFI1IR
categorised as Level 3 of fair value hierarchy as FIREMAAEEBRE=/H-
defined in HKFRS 13.
Fair value as at ~ Valuation Significant Range or weighted Relationship of unobservable
31 December 2024  techniques unobservable inputs average inputs to fair value
RZB-OF
tTZRA=+t-HM
MRE  RERN EXTABRBARE HERMETFY THBRERABBEAABNER
RMB'000
ARETR
Hotel properties in 334,000  Income approach  Capitalisation rate 8% The higher the capitalisation rate,
Beijing, the PRC (2023: 342,0000 W A% BRI E (2023: 8%) the lower the fair value
R RABEE DR 334,000 8% EAchXEs 2AESE

(=2 = =%:342,000)
Estimated profits
from operations

(RMB/square metre)

EEHEE RN
(AR¥TT/FFHK)
Hotel properties in Wuhan, 2,387,626 Cost approach Adjustment to
Shunde, Shanghai, (2023: 2,397,900)  FAE construction cost,
Liuzhou, Huzhou, 2,387,626 with reference to the
the PRC (ZZ2-=%: remaining useful life
REERE JEE LE- 2,397,900) BERAAE 22H8T
BN M B % ERFH

Construction cost

per square meter

Total 2,721,626
At (2023: 2,739,900)
2,721,626

(ZF==F:

2,739,900)

Surplus on revaluation of properties held for own
use are recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income in “Surplus arising on
revaluation of properties”.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during
the year.
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(ZZZ=F:8%)
RMB2,089 The higher the estimated profits,

(2023: RMB2,122) the higher the fair value
ARH2,0897C EEEfEE AAESS
(Z2==%:

AR#2,1227)
11.9%-53.3% The higher the discount rate,
(2023: 14.5%-48.7%) the lower the fair value
11.9%%53.3% FREER AAEME
(Z2z=%:
14.5%%48.7% )

RMB6,900-RMB 17,800 The higher the construction cost,

(2023: RMB7,080- the higher the fair value

RMB18,850) BERIHR DAERS
AE#6,900LE
AE#17,8007T
(ZF==%:
ARH7,0800 %
AE#18,8507T)

FIFERDENEREANGEA2HENK
mRH [ MEEGHBR] ER-

RERAF=MALBEMEALEH -



18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES

Nature of leasing activities (in the
capacity as lessee)

The Group leased a number of office premises in
the jurisdiction from which it operates, including in
the PRC and Hong Kong. The periodic rent of office
premises is fixed over the lease term. These leases
typically run for an initial period of 10 to 50 years.

The Group also holds several buildings for its hotel
business, where its hotel business are primarily
located. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the whole or part of
undivided share in the underlying land. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered
owners, and there are no ongoing payments to be
made under the terms of the land lease, other than
payments based on rateable values set by the relevant
government authorities. These payments vary from
time to time and payable to the relevant government
authorities.

The values in the table below reflect the current
proportions of lease payments that are fixed.

18 EAEEERHEERR

HEZBHNMEE (LEBAN
514)

REENEBLFHE R ERE (BIEHE
SESLNEED A PNEY PN
EHESRERREETE R SR
A BB ® % B 10E50% o

AEBETHEETETFUHELBEEER
R ZEFETAEBERBEIEMAEM -
AEERZEYEER (BREABLIEN
2HHHD TR DEDE) MELCHEEA
$%IE%EE%W RO A AR %
EMEEEN MR MRELWHE
EMGR BARKEFDMNF HEREE
88 DR T #4148 AR TE O R A T T 9 51 SRR 5 ©
ZENRAREE X RN T HEERA
s o

TRPHERRTEMEENEE MR
A

Number of Fixed monthly
lease contracts payments
HEAHNHYE BEE AR
RMB'000
ARETFT
31 December 2024 —E-MFE+=A=1+-H
Property leases with fixed payments BENRNYEEE 9 1,356
31 December 2023 —EZZHf+=ZA=+-H
Property leases with fixed payments BENRNYEEE 20 2,417

RINEBXEEBERAF
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18 FRAREERHEEA®E (&)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HE L HEWME =
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®EFTT ARBETFIT ARET T
At 1 January 2023 R=ZF==
—A—H 538,973 58,695 597,668
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year (19,116) (24,500) (43,616)
Lease termination HE®RIE - (2,553) (2,553)
Additions of right-of-use assets AEFAEEE - 28,749 28,749
Exchange adjustments PE W 382 2,597 56 2,653
At 31 December 2023 and R-ZEZ=
1 January 2024 +=-—BA=+—H
kR=-—2-NmF
—HA—H 522,454 60,447 582,901
Depreciation provided during  F AT E B &
the year (19,226) (18,566) (37,792)
Lease termination HE#&IE - (28,550) (28,550)
Additions of right-of-use assets A& HEEE - 11,298 11,298
Exchange adjustments ME 5, 58 2,515 67 2,582
At 31 December 2024 R-ZB-NF
+=—A=+—AH 505,743 24,696 530,439

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

LIABILITIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use

assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

18 EREEERMEESE (H)

EREEE (&)
RAMAERANNSNERELERE
FEANWT

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
—BEF —E-=F
+t=HA=+—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥ETTT
Ownership interests in leasehold FIRTEHE N AT EHE
land carried at depreciated cost ME TP RERER
with remaining lease term of: LAST B B AR B B -
- Between 10 and 50 years — 10&504F 505,743 522,454
Other properties leased for own FIERTH BRRE P DA T E /Y
use carried at depreciated cost HIEEAEMME
with remaining lease term of: UAHT B R AR B B
— Less than 10 years — 10F AR 24,696 60,447
Lease liabilities HEAE
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
—E-omF —F=F
+t=A=t—-H +ZA=+—H
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Lease liabilities HEEBE
- Current (included in other payables) — ji®h (5 AH b &S
(note 33) BRK) (KRE33) 13,739 25,157
— Non-current — IEmE 11,499 38,341
25,238 63,498

RANEXEEERLQE
—E-NFFR
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 18 EfifEERMAEAE (&)
LIABILITIES (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEAaE (&)
RMB’'000
AREETTT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=%—H—H 60,475
Additions during the year FRNRE 28,749
Interest charged to profit or loss MK EEEnF B 2,608
Payment during the year F R (25,705)
Lease termination HE&IE (2,694)
Exchange adjustments HE 5, 58 B 65
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-ZE_-_=f+=-F=+-—-HR
—E-_WE—-H—H 63,498
Additions during the year FRNRE 11,298
Interest charged to profit or loss MBEEERNFE 1,921
Payment during the year FRRHK (22,132)
Lease termination HE&IE (29,415)
Exchange adjustments ME W A 68
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE-_NE+=-A=+—H 25,238
The following table shows the remaining contractual TR AR EHELBERS BAE S
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of REAEENEHEGBERTAOINHG
the current and previous reporting periods: e
2024 2023
—EB-oNmE —E_=F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®BT R ARETT
Within 1 year —F " 13,739 25,157
After 1 year but within 2 years —FIRERFA 11,088 18,953
After 2 years but within 5 years WEFEZRBERFA 411 19,388
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18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

19

LIABILITIES (Continued)

18 EREEERMEESE (H)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEaeE (8)
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Short-term leases expenses HHAER Y 17,978 25,966
Low-value leases expenses KEBHERX 374 547
Total cash outflow for lease HEReS LAz 40,484 52,218
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REEE QTN ER
2024 2023
—E-mE ZEZ=F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR T ARET T
Investment in associates under RIEE = AT E R B
equity method NERERE 2,765,516 2,258,535
2024 2023
—E-mE ZEZ=F
RMB'000 RMB’'000
AR T ARETTT
Amounts due from associates: JFE Wi Bt 2 N BRI
— Interest-free = 600,131 609,477
— Fixed rate of 8% — EE N E8% 19,754 148,800
619,885 758,277

RIUEXEWARAH
—E-MEFR
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—E-mFE+-A=+—H

19

26

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(Continued)

2024 2023
“E-EF —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T R ARBTT

Amounts due to associates: JEAS B & A A
— Interest-free — TEr R
- Fixed rate of 3% — EEFE3%

The amounts are unsecured and recoverable/repayable
on demand or within one year.

The amounts due from associates relate to a number
of associates that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, management
believes that ECL allowance is immaterial in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1,689,342 1,110,739
72,000 -
1,761,342 1,110,739

BERRAERERRRAIKE,RRERE
BIN—FREE-

ERBZERAFALERNASERER
HRENE THERA - REBELR
ERERRANZSERIELTAHEERS
ERBLIEN RAREELEYESE
B AR DR A BB -



19

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REBEENTINERS (8)
(Continued)

Details of the Group's principal associates as at 31 R-E—MERZZE_=F+_A=+—
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: H AEENFEMEAAFBEROT:

Proportion of ownership
interest by the Group

rEEEEREERLA
Place of
establishment
Name of associates and business 2024 2023 Principal activities
BENRER RIREE®HYE —ZT-—mE —T-= TEEYR
MEMILPEHMERZEAER QA PRC 30% 30%  Property development
(IEMPEME]) H ELE
EREXMCTERARAR PRC 25% 25%  Property development
(MEEtx]) F Y ek
BEBEHEEERR AT PRC 30% 30%  Property development
(B gB®]) i ELE
Mo mPERtiEMERERRAF PRC 30% 30%  Property development
(DT maRtil) F Y ek
BMNEREXEERAT PRC 40% 40%  Property development
(I#MEs]) H ELE
BINFXEEERAT PRC 45% 45%  Property development
(TERMEFE]) H ek
HMNeHBREMEREFR LA PRC 20.4% 20.4%  Property development
(TgM&ti]) H E Lk
FERXEXAERAT PRC 32% 32%  Property development
(ILEm]) F Y ek
AERBEEXEERAT PRC 41% 41%  Property development
(TKERE]) i ELE
BN EENaBEERAT PRC 40% 40%  Property development
(TEMFR]) F B ek

RAINBEEEERA A
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19
(Continued)

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

19 REEE QT

al
&
o

e

Proportion of ownership
interest by the Group

rEBEERERLA
Place of
establishment
Name of associates and business 2024 2023 Principal activities
BEQAR BB B REEmZ SEDNE —_E_= TEEK
ERMEERHMEZRERLA PRC 49% 49%  Property development
([EREE]) HE ELES
HEMEEREEMERRAT PRC 49% 49%  Property development
(M&MEE]) E ELE
EMNTmERRHMERERR DA PRC 37.5% 37.5%  Property development
(TEMERE]) R Lk
MMFMEEERBRAA PRC 30% 30%  Provision of
(TFRMFIAR]) H (Note ii) management services
(MFeTii) REHEERH
HEMeRUFHEREERDA PRC 40% - Property development
(T&RMERIEL) F (Note iii) EE
( B & i )
FEREREHMERERR LA PRC 49% - Property development
(TEBEEN]) LaE] (Note iv) E Lk
( Bt aEiv)
EEANBREEXAR AT PRC 30% - Property development
(MEmAER]) HE (Note v) ELE
(BEv)
Note: G
(i) The above table only lists the associates of the Group which, (i) FREJLESARULAKEESE BELE

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results,
assets or liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
associates would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

(i) On 7 September 2023, the Group made a cash capital
contribution of RMB520,292,000, representing 30% of the total
capital contribution in #/il FfiX, an independent unlisted third
party established in the PRC. #1/ll FIfik is principally engaged

in management services.

POLY PROPERTY GROUP CO., LIMITED
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19

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
(Continued)

Note: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

On 28 January 2024, the Group made a cash capital
contribution of RMB600,000,000, representing 40% of the total
capital contribution in # /& {R1%, an independent unlisted
third party established in the PRC. &R/ & {R1% is principally

engaged in property development.

On 1 February 2024 and 27 November 2024, the Group made
a capital contribution by land use rights of RMB61,571,000
and a cash capital contribution of RMB28,420,000 respectively,
representing 49% of the total capital contribution in /8%
13, an independent unlisted third party established in the PRC.
/G BEE R is principally engaged in property development.

On 27 September 2024, the Group entered into an agreement
with two independent third parties in relation to the sale
of its 70% equity interest in FFF/3. The transaction was
completed on 5 December 2024. After the transaction, &
F# has ceased to be a subsidiary of the Group but remains
as an associate of the Group as the Group holds 30% of the
issued share capital of 7 & 7| #.

Summarised financial information of

material associates
Summarised financial information in respect of the

19 REEERBIER (8)

e ()

iy RZZEZWEF—-AZ+N\B FEER&HMNE
R (—BRAPEXRINIELTBLE=F)
{EH AR #600,000,0007C 3R & & - 15 A &
MEREOHELENI0% -~ BHMEREEE
MY EFE-

vy, RZTE-ZMF-_A—ARZ-T-_MF+—A
—+tEA AEERLEERENR (—MRFEH
R BELETBIE =)D RIELARKE
61,571,000 (ALt FEAE)RBREARE
28,420,000 E 1 E R EEBEENMTE
HEERA9% o IR EN T B EWEME -

(v) R-E-_NFEAA-+ LB AEERHEH
B A I 3 9 70% AR R AP B B L BB = HFT L
BE - ZRHER T _NF+_ARAATEK -
REX % EEANSETBARNEEZHEA
ACHRAEERFBEEEHTREAZ30% B
AN AREE 2B E QA

EXBMEQATAVBENBE

ERAKREEABEARNYHEERS

Group’s material associates are set out below: ZHINWT
BMERE
2024
—E-mF
RMB'000
ARET T
As at 31 December BR+=-—A=+—H
Current assets RENEE 3,680,006
Non-current assets ERBEE -
Current liabilities mEBE (1,345,970)
Non-current liabilities FERBBE (840,000)

RIUEXEBHER DA
ZEMFFR
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19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REtE QAN ER (8)
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of EABEATMEERBE
material associates (Continued) (&)
HEMERB
2024
—E-NE
RMB'000
AR®T T
Year ended 31 December BE+=-A=1+—HLEE
Revenue WA -
Net loss and total comprehensive expense BEFELTEA A% (5,964)
Group's share of result REBONER (2,386)
Dividend received from the associate BB N FIREAI AR B -
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial T BERPEERE NG B®RE
information to the carrying amount of the interest in BRNBEAFERNRIENEE:
the associate recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
MR
2024
—E-NE
RMB’'000
ARYET T
Net assets BEFE 1,494,036
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest REE B ERR LD 40%
Group's share of net assets and carrying amount AEBDHEEFENMRERE 597,614
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19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 19 REBEENTINERS (8)
(Continued)

Summarised financial information of EARBEQNTVKEERNBE
material associates (Continued) (#58)
EEmx